


 
**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 

SECRETARY**
AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 August 5, 2024 

7:00 P.M. 
 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 
 
2.  Minutes for Approval   
 Minutes of June 17, 2024  Council Meeting 
 Minutes of June 26, 2024  Tax Abatement Meeting 
 Minutes of July 1, 2024  Council Meeting 
 Minutes of July 10, 2024  Council Meeting Special Call 
 Minutes of July 29, 2024  Council Meeting Special Call 
   
 Presentations and Introductions 

Proclamation in recognition of remarkable emergency service following the storm and 
tornado on July 16, 2024 

 
 Unfinished Business 
 

a) Reports of Council Committees  
      

b) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading  
There are no Ordinances on Second-Third Reading 

  
c) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 

There are no Ordinances or Resolutions Referred to Committees 
 

d) Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions  
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-10, an ordinance of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, authorizing the issuance of the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana, taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds and approving and 
authorizing other actions in respect thereto 

 
3.       New Business 

 
a. Ordinances on First Reading 

Proposed Ordinance 24-O-26, an ordinance approving the third major 
amendment to the Concord Mall Planned Unit Development to change the 
zoning standards from, B-4, Regional Business District to R-4, Multi-Family 
Residential District, B-2, Community Business District, and M-1, Limited 
Manufacturing Standards 
Proposed Ordinance 24-O-27, an ordinance prohibiting the camping and 
storage of personal property on public property except in designated camping 
areas 
 



Proposed Ordinance 24-O-28, an ordinance authorizing the City of Elkhart 
[taxable] Economic Development Revenue Bonds (River District 

 
b. Resolutions 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-41, a resolution of the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana, declaring a certain area to be an Economic 
Revitalization Area for the purpose of granting tax phase-in benefits to Third 
Coast Commodities, LLC\Evergreen Grease Enterprises LLC 
 

c. Vacation Hearings 
There are no vacation hearings 

       
d. Other New Business 

 
e. Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 
f. Neighborhood Association Report 

 
g. Privilege of the Floor 

                  Please limit your comments to 3 minutes to allow others time to comment 
 

h. Scheduling of Committee Meetings 
 
4.       Acceptance of Communications 

 Minutes of May 29, 2024  Board of Aviation Commissioners  
 Minutes of June 25, 2024  Board of Public Safety 
 Minutes of June 18, 2024  Board of Public Works 
 Minutes of July 2, 2024  Board of Public Works    
 Minutes of April 11, 2024  Board of Zoning Appeals 
 Minutes of June 12, 2024  Lerner Theatre Board  
 Minutes of June 18, 2024  Parks & Recreation Board 
 Minutes of April 18, 2024  Storm Water Board Meeting  

 Minutes of May 30, 2024  Storm Water Board Meeting 
 Report  July 31, 2024  Ambulance Services 
 Report  Month End June  Elkhart Communications Center 
 Report  Month End July  Elkhart Communications Center 
 Report  Month End June  Parks Department 
 
 Adjournment 
 
 
 





































































































































































DRAFT
 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL CALL COMMON COUNCIL MEETING  
OF JULY 10, 2024 

 
 
Present: Council President Arvis Dawson  

Council Members: Brent Curry, LaTonya King, Dwight Fish, Tonda Hines, Chad 
Crabtree and David Henke 

 
Absent: Alex Holtz and Aaron Mishler  
 
 
 President Dawson called the meeting to order at 6:01 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City 
Hall, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana.  This meeting was made available to the public via 
WebEx.   
 
 The clerk called the roll. 
 
President Dawson noted that also present this evening were Mike Huber and Drew Wynes from 
Economic Development.  He then read the special call notice in its entirety.   
 
 

OPENING STATEMENT 
Opening statement begins at 23 minutes and 05 seconds of the audio recording.   
 
Mike Huber, Director of Development Services said we are here tonight to consider these 
resolutions. He said that for the last twelve (12) months, the Development Services staff with 
significant effort made by Drew Wynes have been working to make new Standardized Operating 
Procedures (hereafter SOP) to better manage the tax abatement application process and the CF-1 
compliance process.  He stated in their review of past compliance practices from previous staff in 
the department, they have identified some inconsistencies with how non-compliance was 
interpreted and managed.  He said the statute establishing that companies must be in substantial 
compliance to receive benefits. He stated that it provides that the designating body (the Council) 
have the authority to determine that compliance threshold to meet the statutory requirement of 

MOA) has established a compliance threshold of meeting 95% of the stated investment, job 
retention and creation and wage goals determined through the application process.  He said 
however, in practice, the Common Council has used 90% compliance threshold over the past few 
years. He said this 90% compliance threshold is in line with all the other jurisdictions in the 
county. He noted that this has been the intent to have a countywide abatement application and 
compliance process.  He said the 95% threshold could make the city less competitive as a 
destination for new business development over other county jurisdictions by being more 
stringent than other communities. He said they are presenting items tonight based on the 90% 
threshold and they are advocating amending the MOA for future phase-in to reflect the 90% 
threshold.  He indicated that will not be coming tonight but in the future. He said the 
Development Services staff have also identified past inconsistencies with the process and the 
implications of the council finding a company non-compliant.  He stated as part of the new 



 2 

-ins to the council for a local determination of 
compliance tonight and in the future.  Non-compliance procedures are outlined in the statute and 
includes if a company fails to turn in a CF-1 or is non-compliant on the CF-1, the city 
department staff reaches out to the company to try and gain a full understanding of the factors 
leading to that non-compliance.  He said at the Tax Abatement Committee meeting which was 
held previous to this meeting, recommendations are made on compliance resolutions. He said 
non-compliant companies have an opportunity in this meeting to explain the factors leading to 
their non-compliance. He said compliance is officially determined by the Council as a whole at 

compliance or that they have made substantial efforts to be in compliance. He stated if the 
council determines that a company is not in compliance and has not made substantial efforts then 

reasoning for the determination.  This will also include the date, time and location of the hearing 
to further consider their compliance.  He said at the non-compliance meeting, if the designating 
body determines that the company is not in compliance and has not made substantial efforts to 
comply, the designating body will then adopt a new resolution termi s 
abatement.  He stated as noted, all finding of non-compliance will result in the termination of the 
Economic Revitalization Area (hereafter ERA) and the MOA in the same year as the finding of 
non-compliant. He said they wanted to take the time to bring some clarity to the process tonight 
because they have nine (9) companies that have been found non-compliant based on either 
failure to submit CF-1 documentation or failure to meet the 90% compliance threshold for 
investment, wages or jobs.   He stated that Drew is going to present each one individually and 
provide a brief summary of each one.            
 
Opening statement ends at 28 minutes and 56 seconds of the audio recording. 
 
President Dawson asked Councilman Fish if he has a report from the Tax Abatement Committee 
meeting.   
 
Councilman Fish said the committee met prior to the 4th of July and covered a lot of ground.  
He stated he wanted to commend Drew for the tremendous amount of work and organization that 
he put into this.  He said 
very smooth operation and he will be clarifying some of the non-compliance for all of us here, so 
that they do not have to dwell on any of that.  He said it was a good meeting and they clipped 
right along and took care of business. He asked Mike what his time frame was for changing some 
of the standards.  Mike Huber replied that they are working with the legal department to manage 
those. He said they want to do it as soon as possible because they have two (2) pending tax 
phase-ins. President Dawson stopped the questions and said they are getting ahead of 
themselves.   
 
President Dawson stated that they are starting with the non-compliant companies first and then 
will move to the compliant companies.   
 
Councilman Henke said point of reference, they are going with the MOA of 95% because that 
is what all of these were founded on; he said is that what we are saying?  Mike Huber said the 
documentation that was prepared for this evening was based on what the following past practices 
established of the 90% compliance threshold, which is what the council has used the last two (2) 



 3 

or three (3) years from what their research indicated.  He said this is what other jurisdictions in 
the county use so this will keep it a level playing field.  He said what is in your binders tonight is 
based on the 90% threshold.  He said he does not know if the MOA establishing the 95% was 
passed by council but what he does know is the statute allows the council flexibility to go below.  
Councilman Henke said but if we do not know; because it is his understanding that when these 
were set up, it was 95% and that is what should have been given to the companies.  He said now 
we are saying that we are dropping the threshold to 90%.  He feels it takes a great action than 
just saying that the council has a right to do that.  Mike Huber said that determination was made 
previously based on past practice.  Councilman Henke said he just wanted to find out what the 
measure is that they are using tonight.  Mike Huber said in the binders it is measured against 
90%.      
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-21 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER AMERICAN TECHNOLOGY COMPONENTS, 
INCORPORATED (ATC)\1127 MILES AVE., ARE IN SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE 

WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS FORMS AND MEMORANDA OF 
AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-52-21, R-55-21 AND  

R-56-21 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only. He asked for a 
motion and second to adopt the proposed resolution.  Motion made by Councilman Fish, second 
by Councilwoman Hines. 
 

 
PRESENTATION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-21 

President Dawson opened the presentation starting at 33 minutes and 21 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
Drew Wynes said that American Technology Components was approved in 2021.  He said they 
hit it out of the park with real property investment; they had an $18 Million Dollar investment, 
but they are under for personal property.  He said they are at 64% and they are under for jobs 
added as well as jobs retained.  He said the company is still within their ERA and feel confident 
that they can still make the personal property investment.  He said they are eligible for abatement 
until December 31, 2024. He said again, they are confident that they can make those personal 
property investments by that time and can increase their jobs and wages.  He said they are heavy 
in the recreational vehicle (hereafter RV) industry and that industry is down, but they told him 
and the committee that they are confident that next year they can submit a compliant CF-1.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 4 

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-21 

President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 34 minutes and 22 seconds of the 
audio recording. 
 
Councilman Henke said so we are not going in order of the book?  President Dawson said at 
the beginning he indicated how we would be doing it. He said the non-compliant ones will be 
first. 
 
Councilman Henke 
is not a whole lot we get to do by compliance, unless you have structured this MOA that would 
suggest they have to be 50% compliance.  Drew Wynes stated not to his knowledge since they 
are still in their ERA, the council can determine that they made substantial efforts to be in 
compliance and the view that the council is satisfied with the progress of their project.   
Councilman Henke said if we are going to adopt what the county does, for example on a five 

they can hold the graduation there, otherwise they are getting tax abatement through the end.  He 
said his concerning question is about the clawback, which they will go over at some other time 
because we have to have the money back if you did not reach compliance.  He said as much as 
he would like to argue the number, he would rather argue the consistency of our practice.  So, 
notably, just on the first one of compliance, those people hired 431 which made it 500 and some 
percent compliant.  He said so when others cry that they cannot hire people, how did the other 
company do it.      
 
Councilman Curry said in looking at this, they did exceed their real property goal, but the 
personal property is down but he did have the opportunity to attend the committee meeting and 
here what they had to say.  He said in his notes it says the company is confident they can meet 
their goal.   
 
Councilman Fish said just for the record, he has been on the tax abatement committee for a long 
time and they have never set a threshold.  He said they have normally just let their time frame, 
whether it is one (1), three (3) or five (5) years, that is what they have worked with.  He said the 
only thing they have wiggle room on is the 90 versus 95%.   
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-21, with the finding that 
the property owner is in substantial compliance with both personal and real property.  
Second by Councilwoman Hines. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Curry, King, Fish,  
NAYS: 
 
President Dawson stopped the vote as he realized he had not gone to the public for their 
comment. 
 
 



 5 

 
PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-21 

President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 38 minutes and 17 seconds of the 
audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion.  
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Councilman Curry added that the company offered to give the Council a tour of the plant.   
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 38 minutes and 57seconds of the audio recording. 
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-25 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER MARINE REALTY, LLC DBA BENNINGTON 
MARINE (SOUTH) ARE IN SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT 

OF BENEFITS (CF-1 FORMS) AND THE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 
APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-44-22, R-48-22 AND R-49-22 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.  He asked for a 
motion to adopt the proposed resolution.  Motion made by Councilman Henke, second by 
Councilman Fish. 
 

DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-25 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 39 minutes and 36 seconds of the 
audio recording. 
 
Councilman Henke said same argument, same compliance.  He asked, they are still within their 
compliance year correct?  Drew Wynes stated yes, their ERA ends at the end of this year.   
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-25, with the finding that 
property owner is in substantial compliance with its personal property.  Second by 
Councilwoman Hines.  Drew Wynes stated that it is real property not personal property.   
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-25 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 40 minutes and 19 seconds of the 
audio recording.   
 



 6 

There was no public discussion. 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-25 

President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 40 minutes and 28 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no further discussion from the council. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson  
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 40 minutes and 53 seconds of the audio recording. 
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-22 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER BIG DOG ADHESIVES, LLC\435 

PROPERTIES, LLC AND 615 PROPERTIES, LLC ARE IN SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS  PERSONAL PROPERTY 

(FORM CF-1/PP) AND THE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER 
RESOLUTION NOS. R-19-21, R-26-1 AND R-27-21 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.  He asked for a 
motion to adopt the proposed resolution.  Motion made by Councilman Henke, second by 
Councilwoman Hines.  
 

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-22 

President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 41 minutes and 35 seconds of the 
audio recording.   
 
Councilman Henke said unless something has changed, it is his understanding that Big Dog 
Adhesives did not submit a CF-1.  Drew Wynes stated that they did not submit a CF-1. He said 
they have been in communication with the company and they are unable to complete their 
project.  He went on to say that they have never received any benefits and they recommend 
finding them in non-compliance.   
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-22 with the finding that 
the property owner is not in substantial compliance with its personal property.  Second by 
Councilman Curry. 
 
 
 



 7 

 
PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-22 

President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 42 minutes and 16 seconds of the 
audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-22 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 42 minutes and 22 seconds of 
the audio recording.   
 
There was no further council discussion. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 42 minutes and 39 seconds of the audio recording.   
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-27 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER CHAMPION MANUFACTURING INC.\C.R. 17 

LAND DEVELOPMENT, LLC ARE IN SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS 
STATEMENT OF BENEFITS FORMS AND MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENT 

APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-41-19, R-42-19 AND R-43-19 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.  He asked for a 
motion to adopt the proposed resolution.  Motion made by Councilman Henke, second by 
Councilwoman Hines. 
 

DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-27 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 43 minutes and 23 seconds of the 
audio recording. 
 
Drew Wynes said Champion Manufacturing left Elkhart in 2023. He said since they have ceased 
operations, they are able to clawback and have prepared a clawback letter.  He stated at this time, 
they recommend that the council finds them in non-compliance.  He said at a later date, they will 
terminate their phase-in and send them a clawback letter. He said once they send that letter, they 
will have 30 days to schedule a meeting with city staff if they disagree with the termination and 
the finding that we are seeking repayment.  He said if they agree to the terms, then 30 days from 



 8 

the date of the agreement they will owe the city the money. He said that amount as of right now 
is $165,934 dollars.    
Councilman Henke said that is one of his questions that he would like to come back to after this 
discussion and that is the clawback. He said he was unaware that we could only clawback if a 
company no longer exists or shuts down.  He asked does this company have operations 
somewhere else.  Drew Wynes stated that they have operations in Florida. Councilman Henke 
said okay so we do have a location that we can clawback to and place a lien against the Florida 
property should it come to that. Drew Wynes said he would certainly check into those details but 

cessation or if they become delinquent or default on any tax payment in Elkhart County.  He said 
th -compliance to be 
a fourth category.  Councilman Henke asked how do we force clawback, there has to be legal 
action.  Drew Wynes stated he would certainly defer that to John Espar in our legal department.  

again he would defer to John Espar for those details.   
 
President Dawson said that is a great question.  Mike Huber said they are going through the 

reimbursed for the taxes.      
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-27 with the finding that 
the property owner is not in substantial compliance with real or personal property and 
request a clawback. Second by Councilwoman Hines.   
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-27 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 47 minutes and 43 seconds of the 
audio recording.   
 
There was no public discussion. 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-27 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 47 minutes and 48 seconds of 
the audio recording.  
 
There was no further discussion from the council. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES:  Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 48 minutes and 09 seconds of the audio recording.  
 



 9 

 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-28 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER CTS CORPORATION ARE IN SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS FORMS AND MEMORANDA 

OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-03-19, R-04-19 AND  
R-05-19 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.  He asked for a 
motion to adopt the proposed resolution.  Motion made by Councilman Henke, second by 
Councilman Fish. 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-28 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 48 minutes and 43 seconds of the 
audio recording. 
 
Drew Wynes said CTS Corporation is in the final year of their phase-in and they have not turned 
in CF- ey are non-compliant and will be terminated 
at a future council date.  He also said and this is the final year of their phase-in, so they are done. 
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-28 with the finding that 
the property owner is not in substantial compliance with personal property and request a 
clawback.  Second by Councilman Curry. 
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-28 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 9 minutes and 32 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-28 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 49 minutes and 36 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES:  Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke,  Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed.   
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 49 minutes and 56 seconds of the audio recording.  
 
 



 10 

 
 

Dexstar Wheel Company 
President Dawson said up next is Dexstar. He opens the discussion starting at 50 minutes and 12 
seconds of the audio recording. 
   
Drew Wynes said Dexstar has failed to submit a CF-1 for the last three years. He said they have 
reached out to the company and they have agreed to termination. He stated Dexstar just needs to 
sign an agreement confirming that they are willing to terminate.  He said once that has been 
done, they will bring a resolution to the council at a future date.  He said he does not want to get 
ahead of himself, but Trim-Lok is in a similar situation.   
 
Councilman Henke stated that we need to take action on it, in order to get it to stop.  Mike 
Huber said that is correct and as they mentioned earlier in the standard operating procedures, 
they will have to notify them of the non-compliance and have a hearing where all of those 
motions for the findings of non-compliance will actually be termination resolutions.  He stated 
they are not finding them non-compliant tonight, they will just be bringing the termination at the 
future meeting for both this one and Trim-Lok.  He said they will be terminated when we have 
the next meeting.  Councilman Henke asked why these do not have a resolution face page.  
Mike Huber said we have an agreement with the companies to sign off on the termination, so 
we did not bring them forward as non-compliant because they have already agreed in principal to 
sign off on the termination.  Councilman Henke asked did council take action to Mike 
Huber said they are working with legal and in this case they would not need to do the non-
compliance finding in order to take it to the termination.  He stated they can just take it to the 
termination because they have already agreed to it in writing.  Councilman Henke said he is just 
not sure why we would be inconsistent as the others are in the same condition, they agree just 

Mike Huber said they did not get confirmation from 
CTS or Big Dog Adhesives that they agreed to the termination, so we had to find them in non-
compliance.  He went on to say that because these companies agreed to termination they are in a 
different category, so they are only bringing termination in the future.   
 
Discussion on Dexstar Wheel ends at 52 minutes and 59 seconds of the audio recording.   
 

 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-31 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER PLACON CORPORATION ARE IN 
SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS FORMS AND 
MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-14-20, 

R-27-20 AND R-28-20 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only. 
 
 
 
 
 



 11 

 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-31 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 53 minutes and 24 seconds of the 
audio recording.   
 
Drew Wynes said Placon Corporation is under for new jobs hired. He stated that their industry is 
down right now, but they are confident that they can bounce back in Q3 and Q4 of this year. He 
also said that they have been compliant the last two (2) years and they hit out of the park with 
real and personal property investment.  He said that they recommend and the committee did as 
well, that they be found in compliance.   
 
Councilwoman King made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-31 with the finding 
that the company, Placon is in substantial compliance. Second by Councilman Fish. 
 
Councilman Henke asked why this company was listed under non-compliance.  Drew Wynes 
stated it was because they are under for new jobs hired, they are at 70%.  Councilman Henke 
stated that they have a seven (7) year real and seven (7) year personal property, so they are really 
not outside of their window yet as far as jobs.  Drew Wynes stated that they evaluate jobs every 
year.  Councilman Henke said even though they may be out of compliance for the moment, they 
have until 2027.  Drew Wynes replied they are very confident that they can bounce back in Q3 
and Q4 of this year. 
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-31 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 55 minutes and 40 seconds of the 
audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-31 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 55 minutes and 42 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no further council discussion.   
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote 
 
AYES: Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed.   
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 56 minutes and 00 seconds of the audio recording.  
 
 



 12 

 
 

Trim-Lok, Inc. 
President Dawson stated there is no resolution for this company.  He opens the discussion 
starting at 56 minutes and 06 seconds of the audio recording.   
 
Drew Wynes stated that Trim-Lok Inc. is in the same situation as Dexstar.  He said they have 
agreed to termination and there will be a resolution at a later date confirming their termination.   
 
Councilman Henke stated it says that the city will move to terminate their phase-in July 1st 
council meeting.  Drew Wynes said their goal is the August 5th council meeting.   
 
Discussion regarding Trim-Lok ends at 56 minutes and 49 seconds of the audio recording. 
  

 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-33 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER FF US ACQUISITION CORPORATION, DBA 
TUSCANY MOTOR COMPANY\TLMTG PROPERTIES, LLC ARE IN SUBSTANTIAL 
COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS FORMS AND MEMORANDA 

OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-50-18, R-53-18 AND  
R-54-18 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.   
 

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-33 

President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 57 minutes and 22 seconds of the 
audio recording.   
 
Drew Wynes stated that Tuscany Motor Company is non-compliant for retained jobs. He said 
that they hit out of the park with real property investment, new jobs hired and wages. He said all 

leave that affected their retained jobs numbers and in all other categories they are compliant.  He 
said they recommend that they are in compliance for real property.  He went on to say that there 
was a small issue with their personal property and they have not turned in a personal property 
CF-1 since 2021.  He said at the committee meeting he failed to recommend to council that we 
should find them in non-compliance for personal property but they do recommend finding them 
in compliance for real property. 
 
Councilman Henke asked if they had an explanation for the jobs not created.  Drew Wynes said 
for new jobs hired they are compliant it was the retained jobs that was under.  He said there were 
a lot of folks at the admin level that left and that contributed and the automotive strikes last year 
affected things as well.   
 



 13 

Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-33 with the finding that 
the property owner is in substantial compliance for real property but is not in substantial 
compliance for personal property.  Second by Councilwoman Hines. 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-33 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 59 minutes and 16 seconds of the 
audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-33 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 59 minutes and 21 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
Councilman Henke asked if they were going to split this out.  He said it is uncustomary as they 
are either compliant with all or none.  He asked so how does this get split out as a tax credit.  
Drew Wynes stated that since there are separate memorandums of agreements, he believes that 
on the resolution there is an option for being substantial compliant for real property and for being 
substantial compliant for personal property.   Councilman Henke said and personal was on its 
own resolution number.  Drew Wynes said they are on the same compliance resolution but the 
two (2) projects have separate memorandums of agreement and they are respective from one 
another. He said the compliance resolution has the option to make in compliance for personal or 
in compliance for real.  Councilman Henke said we have not done that before so he just wanted 
to follow up to make sure there was a process in place.  Drew Wynes said just so you know, in 
2021 Tuscany was non-compliant for personal property and compliant for real and on that 
resolution it was marked that way.      
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 1 hour, 01 minutes and 03 seconds of the audio 
recording.  
 
President Dawson stated that concludes the companies that are non-compliant.  We will 
now move on to the companies that are in compliance.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 14 

 
 
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-18 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER ALLIANCE RV, LLC\3 CREEK, LLC ARE IN 
SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS FORMS AND 
MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-08-21, 

R-13-21 AND R-14-21 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.  He asked for a 
motion to adopt the proposed resolution.  Motion made by Councilman Henke, second by 
Councilwoman Hines.   
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-18 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 01 minutes and 54 seconds of 
the audio recording.   
 
There was no public discussion.  
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-18 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at1 hour, 01 minutes and 58 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
Councilman Henke said he just wanted to point out some numbers, just for us to understand.  
He said personal property, 382% of compliance, it is unfortunate that they do not get credit for 
above for the 1 Million 580 that they had planned on, but the 85 jobs turned into 443 for 521% 
compliant.    
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-18 with the finding that 
the property owner is in substantial compliance with real and personal property.  Second by 
Councilman Curry. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 1 hour, 03 minutes and 11 seconds of the audio 
recording.   
 



 15 

 
 
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-17 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER ALLIANCE RV, LLC\3 CREEK, LLC ARE IN 
SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS FORMS AND 
MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-08-19, 

R-09-19 AND R-10-19 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.   
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-17 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 03 minutes and 54 seconds of 
the audio recording.   
 
Councilman Henke said the only thing he would question is the 175 new jobs matches exactly 
with what they said they would do which is unusual.   
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-17 with the finding that 
the property owner in in substantial compliance with real and personal property.  Second by 
Councilman Fish 
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-17 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 04 minutes and 45 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-17 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 04 minutes and 48 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
There was no further council discussion. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 



 16 

Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 1 hour, 05 minutes and 07 seconds of the audio 
recording.  
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-19 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER ALPHA SYSTEMS\DVS, LLC ARE IN 

SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS FORMS AND 
MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-43-20, 

R-44-20 AND R-45-20 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.   
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-19 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 05 minutes and 31 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no council discussion. 
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-19 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 05 minutes and 39 seconds of 
the audio recording.   
 
There was no public discussion.  
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-19 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 05 minutes and 42 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
Councilman Henke said just again, he is looking at these impressive compliance numbers.  He 
said if they stayed with 95% compliance, these people would all still be in. He said by moving it 
down, it only helps that set that are non-compliant, it really does not add anything to our 
numbers other than give them credit for being less than.  He said he just wanted to say 194%, 
187% and 132% compliance, that 90-95% means nothing to all of these companies.  He said it is 
phenomenal that they can do it all and others miss the mark.   
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-19 with the finding that 
the property owner is in substantial compliance with real property and personal property.  
Second by Councilwoman Hines. 
 
There was no further council discussion. 
 
 
 



 17 

 
 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 1 hour, 07 minutes and 39 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-20 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER AMERICAN MILLWORK, LLC\NICKELL 

PROPERTIES I, LLC ARE IN SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS 
STATEMENT OF BENEFITS  PERSONAL PROPERTY (FORM CF-1/PP) AND THE 
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-07-

21, R-11-21 AND R-12-21 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.   
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-20 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 08 minutes and 08 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no council discussion. 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-20 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 08 minutes and 11 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-20 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 08 minutes and 14 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
There was no further council discussion. 
 
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-20 with the finding that 



 18 

the property owner is in substantial compliance with personal property.  Second by 
Councilman Fish.   
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 1 hour, 08 minutes and 56 seconds of the audio 
recording.  
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-24 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER EOZ BUSINESS, LLC ARE IN SUBSTANTIAL 

COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS (CF-1 FORMS) AND THE 
MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-37-20, 

R-39-20 AND R-40-20 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.   
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-24 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 10 minutes and 00 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no council discussion. 
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-24 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 10 minutes and 03 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-24 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 10 minutes and 08 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-24 with the finding that 
the property owner is in substantial compliance with real property.  Second by Councilwoman 
Hines. 
 



 19 

There was no further council discussion. 
 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 1 hour, 10 minutes and 43 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-23 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER FLEXIBLE CONCEPTS, INC. ARE IN 

SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS  
PERSONAL PROPERTY (FORM CF-1/PP) AND THE MEMORANDUM OF 

AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-51-21, R-57-21 AND  
R-58-21 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.   
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-23 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 11 minutes and 10 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no council discussion. 
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-23 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 11 minutes and 14 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-23 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 11 minutes and 18 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-23 with the finding that 
the property owner is in substantial compliance with personal property.  Second by 
Councilman Crabtree. 



 20 

 
 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 1 hour, 11 minutes and 53 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-29 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER KEM KREST, INC.\LA ISLA BONITA 

PROPERTIES, LLC ARE IN SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT 
OF BENEFITS FORMS AND MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER 

RESOLUTION NOS. R-47-16, R-49-16 AND R-50-16 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.   
 

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-29 

President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 12 minutes and 22 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
Councilman Henke said so, Kem Krest has not submitted a CF-1. Drew Wynes said they did 
submit a CF-1.  He asked if his binder was missing a CF-1. He said that was for 22 pay 23.  He 
went on to say that a couple of years ago, we did not receive a CF-1 from Kem Krest but the 
county did and we did a waiver of non-compliance last fall so they could receive benefits going 
forward. He said in order for them to receive those benefits for 22 pay 23, they have to submit a 
CF-1 and go through the process next year.  Councilman Henke said so you are saying they are 
in compliance because it went to the county and did not come to us.  Drew Wynes stated that 
was just from 2022 and the note on the cover memo is just in regards to the length of their phase-
in.  He said those are all details for next year as this year they submitted a CF-1 and they are in 
compliance.   
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-29 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 13 minutes and 38 seconds of 
the audio recording.  
 
There was no public discussion.   
 



 21 

 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-29 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 13 minutes and 40 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-29 with the finding that 
the property owner is in substantial compliance with real and personal property.  Second by 
Councilman Crabtree. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 1 hour, 14 minutes and 24 seconds of the audio 
recording.   
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-30 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER MARSON INTERNATIONAL LLC ARE IN 

SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS FORMS AND 
MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION NOS. R-04-22. 

R-06-22 AND R-07-22 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.   
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-30 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 15 minutes and 00 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no council discussion. 
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-30 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 15 minutes and 03 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 
 
 



 22 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-30 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 15 minutes and 09 
seconds of the audio recording. 
Councilwoman King made a motion but it was not audible.  Second by Councilwoman Hines. 
 
There was no further council discussion. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES: Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed.   
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 1 hour, 15 minutes and 56 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
 

Proposed Resolution 24-R-26 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER TEPE SANITARY INC.\T5, LLC ARE IN 
SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS (CF-1 
FORMS) AND THE MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER 

RESOLUTION NOS. R-50-20, R-54-20 AND R-55-20 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.   
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-26 
President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 16 minutes and 24 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no council discussion.  
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-26 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 16 minutes and 28 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 
 

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-26 

President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 16 minutes and 33 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 



 23 

Councilman Henke said this is one of those that was granted extensions and it was a buyout and 
he disagreed with what they did.  He said this was in 2020 with a three (3) year phase-in so, that 
would have ended and been done by now.  He said they were at 89.4% on real property.  He 
asked, how do we explain that when they do not even meet the 90% threshold.  Drew Wynes 
said they looked at the long term impact of this project and the huge increase in assessed value at 
that location.  He said they also the city is better off because that 1.2 Million Dollar investment 
took place and those jobs were hired.  He said they were so close, he believes they were only 7 
grand short of being at 90%.  He said those were the factors that they considered in their 
recommendation for compliance.     
 
Mike Huber said just adding on to what Drew said, last year when this was up for discussion, 
Tepe had representatives at the meeting and they indicated that part of the rational here was this 
was pre going into COVID.  He said they anticipated their estimated costs not knowing what 
those numbers were going to be, looking at potential inflated numbers for costs given supply 
chain issues.  He went on to say they were able to get the project in and delivered under that 
budget by $7,000.  He said he thinks at that time, the council took those factors into 
consideration.   
 
Councilwoman Hines made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-26 with the finding 
that the property owner is in substantial compliance with its statement of benefit form for 
real property.  Second by Councilman Fish. 
 
Councilman Henke said at some point, if we are accepting 89.4% and we are not going to hold 
numbers, he is not sure why they bring this process forward if we always have an excuse.  He 
said 89% regardless how small it is, they were in control of the numbers not us; their expenditure 
not ours.  He stated they could have expended that money and they were even given an open 
window to become compliant.  He stated it was such a savings, they sold, and they have a new 
owner.  He said quite honestly, it is the fairness of the process that is the value and they did not 
meet compliance.  He said it is unfair to those companies that were compliant.  He said he cannot 
support it.    
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree 
NAYS:  Henke, Dawson 
 
By a vote of 5-2, the motion passed.   
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 1 hour, 20 minutes and 38 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 24 

 
 

 
Proposed Resolution 24-R-32 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 

INDIANA, DETERMINING WHETHER TRUMA CORP.\42K REAL ESTATE LLC 
ARE IN SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE WITH ITS STATEMENT OF BENEFITS 

FORMS AND MEMORANDA OF AGREEMENT APPROVED UNDER RESOLUTION 
NOS. R-04-18, R-09-18 AND R-10-18 

 
President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed resolution by title only.   
 

 
COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-32 

President Dawson opened the council discussion starting at 1 hour, 21 minutes and 23 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no council discussion. 
 
 

PUBLIC DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-32 
President Dawson opened the public discussion starting at 1 hour, 21 minutes and 25 seconds of 
the audio recording. 
 
There was no public discussion. 
 
 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION ON PROPOSED RESOLUTION 24-R-32 
President Dawson returned the discussion to the council starting at 1 hour, 21 minutes and 30 
seconds of the audio recording. 
 
Councilman Henke made a motion to adopt Proposed Resolution 24-R-32 with the finding that 
the property owner is in substantial compliance with both real and personal property.  
Second by Councilman Crabtree. 
 
President Dawson asked the clerk to do a Roll Call vote. 
 
AYES:  Curry, King, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Henke, Dawson 
NAYS: 
 
By a vote of 7-0, the motion passed. 
 
Discussion on the proposed resolution ends at 1 hour, 22 minutes and 07 seconds of the audio 
recording. 
 
 



 25 

 
 
 
Councilman Henke stated that he wanted to thank Drew for all of the work he put into the 
binder.  He said this has been the best book in 22 years.  He said he believes we should recycle 
these books so that he does not have to recreate everything. 
 
President Dawson asked for a motion to adjourn.  Motion made by Councilman Crabtree, second 
by Councilman Fish.  
 
President Dawson declared the meeting adjourned. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________  __________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk   Arvis L. Dawson 
                  President of the Elkhart City Council 
 





























M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: 7/31/2024

TO: Common Council 

FROM: John M. Espar, Corporation Counsel   

RE: City of Elkhart Proclamation in recognition of remarkable emergency service 
following the storm and tornado on July 16, 2024. 

The Mayor Rod Roberson will be presenting the attached Proclamation in the next Regular Elkhart 

City Council Meeting.  

Thank you for your attention to this matter. 



In

16

WHEREAS:
-

WHEREAS:

St.

WHEREAS

WHEREAS

-to-

WHEREAS Pavilion

and

WHEREAS

E
-



WHEREAS
contained

WHEREAS
night

WHEREAS
Garage

residences

WHEREAS t

WHEREAS

needed

WHEREAS

comfort.

NOW d
Day”











































Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-27 
 

ORDINANCE NO.  

AN ORDINANCE PROHIBITING THE CAMPING AND STORAGE OF 
PERSONAL PROPERTY ON PUBLIC PROPERTY EXCEPT IN 

DESIGNATED CAMPING AREAS
___________________________________________

WHEREAS, many public spaces are intended for public use, including relaxation, 

recreation, pedestrian, bicycle and vehicular transportation, and other intended uses; and

WHEREAS, camping, as defined herein, without adequate sanitation services, such 

as sewer, water, and trash and waste removal, presents a public health and safety concern, 

arising from the increased potential for the spread of disease by members of the public, 

including individuals who may be experiencing homelessness; and

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart is experiencing an increase in the use of certain public 

spaces being used for purposes camping and/or the storage of personal property in areas and 

locations which are not intended for camping or the storage of personal property; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart seeks to promote and protect the public health, safety 

and general welfare by keeping public streets, parks, sidewalks, parking lots, and other public 

property, free of camping and the storage of personal property, unless such areas are specifically 

designated for such purposes; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart is mindful that a prohibition of camping and/or the 

storage of personal property in public spaces which are not designated for such purposes, may 

directly affect persons who may be experiencing homelessness or who may not possess 

traditional homes; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart possesses a sense of responsibility to collaborate with 

non-governmental agencies to assist individuals who may be experiencing homelessness, in 



the need to find shelter, housing, and other services, including transportation and 

accommodation within overnight shelters, or transitional housing, social and health-related 

services, for persons who may be found camping in public spaces which are not intended for 

camping; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart will continue to engage and interact with the 

homeless population of the City with dignity, respect, and compassion, and will strive to 

minimize the adverse effects of an ordinance prohibiting camping in public spaces which are 

not designated for camping; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart understands that persons experiencing homelessness 

must sleep somewhere, including public spaces, at times when there may be no 

accommodations in overnight shelters, designated campgrounds, or other locations which 

provide an alternative to camping in unauthorized areas; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart intends to exempt from the enforcement of this 

ordinance, any person for whom space in an overnight shelter, transitional shelter, or other 

accommodation is not available. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Common Council of the City of Elkhart 

that: 

SECTION 1. Definitions.

The following definitions shall be applicable in this ordinance:

A. “Camp” or “Camping” means to pitch, erect, or occupy Camp Facilities, or to 

use Camp Equipment, or both, for the purpose of, or in such a way as will permit or 

facilitate remaining overnight for one or more nights, or parking a trailer, recreational 

vehicle, or other vehicle for the purpose of remaining overnight for one or more nights. 



B. “Camp Facilities” include, but are not limited to, tents, huts, temporary shelters,

lean-tos (cardboard or other materials), trailers, recreational vehicles, or other vehicles.

C. “Camp Equipment” includes, but is not limited to, tarpaulins, cots, beds,

sleeping bags, hammocks, cooking utensils, and similar equipment.

D. “Park” means any real property, as well as any building, structure, parking lot, 

equipment, sign, shelter, swimming pool, vegetation, playground, or other physical 

property owned or controlled by the City of Elkhart for park purposes.

E. “Recreational Vehicle” means a travel trailer, motor home, campers, 

truck camper, or camping trailer that is primarily designed or used as temporary 

living quarters, whether self-propelled or mounted on or drawn by another 

vehicle. 

SECTION 2. Unlawful Camping and Storage of Camp Facilities, Camp Equipment, 

and Related Personal Property.

Except as otherwise provided by ordinance, it shall be unlawful for any person to Camp, 

occupy Camp Facilities, or to place, store, or maintain Camp Facilities, Camp Equipment, or 

other related personal property on any public real property of the City of Elkhart or any board or 

commission of the City of Elkhart, unless such designated as areas exempt from the application 

of this ordinance or for which camping is authorized by the City of Elkhart, including the Board 

of Public Works, the Parks and Recreation Board, the Redevelopment Commission, or such other 

board or commission of the City of Elkhart with legal possession and control of the property, 

including, but not limited to the following types of public property:

A. Any sidewalk, street, alley, highway, or right-of-way; 

B. Any Park or trail; 



C. Any publicly owned parking lot or publicly owned space, improved 

or unimproved; or 

D. Any public area where Camping obstructs or interferes with the intended public 

use of the property.

This section shall not apply to vehicles, including trailers and Recreational Vehicles, 

which are unoccupied and legally parked in rights-of-way, unless otherwise prohibited by law. 

SECTION 3. Unauthorized Camp Areas.

Upon a determination by City of Elkhart staff that property owned or controlled by the 

City of Elkhart is being used for Camping without authorization, the Camp Equipment, Camp 

Facilities, and all other personal property located at such area may be removed by City of 

Elkhart staff, subject to the following provisions: 

A. If the unauthorized encampment poses a substantial risk of harm to any person, or to 

the public, the City of Elkhart staff may immediately remove any Camp Equipment, 

Camp Facilities, and all other personal property.

B. If an unauthorized encampment does not pose a substantial risk of harm to any person, 

or to the public, City of Elkhart staff may remove any Camp Equipment, Camp 

Facilities, and all other personal property after complying with the following procedures:

(1) The City shall post notice at the site of the encampment in a manner 

reasonably calculated to effectively communicate notice to the property owners, 

at least a 48-hours in advance of any removal of any Camp Equipment, Camp 

Facilities, and all other personal property, which notice shall include the 

following: 

(a) the address or location of the unauthorized encampment;



(b) a statement that Camping or storage of personal property 

in the area is prohibited by ordinance; 

(c) the date and time the personal property will be removed; 

(d) a statement that any Camp Equipment, Camp Facilities, other 

personal property remaining at the encampment after the notice period 

is subject to removal by the City; 

(e) the location to which the property will be removed; and

(f) the telephone number and name of the person or facility to be 

contacted regarding the recovery of the property; and  

(g) a statement that the any Camp Equipment, Camp Facilities, 

and all other personal property remaining on the site at the scheduled 

removal date and time will be presumed abandoned and subject to 

disposal, as provided below. 

(2) Upon expiration of the 48-hour notice period, any Camp Equipment, Camp 

Facilities, and all other personal property may be removed by City personnel or 

agents of the City, subject to the provisions of this ordinance.

C. Any Camp Equipment, Camp Facilities, and all other personal property removed by

employees or agents of the City of Elkhart must be stored by City of Elkhart staff for a 

period, not less than sixty (60) days prior to being disposed. Notice of the location where 

any Camp Equipment, Camp Facilities, and all other personal property removed from 

the encampment may be claimed shall be posted at the location from which the personal 

property was removed in a manner reasonably calculated to effectively communicate 

notice to the property owners. Any litter, trash, garbage, or solid waste, or items that 



constitute a substantial health hazard, found at the encampment shall be immediately 

disposed of in a proper manner, and need not be stored by City of Elkhart staff.

D. If the name and contact information for the owner of a particular item of any Camp 

Equipment, Camp Facilities, and all other personal property can reasonablybe identified, 

the City shall attempt to contact the identified owner and provide notice that the item has 

been removed and how the item may be claimed.  

SECTION 4. Parked Recreational Vehicles Exempt.

The provisions of this Chapter shall not apply to Recreational Vehicles legally parked 

on any street, on in any publicly owned parking lot or publicly owned area, improved or 

unimproved, if the Recreational Vehicle is not at that time being used as a temporary living 

quarters. 

SECTION 5. Enforcement.

City employees designated by the Parks and Recreation Board, Public Safety Board, 

Public Works Board, Redevelopment Commission, Building Commissioner, Code 

Enforcement Authority, or Mayor, are authorized and empowered to enforce this ordinance

on behalf of the City, including issue citations, and take any other lawful civil action to 

prosecute violations of this Chapter, in accordance with the provisions herein or other 

applicable procedural laws.

SECTION 6. Exempt from Enforcement.

Any persons who is indigent and homeless is exempt from the application of this 

Chapter, unless an overnight sleeping accommodation is available to such person within 

Elkhart County, and such person has or is provided transportation to the place of 

accommodation.  



SECTION 7. Severability.

The provisions of this ordinance are severable, such that the invalidity of any phrase, 

clause or part of this ordinance shall not affect the validity or effectiveness of the remainder 

of the ordinance. 

SECTION 8. Effective Date. 

This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval and 

adoption according to the laws of the State of Indiana. 

ORDAINED this ___ day of _______________, ______ . 
 
      __________________________________

  Arvis Dawson
  President of the Common Council

ATTEST: 

__________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk

 
 
PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ____ day of ________________, ______ , at    
 a.m./p.m.

_________________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

APPROVED by me this ____ day of ________________, ______ .
 

  __________________________________
ATTEST:  Rod Roberson, Mayor

__________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk
 



Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-28 

P a g e | 1 of 1

M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: July 30, 2024 

TO: Common Council 
    
FROM: Michael Huber, Development Services 
 
RE: Proposed Ordinance to Issue Economic Development Revenue Bonds – River District Zone 1 

The Development Services Department requests the Council issue Economic Development 
Revenue Bonds in support of the Zone 1 River District Development project. These bonds will be 
purchased by the developer to complete their project that includes over $50m of investment across 
7 new buildings that will create approximately 120 new housing units, both rental and for sale, and 
13,000 square feet of new retail and commercial space. This development has been approved by 
the Elkhart Redevelopment Commission, who will consider a pledge of future TIF revenues from 
the project as a portion of the repayment of the bonds. 

It is anticipated that the bonds will be issued in three series timed with the construction phases of 
the project. The RDC has already taken action to create new TIF Allocation Areas to around the 
development parcels to limit the TIF support provided to the bonds are attributable to the specific 
project, and won’t encumber funds from the original Downtown TIF Allocation Area. The 
estimated total of the bonds is $11,804,000, which is derived based on an allocation of 100% of 
the projected TIF to be generated by the full development. 



Page 1 of 11

Proposed Ordinance No. 24-O-28

ORDINANCE NO.   

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF  ELKHART TO ISSUE 
ITS "[TAXABLE] ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REVENUE BONDS 

(RIVER DISTRICT PROJECT)" AND APPROVING AND 
AUTHORIZING OTHER ACTIONS IN RESPECT THERETO 

___________________________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, IC 36-7-11.9 and -12 (collectively, "Act") declares that the financing and 

refinancing of economic development facilities constitutes a public purpose; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Act, the City of Elkhart, Elkhart County, Indiana ("City" or 

"Issuer") is authorized to issue revenue bonds for the purpose of financing, reimbursing, or 

refinancing the costs of acquisition, construction, renovation, installation and equipping of 

economic development facilities in order to foster economic development diversification and the 

creation or retention of opportunities for gainful employment in or near the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City is considering the issuance of its [Taxable] Economic Development 

Revenue Bonds, Series 202___ (River District Project), in one or more series, to be completed 

with the year in which issued and series designation (collectively, "Bonds") pursuant to a Trust 

Indenture between the City and a to-be-determined financial institution, as trustee for the Bonds 

("Trustee"), dated as of the first day of the month in which sold or issued ("Indenture"), the 

proceeds of which will be used to finance all or a portion of certain local public improvements, 

including but not limited to, the construction of a mixed-use development that transforms the 

existing eastern gateway for downtown Elkhart and its River District, which will initially 

repurpose the site with new office and retail space, complemented by approximately 115 

residential units of varying types, together with all necessary appurtenances, related improvements 

and equipment and, with respect to the Housing Program (as defined in Exhibit C of Resolution 



Page 2 of 11

No. 23-R-079 adopted on October 10, 2023), assist with the construction of two or more buildings 

with a minimum of ten (10) residential units and any and all related public improvements 

(collectively, "Development"), as further set forth in the Development Agreement, dated as of 

September 28, 2020, as amended, by and between the City and EOZ Business, LLC and River 

District Development Company, LLC (collectively, "Developer") and costs of issuance, pursuant 

to a Financing and Covenant Agreement, dated as of the first day of the month the Bonds are sold 

or issued between the Developer and the City ("Financing Agreement"); and 

WHEREAS, the City has created an economic development target area for purposes of IC 

36-7-14-0.5(f); and 

WHEREAS, the Elkhart Economic Development Commission ("Commission") conducted 

a public hearing and adopted a resolution on August 13, 2024, which resolution has been 

transmitted hereto, finding that the financing of certain economic development facilities of the 

Developer complies with the purposes and provisions of the Act and that such financing will be of 

benefit to the health and welfare of the City and its citizens; and

WHEREAS, the Elkhart Redevelopment Commission ("Redevelopment Commission") 

has pledged Area No. 4 Tax Increment (as defined in the Financing Agreement) collected in the

Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 4 ("Allocation Area No. 4") pursuant to its resolution 

adopted on August 13, 2024, to be used to pay debt service on the hereinafter defined Series A 

Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Commission has pledged Area No. 5 Tax Increment (as 

defined in the Financing Agreement) collected in the Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 5

("Allocation Area No. 5"), pursuant to its resolution adopted on August 13, 2024, to be used to 

pay debt service on the hereinafter defined Series B Bonds; and 



Page 3 of 11

WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Commission has pledged Area No. 6 Tax Increment (as 

defined in the Financing Agreement) collected in the Downtown Elkhart SF Housing Allocation 

Area No. 6 ("Allocation Area No. 6" and hereinafter collectively with Allocation Area No. 4 and 

Allocation Area No. 5, the "Allocation Areas") pursuant to its resolution adopted on August 13, 

2024, to be used to pay debt service on the hereinafter defined Series C Bonds, pursuant to the 

Financing Agreement.  The City shall issue, in multiple series, its: (i) [Taxable] Economic 

Development Revenue Bonds, Series 20___A (River District Project), to be completed with the 

year in which issued, payable solely from Area No. 4 Tax Increment ("Series A Bonds"); (ii) 

[Taxable] Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 20___B (River District Project), to be 

completed with the year in which issued, payable solely from Area No. 5 Tax Increment ("Series 

B Bonds"); and (iii) [Taxable] Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 20___C (River 

District Housing Project), to be completed with the year in which issued, payable solely from the 

Area No. 6 Tax Increment to finance the construction of the Development consisting of three (3) 

phases as more specifically set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein, together 

with all necessary appurtenances, related improvements and equipment and, with respect to the 

Housing Program, assist with the construction of two or more buildings with a minimum of ten 

(10) residential units and any and all related public improvements in or physically connected to 

the respective Allocation Areas (collectively, "Projects"), costs of issuance, capitalized interest, if 

necessary, and related expenses for each series of Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Commission has heretofore approved and recommended the adoption of 

this form of ordinance by this Common Council, has considered the issue of adverse competitive 

effect and has approved the forms of and has transmitted for approval by the Common Council as 

attached hereto and incorporated herein on Exhibit B, the Financing Agreement, the Indenture 



Page 4 of 11

(including form of Bonds) and the Bond Purchase Agreement between the Issuer and the 

Developer, as the purchaser of the Bonds (collectively, "Financing Documents"); 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. It is hereby found that: (i) the financing of the economic development 

facilities, including the Projects referred to herein and in the Financing Documents approved by 

the Commission and presented to this Common Council; (ii) the issuance and sale of the City's

Bonds, in multiple series; (iii) utilizing the proceeds of the Bonds for the construction of the 

Projects; (iv) (a) the payment of the Series A Bonds from the Area No. 4 Tax Increment collected 

in Allocation Area No. 4; (b) the payment of the Series B Bonds from the Area No. 5 Tax 

Increment collected in Allocation Area No. 5; and (c) the payment of the Series C Bonds from the 

Area No. 6 Tax Increment collected in Allocation Area No. 6; and (v) the securing of the Bonds 

under the Indenture, complies with the purposes and provisions of the Act and will be of benefit 

to the health and welfare of the City and its citizens.  The proceeds of the Bonds will be used for 

the financing of the construction of a portion of the Projects and the costs of issuance of the Bonds, 

including funding capitalized interest, if necessary.  The Common Council further finds, 

determines, ratifies and confirms that the promotion of economic development, creation of new 

job opportunities and increased investment in the City is desirable to preserve the health, safety 

and general welfare of the citizens of the City; and that it is in the public interest that the 

Commission and the Issuer to take such action as they lawfully may to encourage economic 

development, creation of job opportunities, creation of multi-family and single-family housing, 

creation of commercial/retail space and increased investment in the City. 



Page 5 of 11

Section 2. At the public hearing held before the Commission, the Commission 

considered whether the funding of a portion of the Projects would have an adverse competitive

effect on any similar facilities located in or near the City, and subsequently found, based on 

findings of fact set forth in its resolution transmitted hereto ("Resolution") and the absence of 

evidence from the public or a competitor of substantive probative value, that the funding of a 

portion of the Projects would not have an adverse competitive effect.  This Common Council

hereby confirms the findings on adverse competitive effect set forth in the Commission's 

Resolution, and hereby finds that the construction of the Projects will be of benefit to the health

and welfare of the citizens of the City.

Section 3. The substantially final forms of the Financing Documents approved by the 

Commission are hereby approved and the Financing Documents are attached hereto as Exhibit B.  

In accordance with the provisions of IC 36-1-5-4, two (2) copies of the Financing Documents are 

on file in the office of the Clerk for public inspection. 

Section 4. The City may issue its Bonds in multiple series, in a combined aggregate 

principal amount of $12,000,000, maturing no later than twenty-five (25) years from their date of 

issuance, or as permitted by law.  The Bonds are to be issued for the purpose of procuring funds 

to pay the costs of construction of a portion of the Projects, all as more particularly set out in the 

Indenture and the Financing Agreement, which: (i) Series A Bonds will be payable as to principal 

and interest from Area No. 4 Tax Increment collected in Allocation Area No. 4; (ii) Series B Bonds 

will be payable as to principal and interest from Area No. 5 Tax Increment collected in Allocation 

Area No. 5; and (iii) Series C Bonds will be payable as to principal and interest from Area No.

Tax Increment collected in the Allocation Area No. 6, each pursuant to the Financing Documents 

or as otherwise provided in the Indenture.  The Bonds shall be issued in fully registered form in 



Page 6 of 11

denominations of $1,000 and integral multiples thereof or as provided in the Indenture, payable

semiannually on February 1 and August 1.  The Bonds shall be subject to optional redemption

prior to maturity at the option of the City, on any date, upon thirty (30) days' written notice, at face 

value, plus in each case accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, with no premium, as 

further provided in the Indenture.  To the extent the tax increment collected in the respective 

Allocation Areas exceeds the debt service on the respective series of Bonds, such series of Bonds 

shall be redeemed upon seven (7) days' written notice, at face value, plus in each case accrued 

interest to the date fixed for redemption, with no premium, as further provided in the Indenture.  

The Bonds may be issued as term bonds subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption.  Payments 

on the Bonds are payable in lawful money of the United States of America by check mailed or 

delivered to the registered owners or by wire transfer as provided in the Indenture.  The Bonds 

shall never constitute a general obligation of, an indebtedness of, or a charge against the general 

credit of the City as described in the Indenture. 

Section 5. The Mayor and the Controller are authorized and directed to sell the Bonds 

to the purchaser thereof at a price not less than 100% of the par value thereof and shall accrue 

interest at a rate not to exceed ten percent (10.0%) per annum. 

Section 6. The Bonds may be both purchased by the bond purchaser in installments 

and drawn down by the Developer in installments (subject to the Internal Revenue Code).

Section 7. The Mayor, Clerk and Controller are authorized and directed to execute and 

attest, manually or electronically, and to affix or imprint by any means the City seal to, the 

documents constituting the Financing Documents approved herein on behalf of the City and any 

other document which may be necessary or desirable prior to, on or after the date hereof to 

consummate or facilitate the transaction, including the Bonds authorized herein.  The Mayor, Clerk 



Page 7 of 11

and Controller are hereby expressly authorized to approve any modifications or additions to the 

documents constituting the Financing Documents which take place after the date of this ordinance 

with the review and advice of counsel to the City; it being the express understanding of this 

Common Council that the Financing Documents are in substantially final form as of the date of 

this ordinance.  The approval of these modifications or additions shall be conclusively evidenced 

by the execution and attestation thereof and the affixing of the seal thereto or the imprinting of the 

seal thereon; provided, however, that no such modification or addition shall change the terms and 

conditions set forth in IC 36-7-12-27(a)1-10, including the maximum principal amount of, interest 

rate on or term of the Bonds as approved by the Common Council by this ordinance without further 

consideration by the Common Council.  The signatures of the Mayor, Clerk and Controller on the 

Bonds may be either manual, electronic or facsimile signatures.  The use of electronic signatures 

by the Mayor, Clerk and Controller are authorized and affirmed with full valid legal effect and 

enforceability.  The Controller is authorized to arrange for delivery of such Bonds to the Trustee, 

and payment for the Bonds will be made to the Trustee and after such payment, the Bonds will be 

delivered by the Trustee to the purchaser thereof.  The Bonds shall be originally dated the date of 

issuance and delivery thereof. 

Section 8. The provisions of this ordinance and the Indenture securing the Bonds shall 

constitute a contract binding between the City and the holders of the Bonds, and after the issuance 

of the Bonds, this ordinance shall not be repealed or amended in any respect which would 

adversely affect the rights of such holders so long as the Bonds or the interest thereon remains 

unpaid. 



Page 8 of 11

Section 9. This ordinance shall constitute "official action" for purposes of compliance 

with state laws requiring governmental action as authorization for future reimbursement from the 

proceeds of Bonds. 

Section 10. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and approval by the Mayor. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]



Page 9 of 11

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, this 

19th day of August, 2024.

COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ELKHART, INDIANA 

Arvis Dawson, President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk
 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this _________ day of August, 2024. 

 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

APPROVED by me this ________ day of August, 2024.

Rod Roberson, Mayor
ATTEST: 

Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk



Page 10 of 11

EXHIBIT A

Projects

Phase I (Series A Bonds) – construction of two (2) buildings consisting of commercial multi-use 
space to be owned by Developer and offered for lease to third parties;

Phase II (Series B Bonds) - construction of five (5) buildings with three (3) of the buildings 
consisting of not less than 85 residential units and 13,500 square feet of commercial space to be 
owned by the Developer and offered for lease to third parties and with two (2) of the buildings 
consisting of not less than 20 residential units to be owned by the Developer and offered to third 
parties and Pacific Street pedestrian improvements; and 

Phase III (Series C Bonds) – construction of two (2) buildings of not less than 10 residential units 
to be offered for sale to third parties. 

 



Page 11 of 11

EXHIBIT B 

Financing Documents 

(Attached)



4873-8850-7335.1

TRUST INDENTURE

 

BETWEEN 

 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

 

AND 

 

[TRUSTEE] 

_____________, Indiana 

as Trustee 

 

$X,XXX,XXX 

 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

[TAXABLE] ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 202___ 

(RIVER DISTRICT PROJECT) 

 

Dated as of ______________ 1, 202___ 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS………………………………………………………………. 11 

Section 1.1. Terms Defined……………………………………………………………... 11 
Section 1.2. Rules of Interpretation……………………………………………………... 14 
Section 1.3. Exhibits……………………………………………………………………. 14 

ARTICLE II. THE SERIES 202___ BONDS……………………………………………... 15 

Section 2.1. Authorized Amount of Series 202___ Bonds……………………………… 15 
Section 2.2. Issuance of Series 202___ Bonds………………………………………….. 15 
Section 2.3. Payment on Series 202___ Bonds…………………………………………. 15 
Section 2.4. Execution; Limited Obligation…………………………………………….. 15 
Section 2.5. Authentication……………………………………………………………… 16 
Section 2.6. Form of Series 202___ Bonds……………………………………………... 16 
Section 2.7. Delivery of Series 202___ Bonds………………………………………….. 16 
Section 2.8. Issuance of Additional Bonds……………………………………………… 17 
Section 2.9. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Series 202___ Bonds………………. 18 
Section 2.10. Registration and Exchange of Series 202___ Bonds; Persons Treated 

as Owners…………………………………………………………………... 18 

ARTICLE III. APPLICATION OF SERIES 202___ BOND PROCEEDS……………….. 20 

Section 3.1. Deposit of Funds…………………………………………………………… 20 

ARTICLE IV. REVENUE AND FUNDS…………………………………………………. 21 

Section 4.1. Source of Payment of Bonds………………………………………………. 21 
Section 4.2. Bond Fund…………………………………………………………………. 21 
Section 4.3. Reserved……………………………………………………………………. 21 
Section 4.4. Construction Fund………………………………………………………….. 22 
Section 4.5. Reserved……………………………………………………………………. 23 
Section 4.6. TIF Revenues………………………………………………………………. 23 
Section 4.7. Trust Funds………………………………………………………………… 23 
Section 4.8. Investment………………………………………………………………….. 23 

ARTICLE V. REDEMPTION OF BONDS BEFORE MATURITY……………………… 24 

Section 5.1. Redemption Dates and Prices……………………………………………… 24 
Section 5.2. Notice of Redemption ………………………………………………………25 
Section 5.3. Cancellation………………………………………………………………... 25 
Section 5.4. Redemption Payments……………………………………………………... 25 
Section 5.5. Partial Redemption of Series 202___ Bonds………………………………. 25 



ARTICLE VI. GENERAL COVENANTS…………………………………………………27

Section 6.1. Payment of Principal and Interest…………………………………………..27
Section 6.2. Performance of Covenants………………………………………………….27
Section 6.3. Ownership; Instruments of Further Assurance…………………………….. 27
Section 6.4. Filing of Indenture, Financing Agreement and Security Instruments………28
Section 6.5. Inspection of Books………………………………………………………... 28
Section 6.6. List of Bondholders…………………………………………………………28
Section 6.7. Rights Under Financing Agreement……………………………………...... 28
Section 6.8. Investment of Funds………………………………………………………... 28
Section 6.9. Non-presentment of Bonds………………………………………………… 29
Section 6.10. Direction of Bondholders…………………………………………………...29
Section 6.11. Reserved…………………………………………………………………….29

ARTICLE VII. DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES…………………………………………... 30

Section 7.1. Events of Default…………………………………………………………... 30
Section 7.2. Reserved…………………………………………………………………….30
Section 7.3. Remedies; Rights of Bondholders…………………………………………. 30
Section 7.4. Right of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings………………………………. 31
Section 7.5. Application of Moneys…………………………………………………….. 31
Section 7.6. Remedies Vested In Trustee……………………………………………….. 32
Section 7.7. Rights and Remedies of Bondholders………………………………………32
Section 7.8. Termination of Proceedings………………………………………………... 33
Section 7.9. Waivers of Events of Default……………………………………………… 33

ARTICLE VIII. THE TRUSTEE AND PAYING AGENT………………………………...34 

Section 8.1. Acceptance of the Trusts……………………………………………………34
Section 8.2. Fees, Charges and Expenses of Trustee and Paying Agent………………... 37
Section 8.3. Notice to Bondholders if Default Occurs…………………………………...38
Section 8.4. Intervention by Trustee……………………………………………………..38
Section 8.5. Successor Trustee…………………………………………………………...38
Section 8.6. Resignation by the Trustee………………………………………………….38
Section 8.7. Removal of the Trustee…………………………………………………….. 38
Section 8.8. Appointment of Successor Trustee by the Bondholders; Temporary  

Trustee………………………………………………………………………38
Section 8.9. Concerning Any Successor Trustees………………………………………. 39
Section 8.10. Trustee Protected in Relying Upon Resolutions, etc………………………. 39
Section 8.11. Appointment of Paying Agent and Registrar; Resignation or  

Removal of Paying Agent…………………………………………………. 39

ARTICLE IX. SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES……………………………………….. 41

Section 9.1. Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders…………41
Section 9.2. Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Bondholders…………….. 41



ARTICLE X. AMENDMENTS TO THE FINANCING AGREEMENT………………….43

Section 10.1. Amendments, etc., to Financing Agreement Not Requiring Consent 
of Bondholders……………………………………………………………...43

Section 10.2. Amendments, etc., to Financing Agreement Requiring Consent of  
Bondholders………………………………………………………………... 43

ARTICLE XI. MISCELLANEOUS……………………………………………………….. 44

Section 11.1. Satisfaction and Discharge………………………………………………… 44
Section 11.2. Defeasance of Bonds………………………………………………………. 44
Section 11.3. Cancellation of Bonds………………………………………………………45
Section 11.4. Application of Trust Money……………………………………………….. 46
Section 11.5. Consents, etc., of Bondholders…………………………………………….. 46
Section 11.6. Limitation of Rights………………………………………………………... 46
Section 11.7. Severability………………………………………………………………… 47
Section 11.8. Notices…………………………………………………………………….. 47
Section 11.9. Counterparts………………………………………………………………... 47
Section 11.10. Applicable Law……………………………………………………………. 47
Section 11.11. Immunity of Officers and Directors……………………………………….. 47
Section 11.12. Holidays……………………………………………………………………. 47
Section 11.13. Shortfall of TIF Revenues…………………………………………………. 48



4873-8850-7335.1 

TRUST INDENTURE

This TRUST INDENTURE dated as of the first day of ____________, 2024, by and 
between the CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA ("Issuer"), a municipal corporation duly 
organized and existing under the laws of the State of Indiana and [TRUSTEE], a [national] 
banking association duly organized and existing under the laws of the [United States of 
America], with a corporate trust office located in the City of ____________, Indiana, as Trustee 
("Trustee"); 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code, Title 36, Article 7, Chapters 11.9, -12, -14 and -25 
(collectively, "Act"), authorize and empower the Issuer to issue revenue bonds and to provide the 
proceeds therefrom for the purpose of financing economic development facilities and vests such 
Issuer with powers that may be necessary to enable it to accomplish such purposes; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Issuer has determined to 
proceed with the financing of the construction of certain local public improvements, including 
but not limited to, the construction of a mixed-use development that transforms the existing 
eastern gateway for downtown Elkhart and its River District, which will initially repurpose the 
site with new office and retail space, complemented by approximately 115 residential units of 
varying types, together with all necessary appurtenances, related improvements and equipment 
and, with respect to the Housing Program (as defined in Exhibit C of Resolution No. 23-R-079 
adopted on October 10, 2023), assist with the construction of two or more buildings with a 
minimum of ten (10) residential units and any and all related public improvements (collectively, 
"Development"), as further set forth in the Development Agreement, dated as of September 28, 
2020, as amended, by and between the City and EOZ Business, LLC and River District 
Development Company, LLC, in three phases, as more specifically set forth on Exhibit A
attached hereto and incorporated herein, together with all necessary appurtenances, related 
improvements and equipment, in or physically connected to the respective Allocation Area 
(collectively, "Projects") needed to serve the construction of the Development, to induce the
Developer to construct the Development and to pay costs of issuance of the Bonds by offering to 
issue its [Taxable] Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 202___ (River District 
Project) in the principal amount of $X,XXX,XXX ("Series 202___ Bonds"), pursuant to this 
Trust Indenture and to use the proceeds thereof pursuant to the Financing and Covenant 
Agreement, dated as of ______________ 1, 202___, between the Issuer and the Developer
("Financing Agreement") for the purpose of paying certain costs of the Projects and issuance 
expenses; and 

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Indenture and the issuance of revenue 
bonds under the Act as herein provided have been in all respects duly and validly authorized by 
proceedings duly passed on and approved by the Issuer; and

WHEREAS, after giving notice in accordance with the Act and IC 5-3-1-4, the Issuer 
held a public hearing, and upon finding that the Projects and the proposed financing thereof to 
induce the construction of the Development will create additional employment opportunities and 
increased investment in the City of Elkhart, Indiana ("City"), creation of multi-family and single-



2
4873-8850-7335.1

family housing, creation of commercial/retail space and will benefit the health, safety, morals, 
and general welfare of the citizens of City and the State of Indiana and will comply with the 
purposes and provisions of the Act, adopted an ordinance approving the proposed financing; and

WHEREAS, Indiana Code, Title 36, Article 7, Chapter 14 provides that a redevelopment 
commission may pledge certain incremental property taxes to pay, in whole or in part, amounts 
due on the Series 202___ Bonds; and 

The Elkhart Redevelopment Commission ("Redevelopment Commission") has 
established and expanded an urban renewal area needing redevelopment known as the 
Downtown Urban Renewal Area ("Area"), and approved an urban renewal plan for the Area, as 
amended to date ("Original Plan"), which Original Plan contained specific recommendations for 
economic development in the Area, pursuant to a Declaratory Resolution, as amended to date, as 
confirmed by Confirmatory Resolution, as amended to date, after public hearings (collectively, 
"Area Resolution"). 

The Area Resolution established six allocation areas, including the: (i) Downtown 
Elkhart Allocation Area No. 4 ("Allocation Area No. 4"); (ii) Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area 
No. 5 ("Allocation Area No. 5"); and (iii) Downtown Elkhart SF Housing Allocation Area No. 6 
("Allocation Area No. 6") (collectively, "Allocation Areas") in accordance with IC 36-7-14-39, 
for the purpose of capturing property taxes generated from the incremental assessed value of real 
property located in the Allocation Areas; 

WHEREAS, the Act provides that such Bonds may be secured by a trust indenture 
between the Issuer and a corporate trustee; and 

WHEREAS, the Financing Agreement provides for the use of the proceeds of the Bonds 
to complete the Projects, and, pursuant to this Indenture, the Issuer will assign certain of its 
rights under the Financing Agreement to the Trustee; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to this Indenture, the Bonds shall be payable solely from TIF 
Revenues and proceeds from the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Trust Indenture, and the issuance of the 
Bonds hereunder, have been in all respects duly and validly authorized by an ordinance duly 
passed and approved by the Issuer; and 

WHEREAS, the Redevelopment Commission has, by resolution, pledged TIF Revenues 
to the Issuer to be applied to the repayment of the Bonds; and 

WHEREAS, the Bonds and the Trustee's certificate of authentication to be endorsed 
thereon are all to be substantially in the following form, with necessary and appropriate 
variations, omissions and insertions as permitted or required by this Indenture, to-wit: 

(Form of Series 202___ Bonds) 

NO. R-____ 



3
4873-8850-7335.1

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

STATE OF INDIANA COUNTY OF ELKHART

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 
TAXABLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

REVENUE BOND, SERIES 202___[A][B][C] 
(RIVER DISTRICT PROJECT) 

 
 

INTEREST
RATE

MATURITY 
DATE

ORIGINAL 
DATE

AUTHENTICATION 
DATE

  

REGISTERED OWNER: _________________________

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: ______________ DOLLARS ($X,XXX,XXX) 

The City of Elkhart, Indiana ("Issuer"), a municipal corporation duly organized and 
existing under the laws of the State of Indiana, for value received, hereby promises to pay in 
lawful money of the United States of America to the Registered Owner listed above, but solely 
from the payments of [Area No. 4 Tax Increment] [Area No. 5 Tax Increment] [Area No. 6 Tax 
Increment] (as defined in the hereinafter defined Indenture), pledged and assigned for the 
payment hereof, the Principal Amount set forth above on the Maturity Date set forth above[, or 
so much of the Principal Amount as shall have been advanced,] unless this Series 
202___[A][B][C] Bond (as hereinafter defined) shall have previously been called for redemption 
and payment of the redemption price made or provided for, and to pay interest on the unpaid 
principal amount hereof in like money, but solely from those payments, at the Interest Rate 
specified above per annum payable on ___________ 1, 20__, and on each February 1 and 
August 1 thereafter ("Interest Payment Dates") until the Principal Amount [advanced] is paid in 
full.  Interest on this Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond shall be payable from the Interest Payment 
Date next preceding the date of authentication thereof ("Interest Date"), except that:  (i) if this 
Series 202____[A][B][C] Bond is authenticated on or prior to ___________ 15, 20__, the 
Interest Date shall be the Original Issue Date specified above[, or, for subsequent advances, the 
date of each advance]; (ii) if this Series 202___ Bond[A][B][C] is authenticated after the 
fifteenth day of the month preceding an Interest Payment Date ("Record Date"), the Interest Date 
shall be such Interest Payment Date; and (iii) if interest on this Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond is 
in default, the Interest Date shall be the day after the date to which interest hereon has been paid 
in full.  [The schedule of advances is shown on Exhibit A.] 

The principal of and premium on, if any, this Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond are payable 
at the office of _______________, as Trustee, or at the payment office of any successor trustee 
or paying agent.  All payments of interest hereon will be made by the Trustee by check mailed 
one Business Day prior to each Interest Payment Date to the Registered Owner hereof at the 
address shown on the registration books of the Trustee as maintained by the Trustee, as registrar, 
determined on the Record Date next preceding such Interest Payment Date.  [Principal payments 



4
4873-8850-7335.1

in connection with mandatory sinking fund redemption hereunder shall not require presentation 
of the Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds for payment except upon final maturity or redemption in 
full.]

This Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond is [the only] one of an authorized issue of bonds of 
the Issuer designated as the Taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 
202___[A][B][C] (River District Project), [[to be] [issued in series] [of like tenor and effect, 
except as to numbering, interest rate, series designation and dates of maturity]] ("Series 
202___[A][B][C] Bonds") which is being issued under the hereinafter described Indenture in the 
aggregate principal amount of $X,XXX,XXX.  The Series 202___ Bonds are being issued for the 
purpose of providing funds to finance the construction of certain improvements, including but 
not limited to, [the construction of two (2) buildings consisting of commercial multi-use space to
be owned by the Developer and offered for lease to third parties][the construction of five (5) 
buildings with three (3) buildings consisting of not less than 85 residential units and 13,500 
square feet of commercial space to be owned by Developer and offered for lease to third parties
and with two (2) buildings consisting of not less than 20 residential units to be owned by 
Developer and offered for lease to third parties and Pacific Street pedestrian improvements][the 
construction of two (2) buildings consisting of not less than 10 residential units to be offered for 
sale to third parties], together with all necessary appurtenances, related improvements and 
equipment (collectively,"Projects") needed to serve the construction of a mixed-use development 
that transforms the existing eastern gateway for downtown Elkhart and its River District, which 
will initially repurpose the site with new office and retail space, complemented by approximately 
115 residential units of varying types, together with all necessary appurtenances, related 
improvements (collectively, "Development"), in or physically connected to the [Allocation Area 
No. 4] [Allocation Area No. 5] [Allocation Area No. 6] located in the City of Elkhart, Indiana; 
and to pay costs of issuance of the Bonds, to be constructed by EOZ Business, LLC and River 
District Development Company, LLC (collectively, "Developer"), pursuant to the Financing and 
Covenant Agreement dated as of ______________ 1, 202___ ("Financing Agreement") between 
the Developer and the Issuer which prescribe the terms and conditions under which the proceeds 
of the Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds shall be used for construction of the Projects needed to 
serve the construction of the Development.

The Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds are issued under and entitled to the security of a 
Trust Indenture dated as of ______________ 1, 202___ ("Indenture") duly executed and 
delivered by the Issuer to [TRUSTEE], as Trustee (the term "Trustee" where used herein 
referring to the Trustee or its successors), pursuant to which Indenture, the [Area No. 4 Tax 
Increment] [Area No. 5 Tax Increment] [Area No. 6 Tax Increment] and all rights of the Issuer 
under the Financing Agreement, except certain rights to payment for expenses, indemnity rights 
and rights to perform certain discretionary acts as set forth in the Financing Agreement, are 
pledged and assigned by the Issuer to the Trustee as security for the Series 202___[A][B][C]
Bonds.  THE OWNER OF THIS SERIES 202___[A][B][C] BOND, BY ACCEPTANCE OF 
THIS SERIES 202___[A][B][C] BOND, HEREBY AGREES TO ALL OF THE TERMS AND 
PROVISIONS IN THE INDENTURE AND THIS SERIES 202___[A][B][C] BOND AND 
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT: 

1. It is a sophisticated investor and it is familiar with securities such as the Series 
202____[A][B][C] Bonds. 



5
4873-8850-7335.1

2. It is familiar with the City, the Elkhart Redevelopment Commission 
("Commission") and the Elkhart Redevelopment District ("District"); it has received such 
information concerning the City, the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds, the Indenture, the [Area 
No. 4 Tax Increment][Area No. 5 Tax Increment][Area No. 6 Tax Increment] (as defined in the 
Indenture), as it deems to be necessary in connection with investment in the Series 202____ 
Bonds.  It has received, read and had an opportunity to comment upon and has consented to the 
provisions of the Indenture, the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds and the Financing Agreement.  
Prior to the purchase of the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds, it has been provided with the 
opportunity to ask questions of and receive answers from the representatives of the City 
concerning the terms and conditions of the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds, the tax status of the 
Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds, legal opinions and enforceability of remedies, the security 
therefor, and property tax reform (including the hereinafter defined Circuit Breaker), and to 
obtain any additional information needed in order to verify the accuracy of the information 
obtained to the extent that the City possesses such information or can acquire it without 
unreasonable effort or expense.  It is not relying on Ice Miller LLP, Baker Tilly Municipal 
Advisors, LLC or _____________________________ for information concerning the financial 
status of the City, the Commission or the District, or the ability of the City or the Commission to 
honor their financial obligations or other covenants under the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds, 
the Indenture or the Financing Agreement.  It understands that the projection of [Area No. 4 Tax 
Increment] [Area No. 5 Tax Increment] [Area No. 6 Tax Increment] prepared by Baker Tilly 
Municipal Advisors, LLC in connection with the issuance of the Series 202____[A][B][C] 
Bonds has been based on estimates of the investment and assessed value growth assumption in 
real property provided by the Developer. 

3. It understands that the City's collection of the [Area No. 4 Tax Increment][Area 
No. 5 Tax Increment][Area No. 6 Tax Increment] may be limited by operation of IC 6-1.1-20.6, 
which provides taxpayers with tax credits for property taxes attributable to different classes of 
property in an amount that exceeds certain percentages of the gross assessed value of that 
property ("Circuit Breaker").  The City may not increase its property tax levy or borrow money 
to make up any shortfalls due to the application of this tax credit.  It further understands that 
neither the City nor the Commission has the authority to levy a tax to pay principal of or interest 
on the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds. 

4. It is acquiring the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds for its own account with no 
present intent to resell; and it will not sell, convey, pledge or otherwise transfer the Series 
202____[A][B][C] Bonds without prior compliance with applicable registration and disclosure 
requirements of state and federal securities laws. 

5. It understands that the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds have not been registered 
under the 1933 Act and, unless so registered, may not be sold without registration under the 1933 
Act or an exemption therefrom.  It is aware that it may transfer or sell the Series 
202____[A][B][C] Bonds only if the Trustee shall first have received:  (i) a satisfactory opinion 
of counsel that the sale or transfer will not violate the 1933 Act, the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934 and the Investment Company Act of 1940 and regulations issued pursuant to such Acts; or 
(ii) a no-action letter of the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission that the staff will 
recommend that no action be taken with respect to such sale or transfer; or (iii) a certificate 
stating that they reasonably believe that the transferee is a "Qualified Institutional Buyer" within 



6
4873-8850-7335.1

the meaning of Section (a) of Rule 144A ("Rule 144A") promulgated by the Securities and 
Exchange Commission pursuant to the 1933 Act and has informed the transferee of the transfer 
restrictions applicable to the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds and that the transferor may be 
relying upon Rule 144A with respect to the transfer of the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds.

6. It has investigated the security for the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds, including 
the availability of [Area No. 4 Tax Increment][Area No. 5 Tax Increment][Area No. 6 Tax 
Increment], to its satisfaction, and it understands that the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds are 
payable solely from [Area No. 4 Tax Increment][Area No. 5 Tax Increment][Area No. 6 Tax 
Increment], subject to any rescission provisions of the Financing Agreement.  

7. It recognizes that: (a) the opinions it has received express the professional 
judgment of the attorneys participating in the transaction as to the legal issues addressed herein;  
(b) by rendering such opinions, the attorneys do not become insurers or guarantors of (i) that 
expression of professional judgment; (ii) the transaction opined upon; or (iii) the future 
performance of parties to such transaction; and (c) the rendering of the opinions does not 
guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 

8. It understands that the City has no continuing disclosure obligations with regard 
to the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds. 

9. It understands the Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds are being issued on a taxable 
basis. 

It is provided in the Indenture that the Issuer may hereafter issue Additional Bonds (as 
defined in the Indenture) from time to time under certain terms and conditions contained therein.  
(Such Additional Bonds and the Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the "Bonds.")  Reference is made to the Indenture and to all indentures 
supplemental thereto for a description of the nature and extent of the security, the rights, duties 
and obligations of the Issuer and the Trustee, the rights of the holders of the Bonds, the issuance 
of Additional Bonds and the terms on which the Bonds are or may be issued and secured, and to 
all the provisions of which the holder hereof by the acceptance of this Series 202___[A][B][C] 
Bond assents. 

The Series 202____[A][B][C] Bonds are issuable in registered form in the denominations 
of $1,000 and integral multiples thereof as fully registered Bonds.  This Series 
202____[A][B][C] Bond is transferable by the registered holder hereof in person or by its 
attorney duly authorized in writing at the payment office of the Trustee, but only in the manner, 
subject to the limitations and upon payment of the charges provided in the Indenture and upon 
surrender and cancellation of this Series 202____[A][B][C] Bond.  Upon such transfer a new 
registered Bond will be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor. 

The Issuer, the Trustee and the Paying Agent may deem and treat the Registered Owner 
hereof as the absolute owner hereof for the purpose of receiving payment of or on account of 
principal hereof and premium, if any, hereon and for all other purposes and neither the Issuer, the 
Trustee nor the Paying Agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary. 



7
4873-8850-7335.1

If sufficient funds are on deposit in the Bond Fund pursuant to Section 5.1(a) of the 
Indenture or Sections 4.1 and 4.2 of the Financing Agreement, the Series 202___[A][B][C]
Bonds are subject to redemption in full, at the option of the City, on any date on thirty (30) days' 
notice, at face value, with no premium, plus accrued interest to the date of maturity.

The Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds maturing on ___________ 1, 20___ are subject to 
mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity, at a redemption price equal to the principal 
amount thereof, on January 1 and July 1 on the dates and in the amounts set forth below: 

204__ Term Bond
Date Amount Date Amount

   
$ * 

*Final maturity 

[In addition, to the extent [Area No. 4 Tax Increment] [Area No. 5 Tax Increment] [Area 
No. 6 Tax Increment] exceeds the debt service due on the Series 202____ Bonds, the Series 
202____[A][B][C] Bonds shall be redeemed upon seven (7) days' written notice, at face value, 
plus in each case accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, with no premium.] 

If any of the Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds are called for redemption as aforesaid, notice 
thereof identifying the Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds to be redeemed will be given by mailing a 
copy of the redemption notice by first class mail not less than thirty (30) days prior to the date 
fixed for redemption to the Registered Owner of the Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds to be 
redeemed at the address shown on the registration books; provided, however, that failure to give 
such notice by mailing, or any defect therein with respect to any registered Series 
202___[A][B][C] Bond, shall not affect the validity of any proceedings for the redemption of 
other Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds.   

All Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds so called for redemption will cease to bear interest on 
the specified redemption date, provided funds for their redemption are on deposit at the place of 
payment at that time, and shall no longer be protected by the Indenture and shall not be deemed 
to be outstanding under the provisions of the Indenture. 

This Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond is transferable by the Registered Owner hereof at the 
payment office of the Trustee upon surrender and cancellation of this Series 202___[A][B][C]
Bond and on presentation of a duly executed written instrument of transfer and thereupon a new 
Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond or Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds of the same aggregate principal 
amount and maturity and in authorized denominations will be issued to the transferee or 
transferees in exchange therefor, subject to all terms herein. 

The Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds and the interest payable thereon, do not and shall not 
represent or constitute a debt of the Issuer within the meaning of the provisions of the 
constitution or statutes of the State of Indiana or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Issuer.  
The Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds, as to principal, are not an obligation or liability of the State 
of Indiana, or of any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof, but are a special limited 



8
4873-8850-7335.1

obligation of the Issuer and payable solely and only from the trust estate consisting of funds and 
accounts held under the Indenture and the [Area No. 4 Tax Increment][Area No. 5 Tax 
Increment][Area No. 6 Tax Increment] pledged and assigned for their payment in accordance 
with the Indenture (collectively, "Trust Estate").  Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing 
power of the Issuer, the Redevelopment Commission, the State of Indiana or any political 
subdivision or taxing authority thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of or, premium, 
if any, on this Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond.  The Series 2022___[A][B][C] Bonds do not grant 
the owners or holders thereof any right to have the Issuer, the State of Indiana or its General 
Assembly, or any political subdivision or taxing authority of the State of Indiana, levy any taxes 
or appropriate any funds for the payment of the principal of or premium, if any.  No covenant or 
agreement contained in the Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds or the Indenture shall be deemed to 
be a covenant or agreement of any member, director, officer, agent, attorney or employee of the 
Redevelopment Commission, the Plymouth Economic Development Commission 
("Commission") or the Issuer in his or her individual capacity, and no member, director, officer, 
agent, attorney or employee of the Redevelopment Commission, the Commission or the Issuer 
shall be liable personally on the Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds or be subject to any personal 
liability or accountability by reason of the issuance of the Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds. 

The holder of this Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond shall have no right to enforce the 
provisions of the Indenture or to institute action to enforce the covenants therein, or to take any 
action with respect to any event of default under the Indenture, or to institute, appear in or defend 
any suit or other proceedings with respect thereto, except as provided in the Indenture.  In certain 
events, on the conditions, in the manner and with the effect set forth in the Indenture, the 
principal of all the Bonds issued under the Indenture and then outstanding may become or may 
be declared due and payable before the stated maturity thereof.  Modifications or alterations of 
the Indenture, or of any supplements thereto, may be made to the extent and in the circumstances 
permitted by the Indenture.  The Issuer's obligation to pay [Area No. 4 Tax Increment][Area No. 
5 Tax Increment][Area No. 6 Tax Increment] shall not be subject to acceleration. 

It is hereby certified that all conditions, acts and things required to exist, happen and be 
performed under the laws of the State of Indiana and under the Indenture precedent to and in the 
issuance of this Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond, exist, have happened and have been performed, 
and that the issuance, authentication and delivery of this Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond have 
been duly authorized by the Issuer. 

This Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any 
purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit under the Indenture until the certificate of 
authentication hereon shall have been duly executed by the Trustee. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, City of Elkhart, Indiana, has caused this Series 
202___[A][B][C] Bond to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the manual, facsimile or 
electronic signature of the Mayor and countersigned by the Controller, and its corporate seal to 
be hereunto affixed manually or by facsimile and attested to by the manual, facsimile or 
electronic signature of its Clerk all as of the Original Date set forth above. 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 
 



9
4873-8850-7335.1

By:  
Mayor

COUNTERSIGNED:

 
Controller

(Seal)

Attest: 

 
Clerk

(FORM OF TRUSTEE'S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION) 

This Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond is one of the Series 202___[A][B][C] Bonds 
described in the within mentioned Trust Indenture. 

[TRUSTEE], as Trustee 

By:  
Authorized Officer 

ASSIGNMENT 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

(Please Print or Typewrite Name and Address) 

the within Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond and all rights, title and interest thereon, and hereby 
irrevocably constitutes and appoints ____________________________ attorney to transfer the 
within Series 202___[A][B][C] Bond on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power 
of substitution in the premises. 

Dated:____________________________ 



10
4873-8850-7335.1

Signature Guaranteed

____________________________________
NOTICE:  Signature(s) must be guaranteed 
by an eligible guarantor institution 
participating in a Securities Transfer 
Association recognized signature guarantee 
program. 

 ___________________________________
NOTICE:  The signature to this assignment 
must correspond with the name as it appears 
upon the face of the within Series 
202___[A][B][C] Bond in every particular, 
without alteration or enlargement or any 
change whatever.

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face of this certificate, 
shall be construed as though they were written out in full according to applicable laws or 
regulations:

UNIF TRAN MIN ACT -- ___________ Custodian _________

 (Cust) (Minor)

under Uniform Transfers to Minors Act

 

(State)

 
 TEN COM -- as tenants in common 
 JT TEN  -- as joint tenants with right of survivorship
   and not as tenants in common 
 
 Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list. 

[EXHIBIT A 

Schedule of Advances

[to be printed on a separate page]]

(End of Bond Form) 

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS INDENTURE WITNESSETH:  That in order to secure the 
payment of the principal of and interest and premium, if any, on the Series 202___ Bonds to be 
issued under this Indenture according to their tenor, purport and effect, and in order to secure the 
performance and observance of all the covenants and conditions herein and in the Series 202___ 
Bonds contained, and in order to declare the terms and conditions upon which the Series 202___ 
Bonds are issued, authenticated, delivered, secured and accepted by all persons who shall from 
time to time be or become holders thereof, and for and in consideration of the mutual covenants 
herein contained, of the acceptance by the Trustee of the trust hereby created, and of the 
purchase and acceptance of the Series 202___ Bonds by the holders or obligees thereof, the 



11
4873-8850-7335.1

Issuer has executed and delivered this Indenture, and by these presents does hereby convey, 
grant, assign, pledge and grant a security interest in, unto the Trustee, its successor or successors 
and its or their assigns forever, with power of sale, all and singular, the property hereinafter 
described ("Trust Estate"):

GRANTING CLAUSE 

DIVISION I 

All right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to the Financing Agreement (except the 
rights reserved to the Issuer therein);

DIVISION II

All right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to the TIF Revenues (such pledge to be 
effective as set forth in IC 5-1-14-4 and IC 36-7-14-39 without filing or recording of this 
Indenture or any other instrument), the Financing Agreement (except the rights reserved to the 
Issuer) and all moneys and the Qualified Investments held by the Trustee from time to time in 
the Funds and Accounts created hereunder; 

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the same unto the Trustee, and its successor or successors 
and its or their assigns forever; 

IN TRUST, NEVERTHELESS, upon the terms and trusts herein set forth, to secure the 
payment of the Series 202___ Bonds to be issued hereunder, and premium, if any, payable upon 
redemption or prepayment thereof, and the interest payable thereon, if any, and to secure also the 
observance and performance of all the terms, provisions, covenants and conditions of this 
Indenture, and for the benefit and security of all and singular the holders of all Series 202___ 
Bonds issued hereunder, and it is hereby mutually covenanted and agreed that the terms and 
conditions upon which the Series 202___ Bonds are to be issued, authenticated, delivered, 
secured and accepted by all persons who shall from time to time be or become the holders 
thereof, and the trusts and conditions upon which the pledged moneys and revenues are to be 
held and disbursed, are as follows: 



12
4873-8850-7335.1

ARTICLE I.

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1. Terms Defined.  In addition to the words and terms elsewhere defined in 
this Indenture, the following words and terms as used in this Indenture shall have the following 
meanings unless the context or use indicates another or different meaning or intent:

"Additional Bonds" shall have the meaning assigned in Section 2.8 of this Indenture. 

"Allocation Area No. 4" means the Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 4. 

"Allocation Area No. 5" means the Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 5. 

"Allocation Area No. 6" means the Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 6. 

"Allocation Areas" means, collectively, the Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 4, 
the Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 5 and the Downtown Elkhart SF Housing Allocation 
Area No. 6. 

"Annual Fees" means annual fees of the Trustee and reasonable (in an amount not to 
exceed $5,000) annual fees and expenses incurred by the Issuer related to monitoring Tax 
Increment. 

"Area" means the Downtown Urban Renewal Area.

"Area No. 4 Tax Increment" means 100% of the Area No. 4 Tax Increment generated in 
Allocation Area No. 4 and deposited into the Redevelopment Commission's Allocation Fund, 
minus the first $2,200,000 in incremental assessed value generated in Allocation Area No. 4 that 
will be retained by the Redevelopment Commission and minus the Annual Fees, received by the 
Redevelopment Commission and pledged to the Issuer for payment of the Series A Bonds
pursuant to the TIF Pledge Resolution. 

"Area No. 5 Tax Increment" means 100% of the Area No. 5 Tax Increment generated in 
Allocation Area No. 5 and deposited into the Redevelopment Commission's Allocation Fund, 
minus the Annual Fees, received by the Redevelopment Commission and pledged to the Issuer 
for payment of the Series B Bonds pursuant to the TIF Pledge Resolution.

"Area No. 6 Tax Increment" means 100% of the Area No. 6 Tax Increment generated in 
the Allocation Area No. 6 and deposited into the Redevelopment Commission's Allocation Fund, 
minus the Annual Fees, received by the Redevelopment Commission and pledged to the Issuer 
for payment of the Series C Bonds pursuant to the TIF Pledge Resolution. 

"Authorized Representative" means: (i) as to the Developer, any officer of the Developer 
or any other person certified by an officer of the Developer to be such and shall serve as 
Authorized Representative for the Developer; and (ii) as to the Issuer, any person so designated 
by the Mayor and authorized to serve as Authorized Representative for the Issuer.



13
4873-8850-7335.1

"Bondholder" or any similar term means the registered owner of a Bond.

"Bond Purchase Agreement" means the purchase agreement dated ____________, 202__
between the Issuer and the Bond Purchaser.

"Bond Purchaser" means collectively, EOZ Business, LLC and River District 
Development Company, LLC, limited liability companies duly organized, existing and 
authorized to do business under the laws of the State of Indiana. 

"Bonds" means the Series [A][B][C] Bonds and any other bonds issued under the 
Indenture. 

"Costs of Construction" means the categorical costs of providing for an "economic 
development project" as defined and set forth in the Act as follows:

(i) the "Bond Issuance Costs," namely the costs, fees and expenses incurred 
or to be incurred by the Issuer, Redevelopment Commission and the Developer in 
connection with the issuance and sale of the Series [A][B][C] Bonds, including 
placement or other financing fees (including applicable counsel fees), the fees and 
disbursements of Bond Counsel, fees of the Issuer or Redevelopment Commission's 
municipal advisor, the fees of the Issuer and Redevelopment Commission's counsel, the 
acceptance fee and first year annual administrative fee of the Trustee, application fees 
and expenses, publication costs, the filing and recording fees in connection with any 
filings or recording necessary under the Indenture, the out-of-pocket costs of the Issuer, 
the fees and disbursements of counsel to the Developer, the fees and disbursements of the 
Developer's accountants, the fees and disbursements of counsel to the purchasers of the 
Bonds, the costs of preparing or printing the Series [A][B][C] Bonds and the 
documentation supporting the issuance of the Series [A][B][C] Bonds, the costs of 
reproducing documents, and any other costs of a similar nature reasonably incurred;

(ii) the cost of insurance of all kinds that may be required or necessary in 
connection with the construction of the Projects; 

(iii) all costs and expenses which Issuer or Developer shall be required to pay, 
under the terms of any contract or contracts (including the architectural and engineering, 
development, and legal services with respect thereto) for materials and the construction 
of the Projects; and  

(iv) any sums required to reimburse the Issuer, Redevelopment Commission or 
Developer for advances made by either of them for any of the above items or for any 
other costs incurred and for work done by either of them which are properly chargeable 
to the Projects. 

"Developer" means, collectively, EOZ Business, LLC and River District Development 
Company, LLC, limited liability companies duly organized, existing and authorized to do 
business under the laws of the State of Indiana, or any successors thereto permitted under Section 
3.3 hereof. 



14
4873-8850-7335.1

"Development" means the mixed-use residential/commercial development as further set 
forth in the Development Agreement.

"Development Agreement" means the Development Agreement dated September 28, 
2020, as amended, among the City, the Redevelopment Commission and the Developer.

"Event of Default" means those events of default specified in and defined by Section 7.1 
hereof. 

"Financing Agreement" means the Financing and Covenant Agreement, dated as of 
______________ 1, 202___, between the Developer and the Issuer and all amendments and
supplements thereto.

"Indenture" means this instrument as originally executed or as it may from time to time 
be amended or supplemented pursuant to Article IX.

"Issuer" means the City of Elkhart, Indiana, a municipal corporation duly organized and 
validly existing under the laws of the State of Indiana or any successor to its rights and 
obligations under the Financing Agreement and this Indenture.

"Opinion of Counsel" shall mean an opinion in writing signed by legal counsel who may 
be an employee of or counsel to the Developer and who shall be satisfactory to the Trustee in its 
reasonable discretion. 

"Outstanding" or "Bonds outstanding" means all Bonds which have been duly 
authenticated, and delivered by the Trustee under this Indenture, except: 

(a) Bonds canceled after purchase in the open market or because of payment at or 
redemption prior to maturity; 

(b) Bonds for the redemption of which cash or investments (but only to the extent that 
the full faith and credit of the United States of America are pledged to the timely payment 
thereof) shall have been theretofore deposited with the Trustee (whether upon or prior to the 
maturity or redemption date of any such Bonds); provided that if such Bonds are to be redeemed 
prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been given or arrangements 
satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made therefor, or waiver of such notice satisfactory in 
form to the Trustee, shall have been filed with the Trustee; and 

(c) Bonds in lieu of which others have been authenticated under Section 2.9 hereof.

"Paying Agent" means _________________ and any successor paying agent or 
co-paying agent. 

"Projects" means collectively the Series A Projects, the Series B Projects and the Series C 
Projects (each as set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto), together with all necessary 
appurtenances, related improvements and equipment and, with respect to the Housing Program, 
assist with the construction of two or more buildings with a minimum of ten (10) residential units 



15
4873-8850-7335.1

and any and all related public improvements in or physically connected to the respective 
Allocation Areas needed to serve the Development.

"Qualified Investments" shall have the meaning assigned in the Financing Agreement.

"Redevelopment Commission" means the Elkhart Redevelopment Commission.

"Requisite Bondholders" means the holders of 66 2/3% in aggregate principal amount of 
Bonds.

"Series [A][B][C] Bonds" or "Bonds" means the [Taxable] Economic Development 
Revenue Bonds, Series [A][B][C] (to be completed with the year in which issued and series 
designation) (River Project) to be issued by the Issuer under the Indenture in the aggregate 
principal amount of $X,XXX,XXX. 

"Tax Increment" means collectively, Area No. 4 Tax Increment, Area No. 5 Tax 
Increment and Area No. 6 Tax Increment. 

"TIF Pledge Resolution" means the resolution of the Redevelopment Commission 
adopted on August 13, 2024, pledging Area No. 4 Tax Increment, Area No. 5 Tax Increment and 
Area No. 6 Tax Increment to the Issuer for the payment of debt service on the respective Series 
A, B and C Bonds. 

"TIF Revenues" means, collectively, the Area No. 4 Tax Increment pledged to the Series 
A Bonds, the Area No. 5 Tax Increment pledged to the Series B Bonds and Area No. 6 Tax 
Increment pledged to the Series C Bonds. 

"Trust Estate" means the funds and accounts, TIF Revenues and other assets described in 
the Granting Clauses of this Indenture.

"Trustee" means [TRUSTEE], ________________, Indiana the party of the second part 
hereto, and any successor trustee or co-trustee. 

Section 1.2. Rules of Interpretation.  For all purposes of this Indenture, except as 
otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires:

(a) "This Indenture" means this instrument as originally executed and as it may from 
time to time be supplemented or amended pursuant to the applicable provisions hereof. 

(b) All references in this instrument to designated "Articles," "Sections" and other 
subdivisions are to the designated Articles, Sections and other subdivisions of this instrument as 
originally executed.  The words "herein," "hereof" and "hereunder" and other words of similar 
import refer to this Indenture as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or other 
subdivision. 

(c) The terms defined in this Article have the meanings assigned to them in this 
Article and include the plural as well as the singular and the singular as well as the plural.



16
4873-8850-7335.1

(d) All accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to 
them in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as consistently applied.

(e) Any terms not defined herein but defined in the Financing Agreement shall have 
the same meaning herein.

(f) The terms defined elsewhere in this Indenture shall have the meanings therein 
prescribed for them. 

Section 1.3. Exhibits.  The following Exhibits are attached to and by reference made 
a part of this Indenture:

Exhibit A: Projects
Exhibit B: Costs of Issuance
Exhibit C: Affidavit of Construction Fund Disbursement Request

(End of Article I)



17
4873-8850-7335.1

ARTICLE II.

THE SERIES 202___ BONDS

Section 2.1. Authorized Amount of Series 202___ Bonds.  No Series 202___ Bonds 
may be issued under the provisions of this Indenture except in accordance with this Article.  The 
aggregate principal amount of the Series 202___ Bonds (other than Series 202___ Bonds issued 
in substitution therefor pursuant to Section 2.9 hereof) that may be issued is hereby expressly 
limited to $X,XXX,XXX.  Additional Bonds may be issued as provided in Section 2.8 hereof.

Section 2.2. Issuance of Series 202___ Bonds.  The Series 202___ Bonds shall be 
designated "Taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 202___ (River District 
Project)."  The Series 202___ Bonds shall be originally issuable as fully registered Series 202___ 
Bonds in the principal amount of $X,XXX,XXX, in $1,000 denominations and integral multiples 
thereof and shall be lettered and numbered R-1 and upward.  The Series 202___ Bonds shall be 
dated as of the date of their delivery.  

The Series 202___ Bonds shall bear interest from the Interest Payment Date next 
preceding the date of authentication thereof, unless such date of authentication shall be 
subsequent to a Record Date in which case they shall bear interest from the Interest Payment 
Date with respect to such Record Date.  Interest shall be calculated on the basis of a 360-day 
year consisting of twelve 30-day months. 

[Proceeds of the Series 202___ Bonds shall be advanced from time to time as provided in 
Section 4.4.] 

The Series 202___ Bonds shall mature on ____________ 1, 20__ as a term bond to be 
redeemed on the dates in the amounts and at the per annum interest rate of ____ percent (___%) 
as set forth in Section 5.1(b) herein. 

Section 2.3. Payment on Series 202___ Bonds. The principal of and interest on the 
Series 202___ Bonds shall be payable in any coin or currency of the United States of America 
which, at the dates of payment thereof, is legal tender for the payment of public and private 
debts.  The final payment on the Series 202___ Bonds shall be payable at the payment office of 
the Trustee.  All other payments Series 202___ Bonds shall be made to the person appearing on 
the Bond registration books of the Trustee as the Registered Owner thereof as of the Record Date 
and shall be paid by check or other draft of the Trustee mailed to the Registered Owner at such 
Owner's address as it appears on such registration books or at such other address as is furnished 
the Trustee in writing by such holder.  So long as the Series 202___ Bonds are held by the Bond 
Purchaser, no presentation of the Bonds is required for such payments to be made to the Bond 
Purchaser, except that upon final payment or redemption in full, the Series 202___ Bonds shall 
be returned to the trustee for destruction.  [Upon the written request of a registered owner of at 
least $1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Bonds Outstanding, delivered to the Trustee at 
least 30 days prior to an interest payment date, all payments of principal and interest on such 
Bonds shall be paid by wire transfer in immediately available funds to an account designated by 
such registered owner in its request, which request shall remain in effect until revoked.][If 
payment of principal or interest is made to a depository, payment shall be made by wire transfer 



18
4873-8850-7335.1

on the payment date in same-day funds.  If the payment date occurs on a date when financial 
institutions are not open for business, the wire transfer shall be made on the next succeeding 
Business Day.  The Trustee shall wire transfer payments so that such payments are received at 
the depository by 2:30 p.m. (New York City Time), so long as sufficient funds have been 
collected and are on deposit with the Trustee in a timely manner for such purpose.]
Notwithstanding anything contained herein, the bond shall only need to be presented for payment 
upon final maturity or redemption in full.   

Section 2.4. Execution; Limited Obligation.  The Series 202___ Bonds shall be 
executed on behalf of the Issuer with the manual, electronic or facsimile signature of its Mayor, 
countersigned with the manual, electronic or facsimile signature of its Controller and attested 
with the manual, electronic or the facsimile signature of its Clerk and shall have impressed or 
printed thereon the corporate seal of the Issuer.  Such facsimiles shall have the same force and 
effect as if such officer had manually signed the Series 202___ Bonds.  If any officer whose 
signature or facsimile signature shall appear on the Series 202___ Bonds shall cease to be such 
officer before the delivery of such Series 202___ Bonds, such signature or such facsimile shall, 
nevertheless, be valid and sufficient for all purposes, the same as if he had remained in office 
until delivery. The use of electronic signatures by the Mayor, Controller and Clerk are 
authorized and affirmed with full valid legal effect and enforceability.   

The Series 202___ Bonds, and the interest payable thereon, do not and shall not represent 
or constitute a debt of the Issuer, the State of Indiana or any political subdivision or taxing 
authority thereof within the meaning of the provisions of the constitution or statutes of the State 
of Indiana or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Issuer, the State of Indiana or any political 
subdivision or taxing authority thereof.  The Series 202___ Bonds, as to both principal and 
interest, if any, are not an obligation or liability of the State of Indiana, or of any political 
subdivision or taxing authority thereof, but are a special limited obligation of the Issuer and are 
payable solely and only from the trust estate consisting of funds and accounts held under the 
Indenture and the TIF Revenues pledged and assigned for their payment in accordance with the 
Indenture ("Trust Estate").  Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Issuer, the 
Redevelopment Commission, the State of Indiana or any political subdivision or taxing authority 
thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of, or premium, if any, or interest on the Series 
202___ Bond, if any.  The Series 202___ Bonds do not grant the owners or holders thereof any 
right to have the Issuer, the State of Indiana or its General Assembly, or any political subdivision 
or taxing authority of the State of Indiana, levy any taxes or appropriate any funds for the 
payment of the principal of, or premium, if any, or interest on the Series 202___ Bonds.  No 
covenant or agreement contained in the Series 202___ Bonds or the Indenture shall be deemed to 
be a covenant or agreement of any member, director, officer, agent, attorney or employee of the 
Redevelopment Commission, the Commission or the Issuer in his or her individual capacity, and 
no member, director, officer, agent, attorney or employee of the Redevelopment Commission, 
the Commission or the Issuer shall be liable personally on the Series 202___ Bonds or be subject 
to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance of the Series 202___ Bonds. 

Section 2.5. Authentication.  No Series 202___ Bonds shall be valid or obligatory for 
any purpose or entitled to any security or benefit under this Indenture unless and until the 
certificate of authentication on such Series 202___ Bond substantially in the form hereinabove 
set forth shall have been duly executed by the Trustee, and such executed certificate of the 



19
4873-8850-7335.1

Trustee upon any such Series 202___ Bond shall be conclusive evidence that such Series 202___ 
Bond has been authenticated and delivered under this Indenture.  The Trustee's certificate of 
authentication on the Series 202___ Bonds shall be deemed to have been executed by it if signed 
by an authorized officer of the Trustee, but it shall not be necessary that the same officer sign the 
certificate of authentication on all of the Series 202___ Bonds issued hereunder.

Section 2.6. Form of Series 202___ Bonds.  The Series 202___ Bonds issued under 
this Indenture shall be substantially in the form hereinabove set forth with such appropriate 
variations, omissions and insertions as are permitted or required by this Indenture or deemed 
necessary by the Trustee. 

Section 2.7. Delivery of Series 202___ Bonds.  Upon the execution and delivery of 
this Indenture, the Issuer shall execute and deliver to the Trustee the Series 202___ Bonds in the 
aggregate principal amount of $X,XXX,XXX.  The Trustee shall authenticate the Series 202___ 
Bonds and deliver them to the purchasers thereof upon receipt of: 

(i) A copy, duly certified by the Clerk of the Issuer, of the ordinance adopted 
and approved by the Issuer authorizing the execution and delivery of the Financing 
Agreement and this Indenture and the issuance of the Series 202___ Bonds. 

(ii) A copy, duly certified by the Secretary of the Redevelopment 
Commission, of the resolution adopted and approved by the Redevelopment Commission 
pledging the TIF Revenues to the payment of the Bonds. 

(iii) Executed counterparts of the Financing Agreement and Indenture. 

(iv) A written request of the Issuer to the Trustee requesting the Trustee to 
authenticate, or cause to be authenticated, and deliver the Series 202___ Bonds in the 
principal amount of $X,XXX,XXX to the purchasers thereof. 

The proceeds of the Series 202___ Bonds shall be paid over to the Trustee and deposited 
to the credit of various Funds as hereinafter provided under Section 3.1 hereof. 

Section 2.8. Issuance of Additional Bonds.  With the consent of the Requisite 
Bondholders, the Series 202___ Bonds issued under this Indenture in addition to the Series 
202___ Bonds ("Additional Bonds") may be authenticated and delivered from time to time for 
one or more of the purposes of (i) refunding entirely the Series 202___ Bonds outstanding 
hereunder, if such Bonds may otherwise be refunded, (ii) advance refunding entirely one or more 
series of Bonds outstanding hereunder, regardless of whether such Bonds may otherwise be 
refunded, if the same is then permitted by law by depositing with the Trustee, in trust for the sole 
benefit of such Bonds, cash or investments (but only to the extent that the full faith and credit of 
the United States of America are pledged to the timely payment thereof) in a principal amount 
which will, together with the income or increment to accrue thereon, be sufficient to pay and 
redeem (when redeemable) and discharge such series of Bonds at or before their respective 
maturity dates, and (iii) financing the cost or estimated cost of completing the Projects or of 
acquiring and/or constructing additional improvements to the Projects, and, in each case, 
obtaining additional funds to pay the costs to be incurred in connection with the issuance of such 



20
4873-8850-7335.1

Additional Bonds, to establish reserves with respect thereto and to pay interest during the 
estimated construction period of completing the additional improvements, if any.  

Prior to the delivery by the Issuer of any such Additional Bonds there shall be filed with 
the Trustee:

(i) A supplement to this Indenture executed by the Issuer and the Trustee 
authorizing the issuance of such Additional Bonds and specifying the terms thereof.

(ii) The supplement or amendment to the Financing Agreement and the other 
instruments, documents, certificates, and opinions referred to in Section 7.1 of the 
Financing Agreement. 

(iii) A copy, duly certified by the Clerk of the Issuer, of the bond ordinance 
theretofore adopted and approved by the Issuer authorizing the execution and delivery of 
such supplemental indenture and such supplement to the Financing Agreement and the 
issuance of such Additional Bonds. 

(iv) A written request of the Issuer to the Trustee to authenticate and deliver 
such Additional Bonds. 

(v) For additional Bonds payable from TIF Revenues, a certificate showing 
the requirements for such additional obligations contained in the resolution or ordinance 
pledging the TIF Revenues shall have been met. 

Any Additional Bonds issued in accordance with the terms of this Section 2.8 shall be 
secured by this Indenture but such Additional Bonds may bear such date or dates, such interest 
rate or rates, if any, and with such maturities, redemption dates and premiums as may be agreed 
upon by the Issuer, at the direction of the Developer, and the purchaser of such Additional 
Bonds. 

Section 2.9. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen, or Destroyed Series 202___ Bonds.  If any 
Series 202___ Bond is mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed, the Issuer may execute and the 
Trustee may authenticate a new Series 202___ Bond of like date, maturity and denomination as 
that mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed; provided that, in the case of any mutilated Series 202___ 
Bond, such mutilated Series 202___ Bond shall first be surrendered to the Issuer, and in the case 
of any lost, stolen or destroyed Series 202___ Bond, there shall be first furnished to the Trustee 
evidence of such loss, theft or destruction satisfactory to the Trustee, together with indemnity 
satisfactory to it.

If any such Series 202___ Bond shall have matured, instead of issuing a duplicate Series 
202___ Bond the Issuer may pay the same without surrender thereof; provided, however, that in 
the case of a lost, stolen or destroyed Series 202___ Bond, there shall be first furnished to the 
Trustee evidence of such loss, theft or destruction satisfactory to the Trustee, together with 
indemnity satisfactory to it.  The Trustee may charge the holder or owner of such Series 202___ 
Bond with their reasonable fees and expenses in this connection.  Any Series 202___ Bond 
issued pursuant to this Section 2.9 shall be deemed part of the original series of Series 202___ 



21
4873-8850-7335.1

Bonds in respect of which it was issued and an original additional contractual obligation of the 
Issuer.

Section 2.10. Registration and Exchange of Series 202___ Bonds; Persons Treated as 
Owners.  The Issuer shall cause books for the registration and for the transfer of the Series 
202___ Bonds as provided in this Indenture to be kept by the Trustee which is hereby constituted 
and appointed the registrar of the Issuer.  Upon surrender for transfer of any fully registered 
Series 202___ Bond at the designated corporate trust office of the Trustee, duly endorsed by, or 
accompanied by a written instrument or instruments of transfer in form satisfactory to the 
Trustee and duly executed by the registered owner or his attorney duly authorized in writing, the 
Issuer shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver in the name of the transferee or 
transferees a new fully registered Series 202___ Bond or Bonds of the same series and the same 
maturity for a like aggregate principal amount.  The execution by the Issuer of any fully 
registered Series 202___ Bond without coupons of any denomination shall constitute full and 
due authorization of such denomination, and the Trustee shall thereby be authorized to 
authenticate and deliver such registered Series 202___ Bond.  The Trustee shall not be required 
to transfer or exchange any fully registered Series 202___ Bond during the period between the 
Record Date and any interest payment date of such Series 202___ Bond, nor to transfer or 
exchange any Series 202___ Bond after the mailing of notice calling such Bond for redemption 
has been made, nor during a period of fifteen (15) days next preceding mailing of a notice of 
redemption of any Series 202___ Bonds. 

As to any fully registered Series 202___ Bond, the person in whose name the same shall 
be registered shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute owner thereof for all purposes, and 
payment of principal or interest thereon, shall be made only to or upon the order of the registered 
owner thereof or its legal representative, but such registration may be changed as hereinabove 
provided.  All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability 
upon such Series 202___ Bond to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. 

(End of Article II)



22
4873-8850-7335.1

ARTICLE III.

APPLICATION OF SERIES 202___ BOND PROCEEDS

Section 3.1. Deposit of Funds.  The Issuer shall deposit with Trustee in the 
Construction Fund [all] of the proceeds from the sale of the Series 202___ Bonds.  
$___________ of the proceeds from the sale of the Series 202___ Bonds deposited into the 
Construction Fund shall be used to pay Bond Issuance Costs pursuant to Section 4.4(a) of the 
Indenture.  Such proceeds shall be deposited with the Trustee in the Construction Fund. The 
proceeds of the Series 202___ Bonds shall be paid out immediately following closing or from 
time to time upon submission to the Trustee of a written request for funds by the Authorized 
Representative of the Developer.  Such requisition shall be substantially in the form attached as 
Exhibit C. 

(End of Article III)



23
4873-8850-7335.1

ARTICLE IV.

REVENUE AND FUNDS

Section 4.1. Source of Payment of Bonds.  The Bonds herein authorized and all 
payments to be made by the Issuer hereunder are not general obligations of the Issuer but are 
limited obligations payable solely from the Trust Estate as authorized by the Act and as provided 
herein.  No covenant or agreement contained in the Bonds or this Indenture shall be deemed to 
be a covenant or agreement of the Issuer or of any member, director, officer, agent, attorney or 
employee of the Issuer in his or her individual capacity, and neither the Issuer nor any member, 
director, officer, agent, attorney, or employee of the Issuer executing the Bonds shall be liable 
personally on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the 
issuance of the Bonds.

Section 4.2. Bond Fund.  The Trustee shall establish and maintain, so long as any of 
the Bonds are outstanding, a separate fund to be known as the "Bond Fund."  Money in the Bond 
Fund shall be applied as provided in this Section 4.2. 

There shall be deposited in the Bond Fund, as and when received, (a) all TIF Revenues; 
and (b) all interest, if any, and other income derived from investments of Bond Fund moneys as 
provided herein.  Subject to the funding source limitations in this Indenture and the final maturity 
date of the Bonds, the Issuer hereby covenants and agrees that so long as any of the Series 
202___ Bonds issued hereunder are outstanding, it will deposit, or cause to be paid to Trustee for 
deposit in the Bond Fund for its account, all the TIF Revenues, [as and] when received by the 
Issuer.  The Issuer hereby covenants and agrees that so long as any of the Bonds issued 
hereunder are outstanding it will deposit or cause to be paid to the Trustee for deposit in the 
Bond Fund for its account, all revenues and receipts derived from the TIF Revenues promptly to 
meet and pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds as the same become 
due and payable.   Nothing herein should be construed as requiring Issuer to deposit or cause to 
be paid to the Trustee for deposit in the Bond Fund, funds from any source other than receipts 
derived from the TIF Revenues, Financing Agreement and proceeds from the Series 202___ 
Bonds. 

The Controller of the Issuer shall set aside immediately upon receipt of the Tax 
Increment into the Issuer's Allocation Fund as created by IC 36-7-14 and shall deposit or cause 
to be delivered to the Trustee for deposit all the TIF Revenues into the Bond Fund in the manner 
prescribed in this Section 4.2 and in Section 4.6. 

Moneys in the Bond Fund shall be used by the Trustee to pay interest and principal on the 
Series 202___ Bonds as they become due upon each Interest Payment Date, at maturity, upon 
redemption or upon acceleration and to pay Annual Fees.  The Trustee shall transmit such funds 
to the Paying Agent for the Series 202___ Bonds in sufficient time to insure that such interest 
will be paid as it becomes due.  If TIF Revenues on deposit in the Bond Fund are not sufficient 
to pay the principal and interest then due, TIF Revenues shall be applied first to pay unpaid 
interest and then to unpaid and due principal; provided, however, that no interest shall be due or 
paid on any unpaid interest.  



24
4873-8850-7335.1

[To the extent [Area No. 4 Tax Increment][Area No. 5 Tax Increment][Area No. 6 Tax 
Increment][TIF Revenues] exceeds the debt service due on the Series 202____ Bonds, the Series 
202____ Bonds shall be redeemed upon seven (7) days' written notice, at face value, plus in each 
case accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, with no premium.]

Section 4.3. Reserved. 

Section 4.4. Construction Fund.  The Issuer shall establish with the Trustee a separate 
fund to be known as the Construction Fund, consisting of the Bond Issuance Expense Account 
and the Construction Account, to the credit of which the deposits are to be made as required by 
Section 3.1 hereof.  

(a) On the date of issuance of the Series 202___ Bonds, the Issuer shall deposit 
$________________ from the sale of the Series 202___ Bonds into the Bond Issuance Expense 
Account of the Construction Fund to pay Bond Issuance Costs.  The Bond Issuance Costs set 
forth in Exhibit B shall be wire transferred at closing to the entities listed as authorized by the 
Mayor and the Controller, the authorization evidenced by the execution of this Indenture.  Other 
costs of issuance, if any, shall be paid by the Trustee upon submission of an affidavit signed by 
the Mayor and the Controller.  On _____, 202___, any amounts remaining in the Bond Issuance 
Expense Account of the Construction Fund shall be transferred to the Construction Account of 
the Construction Fund and the Bond Issuance Expense Account shall be closed. 

(b) Except as set forth in subparagraph (a) of this Section 4.4, moneys on deposit in 
the Construction Fund shall be paid out from time to time by the Trustee to or upon the order of 
the Issuer in order to pay, or as reimbursement to the Issuer or the Developer for payment made, 
for the Costs of Construction, upon receipt by the Trustee of the written request signed by the 
Authorized Representative of the Developer in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C: 

(1) stating that the costs of an aggregate amount set forth in such 
written request have been made or incurred and were necessary for the 
construction of the Projects and were made or incurred in accordance with the 
construction contracts, plans and specifications, or purchase contracts therefor 
then in effect or that the amounts set forth in such written request are for 
allowable Costs for Construction;

(2) stating that the amount paid or to be paid, as set forth in such 
written request, is reasonable and represents a part of the amount payable for the 
Costs of Construction all in accordance with the cost budget; and that such 
payment was not paid in advance of the time, if any, fixed for payment and was 
made in accordance with the terms of any contracts applicable thereto and in 
accordance with usual and customary practice under existing conditions; 

(3) stating that no part of the costs was included in any written request 
previously filed with the Trustee under the provisions hereof; 

(4) stating that such costs are appropriate for the expenditure of 
proceeds of the Bonds under the Act; and 



25
4873-8850-7335.1

(5) stating a recap of vendors and the amount paid; 

(c) Completion Certificate.  The Developer shall deliver to the Trustee and the Issuer 
within fifteen (15) days after the completion of the Project, a written completion certificate:

(i) stating that the Project has been constructed and/or acquired, delivered and 
installed on the Project site and the date of completion;

(ii) stating that the Developer is of the opinion that the Project has been fully 
paid for and that no claim or claims exist against the Issuer or the Developer or against 
the property of the Issuer or the Developer out of which a lien based on furnishing labor 
or material for the Project exists or might ripen and that the Developer will not be 
submitting any further request for a disbursement from the Construction Account. 

(d) Disposition of Construction Fund Moneys After Completion.  If, after payment by 
the Trustee of all orders theretofore tendered to the Trustee under the provisions of subparagraph 
(a) of this Section 4.4 and after receipt by the Trustee of the completion certificate or certificates 
mentioned in subparagraph (c) of this Section 4.4, there shall remain any balance of moneys in the 
Construction Fund, the Trustee shall transfer all moneys then in the Construction Fund (except 
moneys reserved to pay any disputed claims described in the completion certificate required in 
Section 4.4(c) hereof) to the Bond Fund.  The Trustee, as directed in writing by the Issuer, shall 
use any amount transferred to the Bond Fund from the Series 202___ Bonds, to redeem the Series 
202___ Bonds pursuant to Section 5.1 hereof at the earliest redemption date.

Section 4.5. Reserved.  

Section 4.6. TIF Revenues.  The Controller of the Issuer shall set aside immediately 
upon receipt the portion of the TIF Revenues attributable to each respective Allocation Area into 
the Issuer's Allocation Fund as created by IC 36-7-14.  On or before each January 15 and July 15 
commencing with _____________ 15, 202___, the Issuer shall transfer from the Issuer's 
allocation funds referenced in this Section to the Trustee, all TIF Revenues received.  The 
Trustee is hereby directed to transfer to the Bond Fund on each January 15 and July 15 all TIF 
Revenues received and shall use such amounts deposited to the Bond Fund in accordance with 
Section 4.2 hereof.  Any amount of the TIF Revenues remaining after the deposits to the Bond 
Fund shall be used to optionally redeem, on such January 15 or July 15, the outstanding Bonds in 
accordance with Section 5.1 hereof, or by the Issuer for such other lawful purposes. 

Section 4.7. Trust Funds.  All moneys and securities received by the Trustee under 
the provisions of this Indenture, shall be trust funds under the terms hereof and shall not be 
subject to lien or attachment of any creditor of the Issuer or of the Developer.  Such moneys shall 
be held in trust and applied in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture.

Section 4.8. Investment.  Moneys on deposit in the Funds established in this Article 
IV hereof shall be invested as provided in Section 6.8 hereof.

(End of Article IV) 



26
4873-8850-7335.1

ARTICLE V.

REDEMPTION OF BONDS BEFORE MATURITY

Section 5.1. Redemption Dates and Prices.  (a)  Optional Redemption.  The Series 
202___ Bonds are subject to optional redemption by the Issuer, prior to maturity, at the option of 
the Issuer, on any date, upon thirty (30) days' notice in whole or in part, in such order of maturity 
as the Issuer shall direct in writing by lot within maturities, at face value, with no premium, plus 
in each case accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, if any. 

(b) Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The Series 202___ Bonds maturing on 
___________ 1, 20___ are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption semiannually on
February 1 and August 1, at a redemption price equal to the purchase amount thereof plus 
accrued interest to the date of redemption, if any, in accordance with the following schedule: 

20__ Term Bond
Date Amount Date Amount

  
 $ $ 

$ * $ 

*Final Maturity

[In addition, to the extent [Area No. 4 Tax Increment][Area No. 5 Tax Increment][Area 
No. 6 Tax Increment][TIF Revenues] exceed the debt service due on the Series 202____ Bonds, 
the Series 202____ Bonds shall be redeemed upon seven (7) days' written notice, at face value, 
plus in each case accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, with no premium.] 

Section 5.2. Notice of Redemption.  In the case of redemption of Series 202___ 
Bonds pursuant to Section 5.1 hereof, notice of the call for any such redemption identifying the 
Series 202___ Bonds, or portions of fully registered Series 202___ Bonds, to be redeemed shall 
be given by mailing a copy of the redemption notice by first class mail not less than ten (10) days 
prior to the date fixed for redemption to the registered owner of each Series 202___ Bond to be 
redeemed at the address shown on the registration books.  Such notice of redemption shall 
specify the CUSIP number, if any, and, in the event of a partial redemption the Series 202___
Bond numbers and called amounts of each Series 202___ Bond, the redemption date, redemption 
price, interest, if any, maturity date and the name and address of the Trustee and the Paying 
Agent; provided, however, that failure to give such notice by mailing, or any defect therein, with 
respect to any such registered Series 202___ Bond shall not affect the validity of any 
proceedings for the redemption of other Series 202___ Bonds.

On and after the redemption date specified in the aforesaid notice, such Series 202___ 
Bonds, or portions thereof, thus called shall not bear interest, if any, shall no longer be protected 
by this Indenture and shall not be deemed to be outstanding under the provisions of this 
Indenture, and the holders thereof shall have the right only to receive the redemption price 
thereof, plus accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption, if any. 



27
4873-8850-7335.1

Section 5.3. Cancellation.  All Series 202___ Bonds which have been redeemed in 
whole shall be canceled and destroyed by the Trustee and shall not be reissued in accordance 
with the Trustee's retention policy then in effect. 

Section 5.4. Redemption Payments.  Prior to the date fixed for redemption in whole, 
funds shall be deposited with Trustee to pay, and Trustee is hereby authorized and directed to 
apply such funds to the payment of the Series 202___ Bonds or portions thereof called, together 
with accrued interest thereon to the redemption date, if any.  Upon the giving of notice and the 
deposit of funds for redemption, interest on the Series 202___ Bonds thus called shall no longer 
accrue after the date fixed for redemption, if any.  No payment shall be made by the Paying 
Agent upon any Series 202___ Bond until such Series 202___ Bond shall have been delivered 
for payment or cancellation or the Trustee shall have received the items required by Section 2.9 
hereof with respect to any mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Series 202___ Bond.

Section 5.5. Partial Redemption of Series 202___ Bonds.  If fewer than all of the 
Series 202___ Bonds at the time outstanding are to be called for redemption, the maturities of 
Series 202___ Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed shall be selected by the Trustee at the 
direction of the Developer.  If fewer than all of the Series 202___ Bonds within a maturity are to 
be redeemed, the Trustee shall select by lot (meaning also random selection by computer) in such 
manner as the Trustee, in its discretion, may determine, the Series 202___ Bonds or portions of 
Series 202___ Bonds within such maturity that shall be redeemed.  The Trustee shall call for 
redemption in accordance with the foregoing provisions as many Series 202___ Bonds or 
portions thereof as will, as nearly as practicable, exhaust the moneys available therefor.   

If less than the entire principal amount of any registered Series 202___ Bond then 
outstanding is called for redemption, then upon notice of redemption given as provided in 
Section 5.2 hereof, the Owner of such registered Series 202___ Bond shall forthwith surrender 
such Series 202___ Bond to the Paying Agent in exchange for (a) payment of the redemption 
price thereof, plus accrued interest thereon, if any, the principal amount called for redemption 
and (b) a new Series 202___ Bond or Series 202___ Bonds of like series in an aggregate 
principal amount equal to the unredeemed balance of the principal amount of such registered 
Bond, which shall be issued without charge therefor. 

(End of Article V)



28
4873-8850-7335.1

ARTICLE VI.

GENERAL COVENANTS

Section 6.1. Payment of Principal and Interest.  Subject to the funding source 
limitations in this Indenture, the Issuer covenants that it will promptly pay the principal of and 
interest on every Bond issued under this Indenture at the place, on the dates and in the manner 
provided herein and in the Bonds according to the true intent and meaning thereof.  The principal 
of and interest on the Bonds are payable solely and only from the TIF Revenues, and nothing in 
the Bonds or in this Indenture should be considered as pledging any other funds or assets of the 
Issuer.  The Bonds, and the interest payable thereon, if any, do not and shall not represent or 
constitute a debt of the Issuer within the meaning of the provisions of the constitution or statutes 
of the State of Indiana or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Issuer.  The Bonds, as to both 
principal and interest, are not an obligation or liability of the State of Indiana, or of any political 
subdivision or taxing authority thereof, but are a special limited obligation of the Issuer and are 
payable solely and only from TIF Revenues.  Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of 
the Issuer, the Redevelopment Commission, the State of Indiana or any political subdivision or 
taxing authority thereof is pledged to the payment of or the principal of and premium, if any, or 
interest on the Bonds.  The Bonds do not grant the owners or holders thereof any right to have 
the Issuer, the Redevelopment Commission, the State of Indiana or its General Assembly, or any 
political subdivision or taxing authority of the State of Indiana, levy any taxes or appropriate any 
funds for the payment of the principal of, or premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds.  The 
Issuer has no taxing power with respect to the Bonds.  No covenant or agreement contained in 
the Bonds or this Indenture shall be deemed to be a covenant or agreement of any member, 
director, officer, agent, attorney or employee of the Redevelopment Commission, the 
Commission or the Issuer in his or her individual capacity, and no member, director, officer, 
agent, attorney or employee of the Redevelopment Commission, the Commission or the Issuer 
executing the Bonds shall be liable personally on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability 
or accountability by reason of the issuance of the Bonds. 

Section 6.2. Performance of Covenants.  The Issuer covenants that it will faithfully 
perform at all times any and all covenants, undertakings, stipulations and provisions contained in 
this Indenture, in any and every Bond executed, authenticated and delivered hereunder and in all 
proceedings of its members pertaining thereto.  The Issuer represents that it is duly authorized 
under the constitution and laws of the State of Indiana to issue the Bonds authorized herein and 
to execute this Indenture, pledge the TIF Revenues and assign the Financing Agreement in the 
manner and to the extent herein set forth; that all action on its part for the issuance of the Bonds 
and the execution and delivery of this Indenture has been duly and effectively taken, and that the 
Bonds in the hands of the holders and owners thereof are and will be valid and enforceable 
obligations of the Issuer according to the import thereof, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws, judicial decisions and principles of equity 
relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to the valid exercise of the 
constitutional powers of the Issuer, the State of Indiana and the United States of America.

Section 6.3. Ownership; Instruments of Further Assurance.  The Issuer represents that 
at the time of the pledge and assignment thereof the assignment of the Financing Agreement to 
the Trustee hereby made will be valid and lawful.  The Issuer covenants that it will defend its 



29
4873-8850-7335.1

interest in the Financing Agreement to the Trustee, for the benefit of the holders and owners of 
the Bonds against the claims and demands of all persons whomsoever.  The Issuer covenants that 
it will do, execute, acknowledge and deliver or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and 
delivered, such indentures supplemental hereto and such further acts, instruments and transfers as 
the Trustee may reasonably require for the better assuring, transferring, mortgaging, conveying, 
pledging, assigning and confirming unto the Trustee, the Financing Agreement and all payments 
thereon and thereunder pledged hereby to the payment of the principal, or premium, if any, or 
interest on the Bonds, if any.

Section 6.4. Filing of Indenture, Financing Agreement and Security Instruments.  The 
Issuer, upon the written direction and at the sole expense of the Developer, shall cause this 
Indenture, the Financing Agreement and all supplements thereto as well as such other security 
instruments, financing statements and all supplements thereto and other instruments as may be 
required from time to time to be filed in such manner and in such places as may be required by 
law in order to fully preserve and protect the lien hereof and the security of the holders and 
owners of the Bonds and the rights of the Trustee hereunder.  This Section 6.4 shall impose no 
duty to record or file the instruments noted above where filing or recordation is not required by 
law in order to perfect a security interest.  Continuation of financing statements may be filed 
without consent of the debtor parties thereto. 

Section 6.5. Inspection of Books.  The Issuer covenants and agrees that all books and 
documents in its possession relating to the Projects and the revenues derived from the Projects 
shall at all times be open to inspection by such accountants or other agents as the Trustee may 
from time to time designate.  The Trustee shall have no duty to review or analyze such financial 
statements and shall hold any financial statements solely as a repository for the benefit of the 
Owner(s); the Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice of any information contained therein or 
event of default which may be disclosed therein in any manner.

Section 6.6. List of Bondholders.  The Trustee will keep on file at the principal office 
of the Trustee a list of names and addresses of the holders of all Bonds.  At reasonable times and 
under reasonable regulations established by the Trustee, said list may be inspected and copied by 
the Developer or by holders and/or owners (or a designated representative thereof) of 25% or 
more in principal amount of Bonds then outstanding, such ownership and the authority of any 
such designated representative to be evidenced to the satisfaction of the Trustee. 

Section 6.7. Rights Under Financing Agreement.  The Issuer agrees that the Trustee 
in its name or in the name of the Issuer may enforce all rights of the Issuer and all obligations of 
the Developer under and pursuant to the Financing Agreement for and on behalf of the 
Bondholders, whether or not the Issuer is in default hereunder.

Section 6.8. Investment of Funds.   Moneys in the funds established hereunder may 
be invested in Qualified Investments to the extent and in the manner provided for in Section 3.8 
of the Financing Agreement.  The Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting 
from any such investment.  The interest accruing thereon and any profit realized from such 
investments shall be credited, and any loss resulting from such investments shall be charged to 
the fund in which the money was deposited.  



30
4873-8850-7335.1

Section 6.9. Non-presentment of Bonds.  If any Bond shall not be presented for 
payment when the principal thereof becomes due, either at maturity, or at the date fixed for 
redemption thereof, or otherwise, if funds sufficient to pay any such Bond shall have been made 
available to Paying Agent for the benefit of the holder or holders thereof, all liability of Issuer to 
the holder thereof for the payment of such Bond shall forthwith cease, determine and be 
completely discharged, and thereupon it shall be the duty of Paying Agent to hold such funds for 
five (5) years without liability for interest thereon, for the benefit of the holder of such Bond, 
who shall thereafter be restricted exclusively to such funds, for any claim of whatever nature on 
his part under this Indenture or on, or with respect to, such Bond. 

Any moneys so deposited with and held by the Paying Agent not so applied to the 
payment of Bonds within five (5) years after the date on which the same shall become due shall 
be repaid by Paying Agent to Issuer and thereafter Bondholders shall be entitled to look only to 
Issuer for payment, and then only to the extent of the amount so repaid, and Issuer shall not be 
liable for any interest thereon and shall not be regarded as a trustee of such money. 

Section 6.10. Direction of Bondholders.  Whenever any action, direction or consent is 
required of the Trustee, the Trustee shall consult with the holders of the Bonds and shall take 
such action, give such direction or give such consent as shall be directed by the Requisite 
Bondholders.

Section 6.11. Reserved.   

(End of Article VI) 



31
4873-8850-7335.1

ARTICLE VII.

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES

Section 7.1. Events of Default.  Each of the following events is hereby declared an 
"event of default," that is to say, if: 

(a) payment of any amount payable on the Bonds shall not be made when the same is 
due and payable by reason other than collection of insufficient TIF Revenues and paid to the 
Trustee; or

(b) any event of default as defined in Section 5.1 of the Financing Agreement shall 
occur and be continuing; or

(c) the Issuer shall default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the 
covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions contained in the Bonds or in this Indenture or 
any agreement supplemental hereof on the part of the Issuer to be performed, and such default 
shall continue for thirty (30) days after written notice specifying such default and requiring the 
same to be remedied shall have been given to the Issuer and the Developer by the Trustee; or 

(d) the Issuer shall fail to apply collected TIF Revenues in accordance with Article IV 
of this Indenture; short fall in the amount of TIF Revenues received shall not be an event or 
default.

Section 7.2. Reserved.  

Section 7.3. Remedies; Rights of Bondholders. 

(i) If an event of default occurs, the Trustee may pursue any available remedy 
by suit at law or in equity to enforce the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and 
interest, if any, on the Bonds then outstanding, to enforce any obligations of the Issuer 
hereunder, and of the Issuer and the Developer under the Financing Agreement. 

(ii) Upon the occurrence of an event of default, and if directed to do so by the 
Requisite Bondholders and indemnified as provided in Section 8.1 hereof, the Trustee 
shall be obliged to exercise such one or more of the rights and powers conferred by this 
Article as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem most expedient in the 
interests of the Bondholders.

(iii) No remedy by the terms of this Indenture conferred upon or reserved to 
the Trustee (or to the Bondholders) is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but 
each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other 
remedy given to the Trustee or to the Bondholders hereunder or now or hereafter existing 
at law or in equity or by statute.

(iv) No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any 
event of default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver 



32
4873-8850-7335.1

of any event of default or acquiescence therein, and every such right and power may be 
exercised from time to time as may be deemed expedient.

(v) No waiver of any event of default hereunder, whether by the Trustee or by 
the Bondholders, shall extend to or shall affect any subsequent event of default or shall 
impair any rights or remedies consequent thereon.

Section 7.4. Right of Bondholders to Direct Proceedings.  Anything in this Indenture 
to the contrary notwithstanding, the holders of all Bonds then outstanding shall have the right, at 
any time, by an instrument or instruments in writing executed and delivered to the Trustee, to 
direct the time, the method and place of conducting all proceedings to be taken in connection 
with the enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Indenture, or for the appointment of a 
receiver or any other proceedings hereunder; provided, that such direction shall not be otherwise 
than in accordance with the provisions of law and of this Indenture, and provided that the Trustee 
is obligated to pursue its remedies under the provisions of Section 7.3 hereof before any other 
remedies are sought.

Section 7.5. Application of Moneys.  All moneys received by the Trustee pursuant to 
any right given or action taken under the provisions of this Article shall, after payment of the 
cost and expenses of the proceedings resulting in the collection of such moneys and of the 
expenses, liabilities and advances incurred or made by the Trustee or the Issuer and the creation 
of a reasonable reserve for anticipated fees, costs and expenses, be deposited in the Bond Fund 
and all moneys in the Bond Fund shall be applied as follows: 

(a) Unless the principal of all the Bonds shall have become or shall have been 
declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied: 

First:  To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of interest, 
if any, then due on the Bonds, in the order of the maturity of the installments of such 
interest, and if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any particular 
installment, then to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due on such 
installment, to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or privilege; and 

Second:  To the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal of 
and premium, if any, of the Bonds which shall have become due (other than Bonds called 
for redemption for the payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of 
this Indenture), in the order of their due dates, with interest on such Bonds from the 
respective dates upon which they become due, and if the amount available shall not be 
sufficient to pay in full Bonds due on any particular date, together with such interest, then 
to the payment ratably, to the amount of principal due on such date, to the persons 
entitled thereto without any discrimination or privilege; and

Third:  To the payment of the balance, if any, to the Developer or its successors or 
assigns, upon the written request of the Developer, except for any remaining TIF 
Revenues which shall be paid to the Issuer, or to whosoever may be lawfully entitled to 
receive the same upon its written request, or as any court of competent jurisdiction may 
direct.



33
4873-8850-7335.1

(b) If the principal of all the Bonds shall have become due or shall have been 
declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of the principal and 
interest, if any, then due and unpaid upon the Bonds, without preference or priority of principal 
over interest, if any, or of interest, if any, over any other installment of interest, according to the 
amounts due, respectively, for principal and interest, if any, to the persons entitled thereto 
without any discrimination or privilege.

(c) If the principal of all the Bonds shall have been declared due and payable, and if 
such declaration shall thereafter have been rescinded and annulled under the provisions of this 
Article then, subject to the provisions of subsection (b) of this Section in the event that the 
principal of all the Bonds shall later become due or be declared due and payable, the moneys 
shall be applied in accordance with the provisions of subsection (a) of this Section. 

Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the provisions of this Section, such 
moneys shall be applied at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee shall determine, 
having due regard to the amount of such moneys available for application and the likelihood of 
additional moneys becoming available for such application in the future.  Whenever the Trustee 
shall apply such funds, it shall fix the date (which shall be an interest payment date unless it shall 
deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be made and upon such date 
interest, if any, on the amounts of principal to be paid on such dates shall cease to accrue.  The 
Trustee shall give such notice as it may deem appropriate of the deposit with it of any such 
moneys and of the fixing of any such date and shall not be required to make payment to the 
holder of any Bond until such Bond shall be presented to the Trustee for appropriate 
endorsement or for cancellation if fully paid. 

Section 7.6. Remedies Vested In Trustee.  All rights of action (including the right to 
file proof of claims) under this Indenture or under any of the Bonds may be enforced by the 
Trustee without the possession of any of the Bonds or the production thereof in any trial or other 
proceedings relating thereto, and any such suit or proceeding instituted by the Trustee shall be 
brought in its name as Trustee without the necessity of joining as plaintiffs or defendants any 
holders of the Bonds, and any recovery of judgment shall, subject to the provisions of Section 
7.4 hereof, be for the equal benefit of the holders of the outstanding Bonds. 

Section 7.7. Rights and Remedies of Bondholders.  No holder of any Bond shall have 
any right to institute any suit, action or proceeding in equity or at law for the enforcement of this 
Indenture or for the execution of any trust thereof or for the appointment of a receiver or any 
other remedy hereunder, unless a default has occurred of which the Trustee has been notified as 
provided in subsection (g) of Section 8.1, or of which by said subsection it is deemed to have 
notice, nor unless also such default shall have become an event of default and the holders of all 
Bonds then outstanding shall have made written request to the Trustee and shall have offered 
reasonable opportunity either to proceed to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted or to 
institute such action, suit or proceeding in its own name, nor unless also they have offered to the 
Trustee indemnity as provided in Section 8.1 hereof, nor unless the Trustee shall thereafter fail or 
refuse to exercise the powers hereinbefore granted, or to institute such action, suit or proceeding 
in its, his, or their own name or names.  Such notification, request and offer of indemnity are 
hereby declared in every case at the option of the Trustee to be conditions precedent to the 
execution of the powers and trusts of this Indenture, and to any action or cause of action for the 



34
4873-8850-7335.1

enforcement of this Indenture, or for the appointment of a receiver or for any other remedy 
hereunder; it being understood and intended that no one or more holders of the Bonds shall have 
any right in any manner whatsoever to affect, disturb or prejudice the lien of this Indenture by 
its, his or their action or to enforce any right hereunder except in the manner herein provided, 
and that all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner 
herein provided and for the equal benefit of the holders of all Bonds then outstanding.  Nothing 
in this Indenture contained shall, however, affect or impair the right of any Bondholder to 
enforce the covenants of the Issuer to pay the principal of and interest on each of the Bonds 
issued hereunder to the respective holders thereof at the time, place, from the source and in the 
manner in the Bonds expressed. 

Section 7.8. Termination of Proceedings.  In case the Trustee shall have proceeded to 
enforce any right under this Indenture by the appointment of a receiver, or otherwise, and such 
proceedings shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have been 
determined adversely, then and in every such case the Issuer, the Developer and the Trustee shall 
be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, with respect to the Trust 
Estate, and all rights, remedies and powers of the Trustee shall continue as if no such 
proceedings had been taken. 

Section 7.9. Waivers of Events of Default.  The Trustee may in its discretion waive 
any event of default hereunder and its consequences and rescind any declaration of maturity of 
principal of and interest on the Bonds, and shall do so upon the written request of the holders of 
(1) all the Bonds then outstanding in respect of which default in the payment of principal and/or 
premium, if any, and/or interest exists, or (2) all Bonds then outstanding in the case of any other 
default; provided, however, that there shall not be waived (a) any event of default in the payment 
of the principal of any outstanding Bonds at the date of maturity specified therein, or (b) any 
default in the payment when due of the interest, if any, on any such Bonds unless prior to such 
waiver or rescission, arrears of interest, with interest (to the extent permitted by law) at the rate 
borne by the Bonds in respect of which such default shall have occurred on overdue installments 
of interest or all arrears of payments of principal and premium, if any, when due, as the case may 
be, and all expenses of the Trustee in connection with such default shall have been paid or 
provided for, and in case of any such waiver or rescission, or in case any proceeding taken by the 
Trustee on account of any such default shall have been discontinued or abandoned or determined 
adversely, then and in every such case the Issuer, the Trustee and the Bondholders shall be 
restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, but no such waiver or 
rescission shall extend to any subsequent or other default, or impair any right consequent 
thereon. 

(End of Article VII) 



35
4873-8850-7335.1

ARTICLE VIII.

THE TRUSTEE AND PAYING AGENT

Section 8.1. Acceptance of the Trusts.  The Trustee hereby accepts the trusts imposed 
upon it by this Indenture and agrees to perform said trusts as a corporate trustee ordinarily would 
perform said trusts under a corporate indenture, but no implied covenants or obligations shall be 
read into this Indenture against the Trustee.

(a) The Trustee may execute any of the trusts or powers hereof and perform any of its 
duties by or if appointed through attorneys, agents, receivers or employees but shall not be 
answerable for the conduct of the same if appointed with due care, and shall be entitled to advice 
of counsel concerning all matters of trusts hereof and the duties hereunder, and may in all cases 
pay such reasonable compensation to all such attorneys, agents, receivers and employees as may 
reasonably be employed in connection with the trusts hereof.  The Trustee may act upon the 
opinion or advice of any attorney (who may be the attorney or attorneys for the Issuer or the 
Developer).  The Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or damage resulting from any 
action or non-action in good faith in reliance upon such opinion or advice.

(b) The Trustee shall not be responsible for any recital herein, or in the Bonds (except 
in respect to the certificate of the Trustee endorsed on the Bonds), or for insuring the property 
herein conveyed or collecting any insurance moneys, or for the validity of the execution by the 
Issuer of this Indenture or of any supplements thereto or instruments of further assurance, or for 
the sufficiency of the security for the Bonds issued hereunder or intended to be secured hereby, 
or for the value or title of the property herein conveyed or otherwise as to the maintenance of the 
security hereof; and the Trustee shall not be bound to ascertain or inquire as to the performance 
or observance of any covenants, conditions or agreements on the part of the Issuer or on the part 
of the Developer under the Financing Agreement; but the Trustee may require of the Issuer or the 
Developer full information and advice as to the performance of the covenants, conditions and 
agreements aforesaid as to the condition of the property herein conveyed.  The Trustee shall have 
no obligation to perform any of the duties of the Issuer under the Financing Agreement, and the 
Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any loss suffered in connection with any investment 
of funds made by it in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture.

(c) The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use of any Bonds authenticated by it 
or the Paying Agent or delivered hereunder.  The Trustee may become the owner of Bonds 
secured hereby with the same rights which it would have if not Trustee.

(d) The Trustee shall be protected in acting upon any notice, request, consent, 
certificate, order, affidavit, letter, telegram or other paper or document believed to be genuine 
and correct and to have been signed or sent by the proper person or persons.  Any action taken by 
the Trustee pursuant to this Indenture upon the request or authority or consent of any person who 
at the time of making such request or giving such authority or consent is the owner of any Bond, 
shall be conclusive and binding upon all future owners of the same Bond and upon Bonds issued 
in exchange therefor or in place thereof. 



36
4873-8850-7335.1

(e) As to the existence or non-existence of any fact or as to the sufficiency or validity 
of any instrument, paper or proceeding, the Trustee shall be entitled to rely upon a certificate 
signed on behalf of the Issuer or the Developer by its duly authorized officers as sufficient 
evidence of the facts therein contained and prior to the occurrence of a default of which the 
Trustee has been notified as provided in subsection (g) of this Section, or of which said 
subsection it is deemed to have notice, shall also be at liberty to accept a similar certificate to the 
effect that any particular dealing, transaction or action is necessary or expedient, but may at its 
discretion secure such further evidence deemed necessary or advisable, but shall in no case be 
bound to secure the same.  The Trustee may accept a certificate of the Issuer or the Developer 
under its seal to the effect that an ordinance or resolution in the form therein set forth has been 
adopted by the Issuer or the Developer as conclusive evidence that such ordinance or resolution 
has been duly adopted, and is in full force and effect. 

(f) The permissive right of the Trustee to do things enumerated in this Indenture shall 
not be construed as a duty, and the Trustee shall not be answerable for other than its gross 
negligence or willful misconduct; provided, however, that the provisions of this subsection shall 
not affect the duties of the Trustee hereunder, including the provisions of Article VII hereof. 

(g) The Trustee shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to have notice of 
any event of default hereunder (other than payment of the principal and interest on the Bonds) 
unless the Trustee shall be specifically notified in writing of such default by the Issuer or by the 
holders of at least twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then 
outstanding and all notices or other instruments required by this Indenture to be delivered to the 
Trustee must, in order to be effective, be delivered at the principal corporate trust office of the 
Trustee, and in the absence of such notice so delivered, the Trustee may conclusively assume 
there is no default except as aforesaid. 

(h) The Trustee shall not be personally liable for any debts contracted or for damages 
to persons or to personal property injured or damaged, or for salaries or nonfulfillment of 
contracts during any period in which it may be in possession of or managing the Trust Estate. 

(i) At any and all reasonable times and upon reasonable prior written notice, the 
Trustee, and its duly authorized agents, attorneys, experts, engineers, accountants and 
representatives, shall have the right fully to inspect the Trust Estate, and to take such memoranda 
from and in regard thereto as may be desired. 

(j) The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or surety in respect of the 
execution of the said trusts and powers or otherwise in respect of the premises. 

(k) Notwithstanding anything elsewhere in this Indenture contained, the Trustee shall 
have the right, but shall not be required, to demand, in respect of the authentication of any 
Bonds, the withdrawal of any cash, the release of any property, or any action whatsoever within 
the purview of this Indenture, any showings, certificates, opinions, appraisals or other 
information, or corporate action or evidence thereof, in addition to that by the terms hereof 
required as a condition of such action by the Trustee, deemed desirable for the authentication of 
any Bonds, the withdrawal of any cash, or the taking of any other action by the Trustee. 



37
4873-8850-7335.1

(l) Before taking any action under this Section 8.1 the Trustee may require that a 
satisfactory indemnity bond be furnished for the reimbursement of all expenses to which it may 
be put and to protect it against all liability, except liability which is adjudicated to have resulted 
from its gross negligence or willful misconduct in connection with any action so taken.  Such 
indemnity shall survive the termination of this Indenture.

(m) All moneys received by the Trustee or the Paying Agent shall, until used or 
applied or invested as herein provided, be held in trust for the purposes for which they were 
received but need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.  
Neither the Trustee nor the Paying Agent shall be under any liability for interest on any moneys 
received hereunder except such as may be agreed upon.

(n) The Trustee, prior to the occurrence of an event of default and after the curing of 
all events of default which may have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such 
duties as are specifically set forth in this Indenture, and no implied covenants or obligations
should be read into this Indenture against the Trustee.  If any event of default under this 
Indenture shall have occurred and be continuing, the Trustee shall exercise such of the rights and 
powers vested in it by this Indenture and shall use the same degree of care as a prudent man 
would exercise or use in the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs.

(o) The Trustee shall have no responsibility with respect to any information, 
statement or recital in any official statement, offering memorandum or any other disclosure 
material prepared or distributed with respect to the Bonds, except for any information provided 
by the Trustee, and shall have no responsibility for compliance with any state or federal 
securities laws in connection with the Bonds. 

(p) The Trustee shall have the right to accept and act upon instructions, including 
funds transfer instructions ("Instructions") given pursuant to this Indenture and delivered using 
Electronic Means; provided, however, that the Issuer and Developer shall provide to the Trustee 
an incumbency certificate listing officer with the authority to provide such Instructions 
("Authorized Officers") and containing specimen signature of such Authorized Officer, which 
incumbency certificate shall be amended by the Issuer and Developer whenever a person is to be 
added or deleted from the listing.  If the Issuer and Developer elects to give the Trustee 
Instructions using Electronic Means and the Trustee in its discretion elects to act upon such 
Instructions, the Trustee's understanding of such Instructions shall be deemed controlling.  The 
Issuer and Developer understands and agrees that the Trustee cannot determine the identity of the 
actual sender of such instructions and that the Trustee shall conclusively presume that direction 
that purport to have been sent by an Authorized Officer listed on the incumbency certificate 
provided to the Trustee have been sent by such Authorized Officer.  The Issuer and Developer
shall be responsible for ensuring that only Authorized Officer transmit such instructions to the 
Trustee and that the Issuer and Developer and all Authorized Officer are solely responsible to 
safeguard that use and confidentiality of applicable user and authorization codes, passwords 
and/or authentication keys upon receipt by the Issuer and Developer.  The Trustee shall not be 
liable for any losses, costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Trustee's reliance 
upon and compliance with such Instructions notwithstanding such directions conflict or are 
inconsistent with a subsequent written Instruction.  The Issuer and Developer agrees: (i) to 
assume all risks arising out of the use of Electronic Means to submit Instructions to the Trustee, 



38
4873-8850-7335.1

including without limitation the risk of the Trustee acting on unauthorized Instructions, and the 
risk of interception and misuse by third parties; (ii) that it is fully informed of the protections and 
risks associated with the various methods of transmitting Instructions to the Trustee and that 
there may be more secure methods of transmitting Instructions that the method(s) selected by the 
Issuer and Developer; (iii) that the security procedures (if any) to be followed in connection with 
its transmission of Instructions provide to it a commercially reasonable degree of protection in 
light of its particular needs and circumstances; and (iv) to notify the Trustee immediately upon 
learning of any compromise or unauthorized use of the security procedures. "Electronic Means"
shall mean the following communications methods:  e-mail, facsimile transmission, secure 
electronic transmission containing applicable authorization codes, passwords and/or 
authentication keys issued by the Trustee, or another method or system specified by the Trustee 
as available for use in connection with its services hereunder. 

(q) The Trustee shall not be accountable for the use or application by the Issuer or 
Developer of any of the Bonds or the proceeds thereof or for the use or application of any money 
paid over by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture or the Financing 
Agreement or for the use and application of money received by any paying agent. 

(r) None of the provisions of this Indenture shall require the Trustee to expend or risk 
its own funds or otherwise incur any liability, financial or otherwise, in the performance of any 
of its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers, if it shall have reasonable 
grounds for believing that repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or 
liability is not reasonable assured to it. 

(s) The Trustee shall have no duty to review or analyze financial statements and shall 
hold such financial statements solely as a repository for the benefit of the Bondholders; the 
Trustee shall not be deemed to have notice of any information contained therein or event of 
default which may be disclosed therein in any manner.

Section 8.2. Fees, Charges and Expenses of Trustee and Paying Agent.  The Trustee 
and Paying Agent shall be entitled to payment and/or reimbursement for reasonable fees for its 
services rendered hereunder and all advances, counsel fees and other expenses reasonably and 
necessarily made or incurred by the Trustee or Paying Agent in connection with such services.  
Such fees and expenses shall be payable upon the receipt of TIF Revenues received from the 
Issuer.  In the event such TIF Revenues are insufficient to pay such fees and expenses of the 
Trustee, the Developer shall be responsible for payment of said fees and expenses of the Trustee. 
Upon an event of default, but only upon an event of default, the Trustee shall have a right of 
payment prior to payment on account of interest, if any, or principal of, or premium, if any, on 
any Bond for the foregoing advances, fees, costs and expenses incurred.  In the event of 
bankruptcy of the Issuer or Developer, any fees and expenses of the Trustee shall constitute 
administrative expenses.  If the Trustee renders any service hereunder not provided for in the 
Indenture, or the Trustee is made a party to or intervenes in any litigation pertaining to this 
Indenture or institutes interpleader proceedings relative hereto, the Trustee shall be compensated 
reasonable by the Issuer for such extraordinary services and reimbursed for any and all claims, 
liabilities, losses, damages, fines, penalties and expenses, including out-of-pocket and incidental 
expenses and legal fees occasioned thereby.   



39
4873-8850-7335.1

Section 8.3. Notice to Bondholders if Default Occurs.  If an event of default occurs of 
which the Trustee is by subsection (g) of Section 8.1 hereof required to take notice or if notice of 
an event of default be given as in said subsection (g) provided, then the Trustee shall give written 
notice thereof by first class mail to the last known holders of all Bonds then outstanding shown 
by the list of Bondholders required by the terms of this Indenture to be kept at the office of the 
Trustee. 

Section 8.4. Intervention by Trustee.  In any judicial proceeding to which the Issuer is 
a party and which in the opinion of the Trustee and its counsel has a substantial bearing on the 
interests of holders of the Bonds, the Trustee may intervene on behalf of Bondholders and, 
subject to the provisions of Section 8.1(l), shall do so if requested in writing by the owners of at 
least twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds then outstanding.  
The rights and obligations of the Trustee under this Section are subject to the approval of a court 
of competent jurisdiction. 

Section 8.5. Successor Trustee.  Any corporation or association into which the 
Trustee may be converted or merged, or with which it may be consolidated, or to which it may 
sell or transfer its corporate trust business and assets as a whole or substantially as a whole, or 
any corporation or association resulting from any such conversion, sale, merger, consolidation or 
transfer to which it is a party, ipso facto, shall be and become successor Trustee hereunder and 
vested with all of the title to the whole property or trust estate and all the trusts, powers, 
discretions, immunities, privileges and all other matters as was its predecessor, without the 
execution or filing of any instrument or any further act, deed or conveyance on the part of any of 
the parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding. 

Section 8.6. Resignation by the Trustee.  The Trustee and any successor Trustee may 
at any time resign from the trusts hereby created by giving thirty days' written notice to the Issuer 
and the Developer and by registered or certified mail to each registered owner of Bonds then 
outstanding and to each holder of Bonds as shown by the list of Bondholders required by this 
Indenture to be kept at the office of the Trustee, and such resignation shall take effect at the end 
of such thirty (30) days, or upon the earlier appointment of a successor Trustee by the 
Bondholders or by the Issuer.  Such notice to the Issuer and the Developer may be served 
personally or sent by registered or certified mail. If at the end of the 30 days' notice period a 
successor trustee has not been appointed, the Trustee shall have the right to petition a court of 
competent jurisdiction to appoint a successor trustee. 

Section 8.7. Removal of the Trustee.  The Trustee may be removed at any time by an 
instrument or concurrent instruments in writing delivered to the Trustee and to the Issuer and 
signed by all the Bondholders. 

Section 8.8. Appointment of Successor Trustee by the Bondholders; Temporary 
Trustee.  In case the Trustee hereunder shall resign or be removed, or be dissolved, or shall be in 
course of dissolution or liquidation, or otherwise become incapable of acting hereunder, or in 
case it shall be taken under control of any public officer or officers, or of a receiver appointed by 
a court, a successor may be appointed by the owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount 
of Bonds then outstanding, by an instrument or concurrent instruments in writing signed by such 
owners, or by their attorneys-in-fact, duly authorized; provided, nevertheless, that in case of such 



40
4873-8850-7335.1

vacancy, the Issuer, by an instrument executed by one of its duly authorized officers, may 
appoint a temporary Trustee to fill such vacancy until a successor Trustee shall be appointed by 
the Bondholders in the manner above provided; and any such temporary Trustee so appointed by 
the Issuer shall immediately and without further act be superseded by the Trustee so appointed 
by such Bondholders.  Every such Trustee appointed pursuant to the provisions of this Section 
shall be a trust company or bank, having a reported capital and surplus of not less than One 
Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000) if there be such an institution willing, qualified and able 
to accept the trust upon reasonable or customary terms. 

Section 8.9. Concerning Any Successor Trustees.  Every successor Trustee appointed 
hereunder shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to its predecessor and also to the Issuer and the 
Developer an instrument in writing accepting such appointment hereunder, and thereupon such 
successor, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested with all the 
estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of its predecessor; but such 
predecessor shall, nevertheless, on the written request of the Issuer, or of its successor, execute 
and deliver an instrument transferring to such successor Trustee all the estates, properties, rights, 
powers and trusts of such predecessor hereunder; and every predecessor Trustee shall deliver all 
securities and moneys held by it as Trustee hereunder to its successor.  Should any instrument in 
writing from the Issuer be required by any successor Trustee for more fully and certainly vesting 
in such successor the estate, rights, powers and duties hereby vested or intended to be vested in 
the predecessor any and all such instruments in writing shall, on request, be executed, 
acknowledged and delivered by the Issuer.  The resignation of any Trustee and the instrument or 
instruments removing any Trustee and appointing a successor hereunder, together with all other 
instruments provided for in this Article shall be filed by the successor Trustee in each office, if 
any, where the Indenture shall have been filed.

Section 8.10. Trustee Protected in Relying Upon Resolutions, etc.  Subject to the 
conditions contained herein, the resolutions, ordinances, opinions, certificates and other 
instruments provided for in this Indenture may be accepted by the Trustee as conclusive evidence 
of the facts and conclusions stated therein and shall be full warrant, protection and authority to 
the Trustee for the release of property and the withdrawal of cash hereunder. 

Section 8.11. Appointment of Paying Agent and Registrar; Resignation or Removal of 
Paying Agent.  The Trustee is hereby appointed "Paying Agent" under this Indenture.  Any 
Paying Agent may at any time resign and be discharged of the duties and obligations created by 
this instrument and any supplemental indenture by giving at least 60 days' written notice to the 
Issuer, the Developer and the Trustee.  Any Paying Agent may be removed at any time by an 
instrument, filed with such Paying Agent and the Trustee and signed by the Issuer and the 
Developer.  Any successor Paying Agent shall be appointed by the Issuer at the direction of the 
Developer and shall be a bank or trust company duly organized under the laws of any state of the 
United States or a national banking association, in each case having a capital stock and surplus 
aggregating at least $100,000,000, willing and able to accept the office on reasonable and 
customary terms and authorized by law to perform all the duties imposed upon it by this 
Indenture.



41
4873-8850-7335.1

In the event of the resignation or removal of any Paying Agent, such Paying Agent shall 
pay over, assign and deliver any moneys or securities held by it as Paying Agent to its 
successors, or if there is no successor, to the Trustee. 

Section 8.12 To the extent permitted by law, the Issuer hereby agrees to indemnify and 
save harmless the Trustee from all losses, liabilities, costs and expenses, including attorney fees 
and expenses, which may be incurred by it as a result of its acceptance of or arising from the 
performance of its duties hereunder unless such losses, liabilities, costs and expenses shall have 
been finally adjudicated to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the 
Trustee, and sch indemnification shall survive its resignation or removal of the Trustee or the 
defeasance of this Indenture 

(End of Article VIII)



42
4873-8850-7335.1

ARTICLE IX.

SUPPLEMENTAL INDENTURES

Section 9.1. Supplemental Indentures Not Requiring Consent of Bondholders.  
Subject to the last sentence of this Section, the Issuer and the Trustee may without the consent 
of, or notice to, any of the Bondholders, enter into an indenture or indentures supplemental to 
this Indenture, as shall not be inconsistent with the terms and provisions hereof, for any one or 
more of the following purposes: 

(a) To cure any ambiguity or formal defect or omission in this Indenture;

(b) To grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondholders any 
additional rights, remedies, powers or authority that may lawfully be granted to or conferred 
upon the Bondholders or the Trustee or any of them;

(c) To subject to this Indenture additional security, revenues, properties or collateral; 
or 

(d) To make any other change in this Indenture which, in the judgment of the Trustee, 
is not to the material prejudice of the Trustee that is supported with an opinion of counsel that 
such action is not materially prejudicial to the holders, the Developer, the Issuer or the holders of 
the Bonds; or 

(e) To modify, amend or supplement the Indenture in such manner as required to 
permit the qualification thereof under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or any 
similar Federal statute hereafter in effect, and, if they so determine, to add to the Indenture such 
other terms, conditions and provisions as may be required by said Trust Indenture Act of 1939, 
as amended, or similar federal statute.

(f) To issue Additional Bonds in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.8 
hereof. 

Section 9.2. Supplemental Indentures Requiring Consent of Bondholders.  Exclusive 
of supplemental indentures covered by Section 9.1 hereof, and subject to the terms and 
provisions contained in this Section, and not otherwise, the Requisite Bondholders shall have the 
right, from time to time, anything contained in this Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, to 
consent to and approve the execution by the Issuer and the Trustee of such other indenture or 
indentures supplemental hereto as shall be deemed necessary and desirable by the Issuer for the 
purpose of modifying, altering, amending, adding to or rescinding, in any particular, any of the 
terms or provisions contained in this Indenture or in any supplemental indenture; provided 
however, that nothing in this section contained shall permit or be construed as permitting (except 
as otherwise permitted in this Indenture) (a) an extension of the stated maturity or reduction in 
the principal amount of, or reduction in the rate or extension of the time of paying of interest on, 
or reduction of any premium payable on the redemption of, any Bonds, without the consent of 
the holder of such Bond, or (b) a reduction in the amount or extension of the time of any 
payment required by any sinking fund applicable to any Bonds without the consent of the holders 
of all the Bonds which would be affected by the action to be taken, or (c) the creation of any lien 



43
4873-8850-7335.1

prior to or on a parity with the lien of this Indenture without the consent of the holders of all the 
Bonds at the time outstanding, or (d) a reduction in the aforesaid aggregate principal amount of 
Bonds the holders of which are required to consent to any such supplemental indenture, without 
the consent of the holders of all the Bonds at the time outstanding which would be affected by 
the action to be taken, or (e) a modification of the rights, duties or immunities of the Trustee, 
without the written consent of the Trustee, or (f) a privilege or priority of any Bond over any 
other Bonds, or (g) deprive the Owners of any Bonds then Outstanding of the lien thereby 
created. 

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, a supplemental indenture under this 
Article which affects any rights of the Developer shall not become effective unless and until the 
Developer shall have consented in writing to the execution and delivery of such supplemental 
indenture.  In this regard, the Trustee shall cause notice of the proposed execution and delivery 
of any such supplemental indenture together with a copy of the proposed supplemental indenture 
to be mailed by certified or registered mail to the Developer at least fifteen (15) days prior to the 
proposed date of execution and delivery of any such supplemental indenture. 

The Trustee shall be entitled to receive, and shall be fully protected in relying upon, the 
opinion of any counsel approved by it who may be counsel for the Issuer, as conclusive evidence 
that any such proposed supplemental indenture complies with the provisions of this Indenture, 
and that it is proper for the Trustee, under the provisions of this Article, to join in the execution 
of such supplemental indenture.  Costs of any such opinion shall be paid by the Issuer.

(End of Article IX)



44
4873-8850-7335.1

ARTICLE X.

AMENDMENTS TO THE FINANCING AGREEMENT

Section 10.1. Amendments, etc., to Financing Agreement Not Requiring Consent of 
Bondholders.  The Issuer and the Trustee with the consent of the Developer shall, without the 
consent of or notice to the Bondholders, consent to any amendment, change or modification of 
the Financing Agreement as may be required by (i) the provisions of the Financing Agreement 
and this Indenture, or (ii) for the purpose of curing any ambiguity or formal defect or omission, 
or (iii) in connection with any other change therein which, in the judgment of the Trustee, is not 
to the material prejudice of the Trustee, the Issuer or the holders of the Bonds. 

Section 10.2. Amendments, etc., to Financing Agreement Requiring Consent of 
Bondholders.  Except for the amendments, changes or modifications as provided in Section 10.1 
hereof, neither the Issuer nor the Trustee shall consent to any other amendment, change or 
modification of the Financing Agreement without the written approval or consent of the 
Requisite Bondholders given and procured as in Section 9.2 provided.

(End of Article X)



45
4873-8850-7335.1

ARTICLE XI.

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.1. Satisfaction and Discharge.  All rights and obligations of the Issuer and 
the Developer under the Financing Agreement and this Indenture shall terminate, and such 
instruments shall cease to be of further effect, and the Trustee shall execute and deliver all 
appropriate instruments evidencing and acknowledging the satisfaction of this Indenture, and 
shall assign and deliver to the Developer any moneys and investments in the Construction Fund 
and the Rebate Fund established hereunder (except moneys or investments held by the Trustee 
for the payment of principal of and interest on, if any, the Bonds and except for any TIF 
Revenues which shall be delivered to the Issuer) when: 

(a) all fees and expenses of the Trustee and the Paying Agent shall have been paid; 

(b) the Issuer and the Developer shall have performed all of their covenants and 
promises in the Financing Agreement and in this Indenture; and 

(c) all Bonds theretofore authenticated and delivered (i) have become due and 
payable, or (ii) are to be retired or called for redemption under arrangements satisfactory to the 
Trustee for the giving of notice of redemption by the Trustee at the expense of the Developer, or 
(iii) have been delivered to the Trustee canceled or for cancellation; and, in the case of (i) and (ii) 
above, there shall have been deposited with the Trustee either cash in an amount which shall be 
sufficient, or investments (but only to the extent that the full faith and credit of the United States 
of America are pledged to the timely payment thereof) the principal of and interest on, if any, 
which when due will provide moneys which, together with the moneys, if any, deposited with the 
Trustee, shall be sufficient, to pay when due the principal or redemption price, if applicable, and 
interest due and to become due on the Bonds prior to the redemption date or maturity date 
thereof, as the case may be.  Provided, however, none of the Bonds may be advance refunded if 
such advance refunding is not permitted by the laws of Indiana.  

Section 11.2. Defeasance of Bonds.  Any Bond shall be deemed to be paid and no 
longer Outstanding within the meaning of this Article and for all purposes of this Indenture when 
(a) payment of the principal and interest of, if any, and premium, if any, on such Bond either (i) 
shall have been made or caused to be made in accordance with the terms thereof, or (ii) shall 
have been provided for by irrevocably depositing with the Trustee in trust and irrevocably set 
aside exclusively for such payment, (1) moneys sufficient to make such payment or (2) 
Government Obligations maturing as to principal and interest, if any, in such amounts and at 
such times as will insure the availability of sufficient moneys to make such payment, and (b) all 
necessary and proper fees, compensation, indemnities and expenses of the Trustee and the Issuer 
pertaining to the Bonds with respect to which such deposit is made shall have been paid or the 
payment thereof provided for.  At such time as a Bond shall be deemed to be paid hereunder, as 
aforesaid, such Bond shall no longer be secured by or entitled to the benefits of this Indenture, 
except for the purposes of any such payment from such moneys or Government Obligations. The 
Trustee shall be entitled to receive a verification report of an independent certified public 
accountant, verification agent or similar expert to the effect that such securities and/or cash, 
together with the earnings thereon, will be sufficient to pay interest, if any, and principal (and 



46
4873-8850-7335.1

applicable premium) on the Bonds to redemption or maturity or an opinion of counsel to the 
effect that all conditions precedent to the defeasance have been complied with.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no deposit under clause (a)(ii) of the immediately 
preceding paragraph shall be deemed payment of such Bonds as aforesaid until (a) proper notice 
of redemption of such Bonds shall have been previously given in accordance with Section 5.2 of 
this Indenture, or if the Bonds are not by their terms subject to redemption within the next 
succeeding sixty (60) days, until the Developer shall have given the Trustee in form satisfactory 
to the Trustee irrevocable instructions to notify, as soon as practicable, the Owners of the Bonds, 
that the deposit required by the preceding paragraph has been made with the Trustee and that the 
Bonds are deemed to have been paid in accordance with this Section 11.2 and stating the 
maturity or redemption date upon which moneys are to be available for the payment of the 
principal of and the applicable redemption premium, if any, on the Bonds, plus interest thereon, 
if any, to the due date thereof; or (b) the maturity of such Bonds. 

All moneys so deposited with the Trustee as provided in this Section 11.2 may also be 
invested and reinvested, at the written direction of the Developer, in Government Obligations, 
maturing in the amounts and at the times as hereinbefore set forth, and all income from all 
Government Obligations in the hands of the Trustee pursuant to this Section 11.2 which is not 
required for the payment of principal of the Bonds and interest on, if any, and premium, if any, 
thereon with respect to which such moneys shall have been so deposited shall be deposited in the 
Bond Fund as and when realized and collected for use and application as are other moneys 
deposited in the Bond Fund. 

Notwithstanding any provision of any other Article of this Indenture which may be 
contrary to the provisions of this Section 11.2, all moneys or Government Obligations set aside 
and held in trust pursuant to the provisions of this Section 11.2 for the payment of Bonds 
(including premium thereon, if any) shall be applied to and used solely for the payment of the 
particular Bonds (including the premium thereon, if any) with respect to which such moneys or 
Government Obligations have been so set aside in trust. 

Anything in Article 9 hereof to the contrary notwithstanding, if moneys or Government 
obligations have been deposited or set aside with the Trustee pursuant to this Section 11.2 for the 
payment of Bonds and such Bonds shall not have in fact been actually paid in full, no 
amendment to the provisions of this Section 11.2 shall be made without the consent of the Owner 
of each Bond affected thereby. 

The right to register the transfer of or to exchange Bonds shall survive the discharge of 
this Indenture. 

Section 11.3. Cancellation of Bonds.  If the Owner of any Series 202___ Bonds 
presents that Series 202___ Bond to the Trustee with an instrument satisfactory to the Trustee 
waiving all claims for payment of that Series 202___ Bond, the Trustee shall cancel that Series 
202___ Bond and the Bondholder shall have no further claim against the Trust Estate, the Issuer 
or the Developer with respect to that Series 202___ Bond. 



47
4873-8850-7335.1

Section 11.4. Application of Trust Money.  All money or investments deposited with 
or held by the Trustee pursuant to Section 11.1 shall be held in trust for the holders of the Bonds, 
and applied by it, in accordance with the provisions of the Bonds and this Indenture, to the 
payment, either directly or through the Paying Agent, to the persons entitled thereto, of the 
principal (and premium, if any) and interest, if any, for whose payment such money has been 
deposited with the Trustee; but such money or obligations need not be segregated from other 
funds except to the extent required by law. 

Section 11.5. Consents, etc., of Bondholders.  Any consent, request, direction, 
approval, objection or other instrument required by this Indenture to be executed by the 
Bondholders may be in any number of concurrent writings of similar tenor and may be executed 
by such Bondholders in person or by agent appointed in writing.  Provided, however, that 
wherever this Indenture or the Financing Agreement requires that any such consent or other 
action be taken by the holders of a specified percentage, fraction or majority of the Bonds 
outstanding, any such Bonds held by or for the account of the following persons shall not be 
deemed to be outstanding hereunder for the purpose of determining whether such requirement 
has been met:  the Issuer or any of its members.  For all other purposes, Bonds held by or for the 
account of such person shall be deemed to be outstanding hereunder.  Proof of the execution of 
any such consent, request, direction, approval, objection or other instrument or of the writing 
appointing any such agent and of the ownership of Bonds, if made in the following manner, shall 
be sufficient for any of the purposes of this Indenture, and shall be conclusive in favor of the 
Trustee with regard to any action taken under such request or other instrument, namely:

(a) The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such writing may be 
proved by the certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who by law has power to take 
acknowledgments within such jurisdiction that the person signing such writing acknowledged 
before him the execution thereof, or by affidavit of any witness to such execution. 

(b) The fact of the holding by any person of Bonds transferable by assignment and 
the amounts and numbers of such Bonds, and the date of the holding of the same, may be proved 
by a certificate executed by any trust company, bank or bankers, wherever situated, stating that at 
the date thereof the party named therein did exhibit to an officer of such trust company or bank 
or to such banker, as the property of such party, the Bonds therein mentioned if such certificate 
shall be deemed by the Trustee to be satisfactory.  The Trustee may, in its discretion, require 
evidence that such Bonds have been deposited with a bank, bankers or trust company, before 
taking any action based on such ownership.  In lieu of the foregoing, the Trustee may accept 
other proofs of the foregoing as it shall deem appropriate.

For all purposes of this Indenture and of the proceedings for the enforcement hereof, such 
person shall be deemed to continue to be the holder of such Bond until the Trustee shall have 
received notice in writing to the contrary. 

Section 11.6. Limitation of Rights.  With the exception of rights herein expressly 
conferred, nothing expressed or mentioned in or to be implied from this Indenture, or the Bonds 
is intended or shall be construed to give to any person other than the parties hereto, and the 
Developer, and the holders of the Bonds, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or 
in respect to this Indenture or any covenants, conditions and provisions herein contained, this 



48
4873-8850-7335.1

Indenture and all of the covenants, conditions and provisions hereof being intended to be and 
being for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto and the Developer and the holders of 
the Bonds as herein provided.

Section 11.7. Severability.  If any provision of this Indenture shall be held or deemed 
to be or shall, in fact, be inoperative or unenforceable as applied in any particular case in any 
jurisdiction or jurisdictions or in all jurisdictions, or in all cases because it conflicts with any 
other provision or provisions hereof or any constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for 
any other reason, such circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the provision in 
question inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or circumstance, or of rendering any 
other provision or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative, or unenforceable to any 
extent whatever.

The invalidity of any one or more phrases, sentences, clauses or Sections in this Indenture 
contained, shall not affect the remaining portions of this Indenture, or any part thereof. 

Section 11.8. Notices.  All notices, demands, certificates or other communications 
hereunder shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when mailed by registered mail, 
certified mail, or first class mail, postage prepaid, with proper address as indicated below.  The 
Issuer, the Developer, and the Trustee may, by written notice given by each to the others, 
designate any address or addresses to which notices, demands, certificates or other 
communications to them shall be sent when required as contemplated by this Indenture.  Until 
otherwise provided by the respective parties, all notices, demands, certificates and 
communications to each of them shall be addressed as provided in Section 9.4 of the Financing 
Agreement.

Section 11.9. Counterparts.  This Indenture may be simultaneously executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 

Section 11.10. Applicable Law.  This Indenture shall be governed exclusively by the 
applicable laws of the State of Indiana. 

Section 11.11. Immunity of Officers and Directors.  No recourse shall be had for the 
payment of the principal of or premium or interest on any of the Bonds or for any claim based 
thereon or upon any obligation, covenant or agreement in this Indenture contained against any 
past, present or future members, officer, directors, agents, attorneys or employees of the Issuer, 
or any incorporator, member, officer, director, agents, attorneys, employees or trustee of any 
successor corporation, as such, either directly or through the Issuer or any successor corporation, 
under any rule of law or equity, statute or constitution or by the enforcement of any assessment 
or penalty or otherwise, and all such liability of any such incorporator, members, officers, 
directors, agents, attorneys, employees or trustees as such is hereby expressly waived and 
released as a condition of and consideration for the execution of this Indenture and issuance of 
such Bonds.

Section 11.12. Holidays.  If any date for the payment of principal or interest on the 
Bonds is not a business day then such payment shall be due on the first business day thereafter. 



49
4873-8850-7335.1

Section 11.13. Shortfall of TIF Revenues.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Indenture, any portion of the principal or interest due on the Series 202___ Bonds that remains 
unpaid due to a shortfall in TIF Revenues shall not be deemed defeased or otherwise satisfied, 
shall not be considered paid, and shall continue to be due and owing until the earlier of: (i) full 
payment by the Issuer; or (ii) the date which is 25 years after the date on which the Series 
202___ Bonds are issued. The Issuer and the Bondholder shall be responsible for calculating any 
shortfall.  The Trustee shall not be required or responsible for maintaining any record of a 
shortfall in TIF Revenues. 

(End of Article XI) 



4873-8850-7335.1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Elkhart, Indiana, has caused these presents to be 
signed in its name and behalf by its Mayor and its corporate seal to be hereunto affixed and 
attested by its Controller, and to evidence its acceptance of the trusts hereby created, 
[TRUSTEE], in ___________, Indiana has caused these presents to be signed in its name and 
behalf by, and the same to be attested by, a duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first 
above written.

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA

By:  
Mayor

Attest: 

 
Controller 

SEAL 



4873-8850-7335.1 

[TRUSTEE], as Trustee

By:  
(Written Signature) 

(Printed Signature)

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This instrument prepared by Lisa A. Lee, Ice Miller LLP, One American Square, Suite 2900, 
Indianapolis, Indiana 46282. 



4873-8850-7335.1 

EXHIBIT A

Projects

Phase I (Series A Bonds) – construction of three (3) new buildings consisting of not less than 85 
residential units and 13,500 square feet of commercial space to be owned by Developer and 
offered for lease to third parties; 

Phase II (Series B Bonds) - construction of two (2) new buildings consisting of not less than 20 
residential units to be owned by Developer and offered for lease to third parties an Pacific Street 
pedestrian improvements; and

Phase III (Series C Bonds) – construction of two (2) buildings consisting of not less than 10 
residential units to be offered for sale to third parties. 



4873-8850-7335.1 

EXHIBIT B

Costs of Issuance

Ice Miller LLP
 

[TRUSTEE], as Trustee  
 

Baker Tilly Municipal Advisors, LLC 



4873-8850-7335.1

EXHIBIT C

Affidavit of Construction Fund Disbursement Request

NO. 1

[TRUSTEE] 
Attention: Corporate Trust Department 
__________________ 
__________________ 
 

Re: City of Elkhart, Indiana
Taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 202___ (River District 
Project) ("Bonds") 

 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 

This request for disbursement is submitted to you pursuant to Section 4.4(b) of the Trust 
Indenture dated as of ______________ 1, 202___ ("Indenture") between the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana ("Issuer") and [TRUSTEE] ("Bond Trustee").  You are hereby requested to make the 
following disbursements in the aggregate amount of $_______________ from the Construction 
Fund for the payment of Costs of Construction (as defined in the Indenture) in the individual 
amounts stated on Schedule A attached hereto.

We hereby certify the following as the Developer under the Indenture: 

1. The Costs of Construction of an aggregate amount set forth in this written request 
have been made or incurred and were necessary for the construction of the Projects; 

2. The amount paid or to be paid, as set forth in this written request, is reasonable 
and represents a part of the amount payable for the Costs of Construction all in accordance with 
the cost budget; and that such payment was not paid in advance of the time, if any, fixed for 
payment and was made in accordance with the terms of any contracts applicable thereto and in 
accordance with usual and customary practice under existing conditions; 

3. No part of such cost was included in any written request previously filed with the 
Bond Trustee under the provisions of the Indenture;  

4. Such costs are appropriate for the expenditure of proceeds of the Bonds under the 
Act (as defined in the Indenture); and



4873-8850-7335.1

5. A recap of vendors and the amount paid and/or to be paid to each and, if a vendor 
is an unincorporated entity, the taxpayer identification number for such vendor.

_______________________, as Developer

By:  

Print:  

Title:   

ELKHART REDEVELOPMENT COMMISSION
 
 
By:  

Print:  

Title:   



4873-8850-7335.1

SCHEDULE A

Payment To Amount

  $_________________ 



4864-4008-1862.3 

ICE MILLER DRAFT #3 
July 25, 2024 

FINANCING AND COVENANT AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN 

EOZ BUSINESS, LLC AND RIVER DISTRICT DEVELOPMENT DEVELOPER, LLC 
 

AND 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

Dated as of _________ 1, 2024 

 

 

 

 

The rights of the Issuer hereunder have been assigned to [TRUSTEE], ___________, 
Indiana, as Trustee under a Trust Indenture dated as of the date hereof from the Issuer. 



4864-4008-1862.3 

TABLE OF CONTENTS
PAGE

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS AND EXHIBITS .......................................................................3

Section 1.1. Terms Defined .....................................................................................................3
Section 1.2. Rules of Interpretation.........................................................................................7 

ARTICLE II. REPRESENTATIONS........................................................................................9

Section 2.1. Representations by Issuer....................................................................................9
Section 2.2. Representations by Developer.............................................................................9
Section 2.3. Financing of Series 2024 Bond Proceeds by Issuer ..........................................10

ARTICLE III. PARTICULAR COVENANTS OF THE DEVELOPER AND THE 
ISSUER .............................................................................................................11

Section 3.1. Consent to Assignments to Trustee ...................................................................11
Section 3.2. General Covenants ............................................................................................11 
Section 3.3. Continuing Existence and Qualification; Assignment, Sale or Other 

Disposition of Projects ......................................................................................11 
Section 3.4. Developer Duties Under Indenture ...................................................................11 
Section 3.5. Reserved ............................................................................................................12 
Section 3.6. Trustee's Right to Perform Developer's Covenants; Advances .........................12 
Section 3.7. Indemnity ..........................................................................................................12 
Section 3.8. Funding of Indenture Funds; Investments ........................................................12 
Section 3.9. Completion of Development .............................................................................13 
Section 3.10. Reserved ............................................................................................................13 

ARTICLE IV. APPLICATION OF SERIES 2024 BOND PROCEEDS .................................14 

Section 4.1. Use of Series 2024 Bond Proceeds by Issuer ....................................................14 
Section 4.2. Use of TIF Revenues .........................................................................................14 
Section 4.3. Estoppel Certificate ...........................................................................................14 

ARTICLE V. EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES THEREFOR ..............................15 

Section 5.1. Events of Default...............................................................................................15 
Section 5.2. Right to Bring Suit, Etc .....................................................................................16 
Section 5.3. Remedies Cumulative .......................................................................................16
Section 5.4. Delay or Omission Not a Waiver ......................................................................16
Section 5.5. Remedies Subject to Provisions of Law............................................................16
Section 5.6. Waiver of Events of Default .............................................................................16

ARTICLE VI. IMMUNITY ......................................................................................................17

Section 6.1. Immunity ...........................................................................................................17

ARTICLE VII. SUPPLEMENTS AND AMENDMENTS TO THIS FINANCING 
AGREEMENT ..................................................................................................18

Section 7.1. Supplements and Amendments to this Financing Agreement ..........................18

ARTICLE VIII. DEFEASANCE.................................................................................................19

Section 8.1. Defeasance ........................................................................................................19



TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)
PAGE

ii
4864-4008-1862.3 

ARTICLE IX. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS .................................................................20

Section 9.1. Financing Agreement for Benefit of Parties Hereto .........................................20
Section 9.2. Severability .......................................................................................................20
Section 9.3. Limitation on Interest ........................................................................................20
Section 9.4. Addresses for Notice and Demands ..................................................................20
Section 9.5. Successors and Assigns .....................................................................................21
Section 9.6. Counterparts ......................................................................................................21
Section 9.7. Governing Law..................................................................................................21
 



4864-4008-1862.3 

FINANCING AND COVENANT AGREEMENT 

This is a FINANCING AND COVENANT AGREEMENT dated as of __________ 1, 
2024 ("Financing Agreement") by and between EOZ Business, LLC and River District 
Development Developer, LLC, each a limited liability Developer duly organized, existing and 
authorized to do business under the laws of the State of Indiana (collectively, "Developer"), and 
the CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA ("City or Issuer"), a municipal corporation and political 
subdivision duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Indiana. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Indiana Code, Title 36, Article 7, Chapters 11.9, -12, -14 and -25 (collectively, "Act") has 
been enacted by the General Assembly of Indiana. 

The Act provides that an Issuer may, pursuant to the Act, issue revenue bonds for the 
purpose of financing costs of economic development facilities, for diversification of industry and 
the development and promotion of job opportunities in or near the City and vests the City with 
powers that may be necessary to enable it to accomplish such purposes. 

The Elkhart Redevelopment Commission ("Redevelopment Commission") has established 
and expanded an urban renewal area needing redevelopment known as the Downtown Urban 
Renewal Area ("Area"), and approved an urban renewal plan for the Area, as amended to date
("Original Plan"), which Original Plan contained specific recommendations for economic 
development in the Area, pursuant to a Declaratory Resolution, as amended to date, as confirmed 
by a Confirmatory Resolution, as amended to date, after public hearings (collectively, "Area 
Resolution"). 

The Area Resolution established six allocation areas, including the: (i) Downtown Elkhart 
Allocation Area No. 4 ("Allocation Area No. 4"); (ii) Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 5 
("Allocation Area No. 5"); and (iii) Downtown Elkhart SF Housing Allocation Area No. 6 ("SF 
Housing Allocation Area No. 6") (collectively, "Allocation Areas") in accordance with IC 36-7-
14-39, for the purpose of capturing property taxes generated from the incremental assessed value 
of real property located in the Allocation Area; 

The Issuer, upon finding that the Projects are needed as a part of and support to the desired 
Development (each as hereinafter defined) and the proposed financing of the construction thereof 
will induce the Developer to create additional employment opportunities in the City of Elkhart, 
Indiana ("City"); assist the City with the existing housing shortage; will benefit the health, safety, 
morals, and general welfare of the citizens of the City and the State of Indiana; and will comply 
with the purposes and provisions of the Act, the Issuer adopted an ordinance approving the 
proposed financing. 

The Issuer intends to issue its [Taxable] Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 
202___  (River District Project) ("Series [A][B][C] Bonds"), in one or more series (to be completed 
with the year in which issued and series designation) in the aggregate principal amount of 
$X,XXX,XXX pursuant to the Trust Indenture dated as of ______________ 1, 202___
("Indenture") between the Issuer to [TRUSTEE], ___________, Indiana, as Trustee ("Trustee") 
and intends to utilize the proceeds of the Series [A][B][C] Bonds pursuant to the provisions of this 



- 2 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

Financing Agreement to finance the construction of certain local public improvements, including 
but not limited to, the construction of a mixed-use development that transforms the existing eastern 
gateway for downtown Elkhart and its River District, which will initially repurpose the site with 
new office and retail space, complemented by approximately 115 residential units of varying types, 
together with all necessary appurtenances, related improvements and equipment and, with respect 
to the Housing Program (as defined in the Area Resolution), assist with the construction of two or 
more buildings with a minimum of ten (10) residential units and any and all related public 
improvements (collectively, "Development") in or physically connected to the Allocation Areas 
and to pay costs of issuance. 

This Financing Agreement provides for the payment by the Commission of the Series 
[A][B][C] Bonds from [Area No. 4 Tax Increment] [Area No. 5 Tax Increment] [Area No. 6 SF 
Housing Tax Increment]. 

Subject to the further provisions of this Financing Agreement, the Series [A][B][C] Bonds 
will be payable solely out of [Area No. 4 Tax Increment] [Area No. 5 Tax Increment] [Area No. 6 
SF Housing Tax Increment], Bond proceeds (less costs of issuance) and Net Proceeds. 

In consideration of the premises, the use of the proceeds of the Series [A][B][C] Bonds and 
of other good and valuable consideration, the receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, the 
Developer has executed and delivered this Financing Agreement. 

The Developer and the Issuer hereby covenant and agree as follows: 



- 3 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

ARTICLE I.
 

DEFINITIONS AND EXHIBITS

Section 1.1. Terms Defined.  As used in this Financing Agreement, the following terms 
shall have the following meanings unless the context clearly otherwise requires: 

"Act" means, collectively, Indiana Code 36-7-11.9, -12, -14 and -25 and any successor 
provisions of the Indiana Code or successor codes. 

"Allocation Area No. 4" means the Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 4. 

"Allocation Area No. 5" means the Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 5. 

"Allocation Areas" means, collectively, the Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 4, the 
Downtown Elkhart Allocation Area No. 5 and the Downtown Elkhart SF Housing Allocation Area 
No. 6. 

"Annual Fees" means annual fees of the Trustee and reasonable (in an amount not to exceed 
$5,000) annual fees and expenses incurred by the Issuer related to monitoring Tax Increment.

"Area" means the Downtown Urban Renewal Area. 

"Area No. 4 Tax Increment" means 100% of the Area No. 4 Tax Increment generated in 
Allocation Area No. 4 and deposited into the Redevelopment Commission's Allocation Fund, 
minus the first $2,200,000 in incremental assessed value generated in Allocation Area No. 4 that 
will be retained by the Redevelopment Commission and minus the Annual Fees, received by the 
Redevelopment Commission and pledged to the Issuer for payment of the Series A Bonds pursuant 
to the TIF Pledge Resolution. 

"Area No. 5 Tax Increment" means 100% of the Area No. 5 Tax Increment generated in 
Allocation Area No. 5 and deposited into the Redevelopment Commission's Allocation Fund, 
minus the Annual Fees, received by the Redevelopment Commission and pledged to the Issuer for 
payment of the Series B Bonds pursuant to the TIF Pledge Resolution. 

"Area No. 6 SF Housing Tax Increment" means 100% of the Area No. 6 SF Housing Tax 
Increment generated in the SF Housing Allocation Area No. 6 and deposited into the 
Redevelopment Commission's Allocation Fund, minus the Annual Fees, received by the 
Redevelopment Commission and pledged to the Issuer for payment of the Series C Bonds pursuant 
to the TIF Pledge Resolution. 

"Authorized Representative" means: (i) as to the Developer, any officer of the Developer 
or any other person certified by an officer of the Developer to be such and shall serve as Authorized 
Representative for the Developer; and (ii) as to the Issuer, any person so designated by the Mayor 
and authorized to serve as Authorized Representative for the Issuer. 

"Bond Counsel" means a nationally recognized firm of municipal bond attorneys 
acceptable to the Trustee. 



- 4 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

"Bond Fund" means the Bond Fund established by Section 4.2 of the Indenture. 

"Bond Year" means each twelve-month period ending on any bond payment date. 

"Bondholder" or any similar term means the registered owner of a Bond. 

"Bonds" means the Series [A][B][C] Bonds and any other bonds issued under the 
Indenture. 

"Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or holiday on which 
commercial banks in the city or town in which the principal office of the Trustee is located are 
open for conducting substantially all of its banking activities. 

"Commission" means the Elkhart Economic Development Commission.

"Completion Date" means the date of delivery by the Developer to the Trustee of the 
certificate required by Section 4.4(c) of the Indenture, evidencing the completion of the 
Development. 

"Construction Fund" means the Construction Fund established in Section 4.4 of the 
Indenture. 

"Costs of Construction" means the categorical costs of providing for an "economic 
development project" as defined and set forth in the Act as follows: 

(i) the "Bond Issuance Costs," namely the costs, fees and expenses incurred or 
to be incurred by the Issuer, Redevelopment Commission and the Developer in connection 
with the issuance and sale of the Series [A][B][C] Bonds, including placement or other 
financing fees (including applicable counsel fees), the fees and disbursements of Bond 
Counsel, fees of the Issuer or Redevelopment Commission's municipal advisor, the fees of 
the Issuer and Redevelopment Commission's counsel, the acceptance fee and first year 
annual administrative fee of the Trustee, application fees and expenses, publication costs, 
the filing and recording fees in connection with any filings or recording necessary under 
the Indenture, the out-of-pocket costs of the Issuer, the fees and disbursements of counsel 
to the Developer, the fees and disbursements of the Developer's accountants, the fees and 
disbursements of counsel to the purchasers of the Bonds, the costs of preparing or printing 
the Series [A][B][C] Bonds and the documentation supporting the issuance of the Series 
[A][B][C] Bonds, the costs of reproducing documents, and any other costs of a similar 
nature reasonably incurred; 

(ii) the cost of insurance of all kinds that may be required or necessary in 
connection with the construction of the Projects; 

(iii) all costs and expenses which Issuer or Developer shall be required to pay, 
under the terms of any contract or contracts (including the architectural and engineering, 
development, and legal services with respect thereto) for materials and the construction of 
the Projects; and



- 5 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

(iv) any sums required to reimburse the Issuer, Redevelopment Commission or 
Developer for advances made by either of them for any of the above items or for any other 
costs incurred and for work done by either of them which are properly chargeable to the 
Projects.

"Developer" means, collectively, EOZ Business, LLC and River District Development 
Company, LLC, limited liability companies duly organized, existing and authorized to do business 
under the laws of the State of Indiana, or any successors thereto permitted under Section 3.3 hereof.

"Development" means the mixed-use residential/commercial development as further set 
forth in the Development Agreement [attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit __]. 

"Development Agreement" means the Development Agreement dated September 28, 2020, 
as amended, among the City, the Redevelopment Commission and the Developer. 

"Government Obligations" means direct obligations of, or obligations the timely payment 
of the principal of and the interest on which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by, the United 
States of America. 

"Indenture" means the Trust Indenture dated as of ____________ 1, 202___, from the 
Issuer to the Trustee and all amendments and supplements thereto. 

"Issuer" means the City of Elkhart, Indiana, a municipal corporation and political 
subdivision duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State. 

"Net Proceeds," when used with respect to any insurance or condemnation award, means 
the gross proceeds from the insurance or condemnation award remaining after payment of all 
expenses (including attorneys' fees and expenses and any expenses of the Trustee or the Issuer) 
incurred in the collection of such gross proceeds. 

"Outstanding" means Bonds which have been duly authenticated and delivered by the 
Trustee under the Indenture, except: 

(i) Bonds canceled after purchase in the open market or because of payment at 
or redemption prior to maturity; 

(ii) Bonds for the redemption of which cash or investments (but only to the 
extent that the full faith and credit of the United States of America are pledged to the timely 
payment thereof) shall have been theretofore deposited with the Trustee (whether upon or 
prior to the maturity or redemption date of any such Bonds); provided that if such Bonds 
are to be redeemed prior to the maturity thereof, notice of such redemption shall have been 
given or arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee shall have been made therefor, or waiver 
of such notice satisfactory in form to the Trustee, shall have been filed with the Trustee; 
and

(iii) Bonds in lieu of which others have been authenticated under Section 2.9 of 
the Indenture.



- 6 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

"Projects" means collectively the hereinafter defined Series A Projects, the Series B 
Projects and the Series C Projects, together with all necessary appurtenances and related 
improvements needed to serve the Development, in or physically connected to the respective 
Allocation Areas. 

"Purchaser" means EOZ Business, LLC and River District Development Company, LLC 
limited liability companies duly organized, existing and authorized to do business under the laws 
of the State of Indiana. 

"Qualified Investments" means to the extent permitted by the laws of the State of Indiana 
(i) Government Obligations; (ii) bonds, debentures, participation certificates or notes issued by 
any of the following: Federal Farm Credit Banks, Federal Financing Bank, Federal Home Loan 
Banks, Federal National Mortgage Association or Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation; (iii) 
certificates of deposit, time deposits and other interest-bearing deposit accounts with any banking 
institution, including the Trustee, which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation; 
(iv) any money market fund, sweep account, mutual fund or trust, which may be funds or trusts of 
the Trustee or Paying Agent, as shall invest solely in a portfolio of obligations described in (i) or 
(ii) above or money market funds rated, at the time of purchase, in the highest category by Moody's 
Investors Service or Standard & Poor's Ratings Group; (v) repurchase agreements with the Trustee 
or any of its affiliated banks or any other bank having a net worth of at least $100,000,000 secured 
by a pledge and physical delivery (except in the case of securities issued in book-entry form, which 
shall be registered in the name of the Trustee) to the Trustee or third-party bank, as custodian of 
obligations described in (i) or (ii) hereof; (vi) municipal obligations the interest on which would 
be excluded from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal tax purposes under Section 
103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, if (a) rated, at the time of purchase, in one 
of the three highest rating categories of either Moody's Investors Service or Standard & Poor's 
Ratings Group, or, (b) if fully secured by securities guaranteed as to principal and interest by the 
United States of America; and (vii) stock of a Qualified Regulated Investment Developer which 
invests solely in obligations described in (vi) above. 

"Redevelopment Commission" means the Elkhart Redevelopment Commission. 

"Series [A][B][C] Bonds" or "Bonds" means the [Taxable] Economic Development 
Revenue Bonds, Series [A][B][C] (to be completed with the year in which issued and series 
designation) (River Project) to be issued by the Issuer under the Indenture in the aggregate 
principal amount of $X,XXX,XXX. 

"Series A Projects" means the construction of two (2) buildings consisting of commercial 
multi-use space to be owned by Developer and offered for lease to third parties. 

"Series B Projects" means the construction of five (5) buildings with three (3) of the 
buildings consisting of not less than 85 residential units and 13,500 square feet of commercial 
space to be owned by the Developer and offered for lease to third parties and with two (2) of the 
buildings consisting of not less than 20 residential units to be owned by the Developer and offered 
to third parties and Pacific Street pedestrian improvements. 



- 7 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

"Series C Projects" means the construction of two (2) buildings of not less than 10 
residential units to be offered for sale to third parties. 

"SF Housing Allocation Area No. 6" means the Downtown Elkhart SF Housing Allocation 
Area No. 6. 

"State" means the State of Indiana. 

"Tax Increment" means collectively, Area No. 4 Tax Increment, Area No. 5 Tax Increment 
and Area No. 6 SF Housing Tax Increment. 

"TIF Pledge Resolution" means the resolution of the Redevelopment Commission adopted 
on __________, 2024, pledging Area No. 4 Tax Increment, [Area No. 5 Tax Increment and Area 
No. 6 SF Housing Tax Increment] to the Issuer for the payment of debt service on the respective 
Series [A][B][C] Bonds. 

"TIF Revenues" means, [collectively,] the Area No. 4 Tax Increment, [Area No. 5 Tax 
Increment and Area No. 6 SF Housing Tax Increment] pledged, generated and collected by the 
Redevelopment Commission. 

"Trustee" means the trustee and/or co-trustee at the time serving as such under the 
Indenture and shall initially mean [TRUSTEE], __________, Indiana. 

"Written Request" means a request in writing from an Authorized Representative of the 
party making the request. 

Section 1.2. Rules of Interpretation.  For all purposes of this Financing Agreement, 
except as otherwise expressly provided, or unless the context otherwise requires: 

(a) "This Financing Agreement" means this instrument as originally executed and as it 
may from time to time be supplemented or amended pursuant to the applicable provisions hereof.

(b) All references in this instrument to designated "Articles," "Sections" and other 
subdivisions are to the designated Articles, Sections and other subdivisions of this instrument as 
originally executed.  The words "herein," "hereof" and "hereunder" and other words of similar 
import refer to this Financing Agreement as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or 
other subdivision. 

(c) The terms defined in this Article have the meanings assigned to them in this Article 
and include the plural as well as the singular and the singular as well as the plural. 

(d) All accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned to 
them in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as consistently applied.

(e) Any terms not defined herein but defined in the Indenture shall have the same 
meaning herein.



- 8 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

(f) The terms defined elsewhere in this Financing Agreement shall have the meanings 
therein prescribed for them. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]



- 9 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

ARTICLE II.

REPRESENTATIONS 

Section 2.1. Representations by Issuer.  Issuer represents and warrants that:

(a) The Issuer is a municipal corporation duly organized and validly existing under the 
laws of the State.  Under the provisions of the Act, the Issuer is authorized to enter into the 
transactions contemplated by this Financing Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder.  
The Issuer has been duly authorized to execute and deliver this Financing Agreement. 

(b) The Issuer agrees to provide funds from the issuance of the Series [A][B][C] Bonds 
for financing a portion of the construction of the Projects to induce the Developer to construct the 
Development, to the end that industry and the economy may be diversified and job opportunities 
promoted. 

(c) The Issuer covenants that it will timely pay the TIF Revenues to the Trustee as 
provided in the Indenture.  The Issuer represents and warrants that the TIF Pledge Resolution of 
the Redevelopment Commission was validly adopted and constitutes a valid and binding 
obligation of the Issuer, enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with its terms. 

Section 2.2. Representations by Developer.  Developer represents and warrants that:

(a) The Developer is a limited liability Developer duly organized and validly existing 
under the laws of the State of Indiana and authorized to do business in the State of Indiana, is not 
in violation of any laws in any manner material to its ability to perform its obligations under this 
Financing Agreement, has full power to enter into and perform its obligations under this 
Agreement, and by proper action has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Financing 
Agreement. 

(b) The execution and delivery of this Financing Agreement and the performance by 
the Developer of its obligations under this Financing Agreement, (i) have been duly and effectively 
authorized by all necessary limited liability action on company the part of the Developer, (ii) do 
not conflict with or result in any breach of any of the material terms, conditions or provisions of, 
or constitute a default under, or result in the creation or imposition of any material lien, charge or 
encumbrance upon any property or assets of the Developer pursuant to any indenture, loan 
agreement or other agreement or instrument (other than this Financing Agreement to which the 
Developer is a party or by which the Developer, its properties or operations may be bound), and 
(iii) will not result in any material violation of the provisions of the operating agreement or similar 
governing documents of the Developer or any material laws, ordinances, governmental rules or 
regulations or court or other governmental orders to which the Developer, its properties or 
operations are subject. 

(c) The execution, delivery and performance by the Developer of this Financing 
Agreement does not require the consent or approval of, the giving of notice to, the registration 
with, or the taking of any other action in respect of, any federal, state or other governmental 
authority or agency, not previously obtained or performed. 



- 10 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

(d) Assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery thereof by the other parties 
thereto, this Financing Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Developer and 
constitutes the legal, valid and binding agreement of the Developer, enforceable against the 
Developer in accordance with its terms, except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or 
other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights in general.   

(e) There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending, or, to the knowledge of the 
Developer, threatened, before any court, administrative agency or arbitrator which, individually or 
in the aggregate, might result in any material adverse change in the financial condition of the 
Developer or might impair the ability of the Developer to perform its obligations under this 
Financing Agreement. 

(f) To the Developer's knowledge, no event has occurred and is continuing which with 
the lapse of time or the giving of notice would constitute an event of default under this Financing 
Agreement. 

(g) The Developer expects to complete construction of the Development by 
___________, 202____. [NOTE: does the City want to put completion timing on each phase?] 

(h) The Developer, as the Purchaser of the Series [A][B][C] Bonds, shall bear the risk 
of nonpayment of the Bonds and recognizes that the Issuer's obligation to the repayment of the 
Bonds is limited to available TIF Revenues, and that the owners of the Series [A][B][C] Bonds 
shall bear the risk that the TIF Revenues are not sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on 
the Series [A][B][C] Bonds. 

Section 2.3. Financing of Series 2024 Bond Proceeds by Issuer.  Concurrently with the 
execution and delivery hereof, the Issuer is issuing the Series [A][B][C] Bonds and is providing 
the proceeds from the sale thereof to the Developer by making the deposits and payments specified 
in Section 3.1 and 4.6 of the Indenture. 

(End of Article II)



- 11 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

ARTICLE III.

PARTICULAR COVENANTS OF THE DEVELOPER AND THE ISSUER 

Section 3.1. Consent to Assignments to Trustee.  The Developer acknowledges and 
consents to the assignment of the Issuer's rights hereunder to the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture 
and agrees that the Trustee may enforce the rights, remedies and privileges granted to the Issuer 
hereunder and agrees to execute and deliver supplements and amendments to this Financing 
Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1 hereof. 

Section 3.2. General Covenants.  (a) The Developer covenants and agrees with and for 
the express benefit of the Issuer, the Trustee and the owners of the Bonds that the Developer shall 
perform all of its obligations, covenants and agreements hereunder, without notice or demand.

(b) Until such time as the construction of the Projects and Development shall have been 
completed, the Developer:  (i) will perform and observe all of its agreements contained in this 
Financing Agreement; and (ii) will not terminate this Financing Agreement for any cause, 
including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, failure of the Developer to complete 
the Development, the occurrence of any acts or circumstances that may constitute failure of 
consideration, eviction or constructive eviction, destruction of or damage to the Development, 
commercial frustration of purpose, any change in the tax laws of the United States of America or 
of the State or any political subdivision of either thereof, or any failure of the Issuer or the Trustee 
to perform and observe any agreement, whether express or implied, or any duty, liability or 
obligation arising out of or connected with this Financing Agreement or the Indenture.

Section 3.3. Continuing Existence and Qualification; Assignment, Sale or Other 
Disposition of Projects.  The Developer covenants that until such time as the Series [A][B][C]
Bonds have been paid in full, it will maintain in good standing its corporate existence and 
qualification to do business in the State, will not dissolve or otherwise dispose of all or 
substantially all of its assets and will not consolidate with or merge into another entity or permit 
one or more other entities to consolidate with or merge into it; provided that the Developer may, 
without violating its agreement contained in this Section, consolidate with or merge into another 
corporation or other entity, or permit one or more other corporations or other entities to consolidate 
with or merge into it, or sell or otherwise transfer to another corporation or entity all or 
substantially all of its assets as an entirety and thereafter dissolve, provided the surviving, resulting 
or transferee entity (such corporation being hereinafter called the "Surviving Corporation") (if 
other than the Developer) expressly accepts, agrees and assumes in writing to pay and perform all 
of the obligations of the Developer herein and be bound by all of the agreements of the Developer
contained in this Financing Agreement to the same extent as if the Surviving Corporation had 
originally executed this Financing Agreement, and the Surviving Corporation is an Indiana 
corporation or is a foreign corporation or partnership, trust or other person or entity organized 
under the laws of one of the states of the United States and is qualified to do business in the State 
of Indiana as a foreign corporation or partnership, trust or other person or entity. 

Section 3.4. Developer Duties Under Indenture.  The Developer agrees to perform all 
matters provided by the Indenture to be performed by the Developer and to comply with all 
provisions of the Indenture to be complied with by the Developer. 



- 12 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

Section 3.5. Reserved.   

Section 3.6. Trustee's Right to Perform Developer's Covenants; Advances.  Only if the 
owner of the Bonds is other than the Purchaser, if the Developer shall fail to (i) complete or cause 
the completion of the construction and equipping of the Projects, or (ii) fail to make any payment 
or perform any other act required to be performed hereunder, then and in each such case the 
Trustee, upon not less than 30 days' prior written notice to the Developer, may (but shall not be 
obligated to) remedy such default for the account of the Developer and make advances for that 
purpose.  No such performance or advance shall operate to release the Developer from any such 
default, and any sums so advanced by the Trustee shall be repayable by the Developer on demand 
and shall bear interest at the Trustee bank's prime rate plus [two] percent [(2%)] from the date of 
the advance until repaid. 

Section 3.7. Indemnity.  The Developer will pay, protect, defend, indemnify and save 
the Issuer and the Trustee harmless from and against, all liabilities, losses, damages, costs, 
expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses of the Issuer and the Trustee), causes 
of actions, suits, claims, demands and judgments of any nature arising from a breach by the 
Developer of any covenant, agreement, representation or warranty in this Financing Agreement 
(except with respect to any breach of any of Issuer's covenants, agreements, representations or 
warranties included in this Financing Agreement or which may be incurred by the Trustee as a 
result of its acceptance of or arising from the performance of its duties under the Indenture and 
except for damage resulting from willful or gross negligent actions by the Issuer and the Trustee).

The Developer will pay, protect, defend, indemnify and save the Commission and the 
Redevelopment Commission harmless from and against, all liabilities, losses, damages, costs, 
expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses of the Commission and the 
Redevelopment Commission), causes of actions, suits, claims, demands and judgments of any 
nature to the extent arising from breach by the Developer of any covenant, agreement, 
representation or warranty in this Financing Agreement (except with respect to any breach of any 
of Commission's or Redevelopment Commission's covenants, agreements, representations or 
warranties included in this Financing Agreement and except for damage resulting from willful or 
negligent actions by the Commission or the Redevelopment Commission). 

If any proceeding is instituted for which indemnity may be sought under this Section 3.7, 
the party that may seek such indemnity shall notify the Developer and the Issuer in writing in a 
timely manner to allow the Developer to defend any action or claim in such proceeding. 

Section 3.8. Funding of Indenture Funds; Investments.  The Issuer shall deposit with the 
Trustee proceeds from the sale of the Series [A][B][C] Bonds in the manner specified in Article 3 
of the Indenture, and the Trustee shall deposit such proceeds in the manner specified in such 
Article.

The Developer and the Issuer agree that all moneys in any Fund established by the 
Indenture shall, at the written direction of the Developer, be invested in Qualified Investments.  In 
the absence of written investment direction from the Developer, the Trustee shall not be 
responsible or liable for keeping the moneys held by it hereunder fully invested in Qualified 
Investments. 



- 13 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

The Trustee is hereby authorized to trade with itself in the purchase and sale of securities 
for such investments and may charge its ordinary and customary fees for such trades, including 
cash sweep account fees.  The Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for any loss resulting from 
any such investment properly obtained in accordance with the Developer's direction.  All such 
investments shall be held by or under the control of the Trustee and any income resulting therefrom 
shall be applied in the manner specified in the Indenture.  Although the Issuer and the Developer
each recognizes that it may obtain a broker confirmation or written statement containing 
comparable information at no additional cost, the Issuer and the Developer hereby agree that 
confirmations of permitted investments are not required to be issued by the Trustee for each month 
in which a monthly statement is rendered.  No statement need be rendered for any fund or account 
if no activity occurred in such fund or account during such month. 

Section 3.9. Completion of Development.  (a) The Developer agrees, subject to Force 
Majeure and other conditions or events beyond the Developer's control, that it will use reasonable 
efforts to cause to be made, executed, acknowledged and delivered any contracts, orders, receipts, 
writings and instructions with any other persons, firms, corporations or partnerships and in general 
do all things which may be requisite or proper, all for constructing and completing the 
Development by _____________, 202___. [NOTE: Does the City want to tie completion to each 
phase?] 

The Developer agrees, for the benefit of the Issuer and the Bondholders and in order to 
fulfill the purposes of the Act, to complete the construction of the Development and to pay from 
other funds of the Developer that portion of the costs of the Projects as may be in excess of the 
moneys available therefor in the Construction Fund.  The Issuer does not make any warranty, either 
express or implied, that the moneys, which will be paid into the Construction Fund and which 
under the provisions of this Financing Agreement will be available for payment of the costs of the 
construction of the Projects, will be sufficient to pay all the costs which will be incurred in that 
connection. 

The Issuer has, in Section 4.4 of the Indenture, authorized and directed Trustee to make 
payments from the Construction Fund to pay the Costs of Construction, or to reimburse Developer
or the Issuer for any Costs of Construction paid by it in the manner and subject to the provision of 
Section 4.4 thereof. 

The Completion Date of the respective Projects shall be evidenced to Trustee by a 
certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the Issuer in compliance with the provision 
of Section 4.4(c) of the Indenture and any excess proceeds in the Construction Fund at such time 
shall be deposited in the Bond Fund and used to prepay the Series [A][B][C] Bonds as provided in 
Section 4.4(d) of the Indenture, provided, however that any failure to file such certificate shall not 
constitute an Event of Default under this Financing Agreement or the Indenture. 

Section 3.10. Reserved. 

(End of Article III) 



- 14 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

ARTICLE IV. 

APPLICATION OF SERIES 2024 BOND PROCEEDS

Section 4.1. Use of Series 2024 Bond Proceeds by Issuer.  Concurrently with the 
execution and delivery hereof, the Issuer is issuing the Series [A][B][C] Bonds and is depositing 
the proceeds from the sale thereof with the Trustee for use by making the deposits and payments 
specified in Section 3.1 and 4.4 of the Indenture; provided such proceeds shall be used solely in 
connection with the development of the Projects and advanced and used solely in accordance with 
the terms of this Financing Agreement and the Indenture.

Section 4.2. Use of TIF Revenues.  Issuer covenants as follows: 

(a) Upon receipt of Written Request of the Developer pursuant to Section 4.4(b) of the 
Indenture, the Trustee shall distribute sums for Costs of Construction of the Projects as those costs 
are incurred until the Trustee has distributed the aggregate total amount of _____________ Dollars 
($X,XXX,XXX).  All of the foregoing is for the benefit of the holders of the Series [A][B][C]
Bonds, to the end that industry and the economy may be diversified and job opportunities promoted 
and retained, and to secure the Series [A][B][C] Bonds by pledging the TIF Revenues to the 
Trustee. 

Section 4.3. Estoppel Certificate.  The Issuer shall, upon reasonable request of the 
Developer, provide the Developer (or such person as the Developer requests) with a certificate 
stating that an Event of Default by Developer has not occurred hereunder as of the date of such 
certificate, provided that such statement of facts is true.

(End of Article IV) 



- 15 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

ARTICLE V. 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES THEREFOR

Section 5.1. Events of Default.  (a) The occurrence and continuance of any of the 
following events shall constitute an "event of default" hereunder:

(i) failure of the Developer to observe and perform any covenant, condition or 
provision hereof, including all warrants and representations, and to remedy such default 
within 30 days after notice thereof from the Trustee to the Developer, unless the Issuer 
shall have consented thereto in writing; provided, however, that the Developer shall have 
such additional time as is reasonably necessary to cure any non-monetary default that is 
not capable of being cured within such 30-day period so long as the Developer is diligently 
pursuing such cure to completion; or 

(ii) until such time as the Projects and Development have been completed, the 
entry of a decree or order for relief by a court having jurisdiction in the premises in respect 
of the Developer in an involuntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or 
similar law now or hereafter in effect, or appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, 
custodian, trustee, sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Developer or for any 
substantial part of its property, or ordering the windup or liquidation of its affairs; or the 
filing and pendency for ninety days without dismissal of a petition initiating an involuntary 
case under any other bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law; or 

(iii) until such time as the Projects and Development have been completed, the 
commencement by the Developer of any voluntary case under any applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect, whether consent by it to an entry 
to an order for relief in an involuntary case and under any such law or to the appointment 
of or the taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, 
sequestrator (or other similar official) of the Developer or of any substantial part of its 
property, or the making by the Developer of any general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or the failure of the Developer generally to pay its debts as such debts become 
due, or the taking of corporate action by the Developer in furtherance of any of the 
foregoing. 

(b) Subject to the further provisions of this Article V, during the occurrence and 
continuance of any Event of Default hereunder, Issuer shall have the rights and remedies 
hereinafter set forth in addition to any other remedies herein or provided at law or in equity 
(provided that the Issuer shall have the right to assign and delegate all such remedies to the Trustee, 
who may exercise any or all such remedies): 

(i) No Further Proceeds.  The Issuer shall, upon an Event of Default, be entitled 
to direct the Trustee to cease honoring draw requests from the Construction Fund or from 
other proceeds of the Series [A][B][C] Bonds and the Developer shall not be entitled to 
further draws from the Construction Fund or be entitled to other proceeds from the Series 
[A][B][C] Bonds during the continuance of any such Event of Default. 



- 16 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

Section 5.2. Right to Bring Suit, Etc. The Issuer, with or without entry, personally or by 
attorney, may in its discretion, proceed to protect and enforce its rights by a suit or suits in equity 
or at law, whether for recovery of amounts due, for damages or for the specific performance of 
any covenant or agreement contained in this Financing Agreement or in aid of the execution of 
any power herein granted, or for the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or equitable 
remedy, as the Issuer shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce any of its rights or duties 
hereunder against Developer; provided, however that all costs incurred by the Issuer under this 
Article V including its attorneys' fees and costs of collection, shall be paid by the Developer to the 
Issuer within thirty (30) days' after receipt of written demand and receipt of all reasonably 
requested back-up information (e.g., receipts, and paid invoices).  The Developer acknowledges 
and agrees that the breach of some of its obligations cannot be cured by the payment of money and 
that equitable relief is an appropriate remedy. 

Section 5.3. Remedies Cumulative.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the 
Trustee is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such 
remedy shall be cumulative, and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now 
or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

Section 5.4. Delay or Omission Not a Waiver.  No delay or omission of the Trustee to 
exercise any right or power accruing upon any event of default shall impair any such right or 
power, or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such event of default or an acquiescence therein; 
and every power and remedy given by this Financing Agreement to the Trustee may be exercised 
from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient by the Trustee.

Section 5.5. Remedies Subject to Provisions of Law.  All rights, remedies and powers 
provided by this Article may be exercised only to the extent that the exercise thereof does not 
violate any applicable provision of law in the premises, and all the provisions of this Article are 
intended to be subject to all applicable mandatory provisions of law which may be controlling in 
the premises and to be limited to the extent necessary so that they will not render this Loan 
Agreement invalid or unenforceable under the provisions of any applicable law. 

Section 5.6. Waiver of Events of Default.  If after any event of default shall have 
occurred under this Financing Agreement and prior to the Trustee exercising any of the remedies 
provided in this Article, the Developer shall have completely cured such default, such default may 
be waived at the discretion of the Issuer and, if so waived, shall be rescinded and annulled by the 
Trustee by written notice given to the Developer. 

(End of Article V)



- 17 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

ARTICLE VI. 

IMMUNITY

Section 6.1. Immunity.  No covenant or agreement contained in the Bonds, this 
Financing Agreement or the Indenture shall be deemed to be a covenant or agreement of any 
member of the Issuer or the Commission or of any officer or employee of the Issuer, the 
Commission or their legislative and fiscal bodies in his or her individual capacity, and neither the 
members of the Issuer, the Commission, nor any officer or employee of the Issuer executing the 
Bonds shall be liable personally on the Bonds or be subject to any personal liability or 
accountability by reason of the issuance of the Bonds. 

(End of Article VI) 



- 18 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

ARTICLE VII.

SUPPLEMENTS AND AMENDMENTS TO THIS FINANCING AGREEMENT 

Section 7.1. Supplements and Amendments to this Financing Agreement.  Subject to the 
provisions of Article 10 of the Indenture, the Developer and the Issuer may, with the consent of 
the Trustee, from time to time enter into such supplements and amendments to this Financing 
Agreement as to them may seem necessary or desirable to effectuate the purposes or intent hereof.

(End of Article VII)



- 19 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

ARTICLE VIII. 

DEFEASANCE

Section 8.1. Defeasance.  If provision shall have been made for the satisfaction and 
discharge of the Indenture as provided therein, then and in that case this Financing Agreement 
shall thereupon cease, terminate and become void; and this Financing Agreement, and the 
covenants of the Developer contained herein, shall be discharged and the Issuer and the Trustee in 
such case on demand of the Developer and at its cost and expense, shall execute and deliver to the 
Developer a proper instrument or proper instruments acknowledging the satisfaction and 
termination of this Financing Agreement. 

(End of Article VIII) 



- 20 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

ARTICLE IX. 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 9.1. Financing Agreement for Benefit of Parties Hereto.  Nothing in this 
Financing Agreement, express or implied, is intended or shall be construed to confer upon, or to 
give to, any person other than the parties hereto, their successors and assigns the Trustee, any right, 
remedy or claim under or by reason of this Financing Agreement or any covenant, condition or 
stipulation hereof; and the covenants, stipulations and agreements in this Financing Agreement 
contained are and shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties hereto, their successors 
and assigns, the Trustee and the holder of the Series [A][B][C] Bonds. 

Section 9.2. Severability.  If any one or more of the provisions contained in this 
Financing Agreement or in the Series [A][B][C] Bonds shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable 
in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein 
and therein, shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby. 

Section 9.3. Limitation on Interest.  No provisions of this Financing Agreement shall 
require the payment or permit the collection of interest in excess of the maximum permitted by 
law.  If any excess of interest in such respect is herein provided for, or shall be adjudicated to be 
so provided for herein, neither the Developer nor its successors or assigns shall be obligated to pay 
such interest in excess of the amount permitted by law, and the right to demand the payment of 
any such excess shall be and hereby is waived, and this provision shall control any provisions of 
this Financing Agreement inconsistent with this provision.

Section 9.4. Addresses for Notice and Demands.  All notices, demands, certificates or 
other communications hereunder shall be sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when 
mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, with proper address as indicated below.  
The Issuer, the Developer and the Trustee may, by written notice given by each to the others, 
designate any address or addresses to which notices, demands, certificates or other 
communications to them shall be sent when required as contemplated by this Financing 
Agreement.  Until otherwise provided by the respective parties, all notices, demands certificates 
and communications to each of them shall be addressed as follows: 

To the Issuer: City of Elkhart, Indiana
229 South 2nd Street
Elkhart, IN 46516
Attention:  Controller

To the Developer: EOZ Business, LLC 
_________________
_________________
Attention:  ________ 



- 21 - 
4864-4008-1862.3 

To the Developer: River District Development Developer, LLC 
_________________ 
_________________ 
Attention:  ________ 

 To the Trustee: _________________ 
_________________ 
_________________ 
Attention:  Corporate Trust Department 

Section 9.5. Successors and Assigns.  At any time in this Financing Agreement any of 
the parties hereto is named or referred to, the successors and assigns of such party shall be deemed 
to be included and all the covenants, promises and agreements in this Financing Agreement 
contained by or on behalf of the Developer, or by or on behalf of the Issuer, shall bind and inure 
to the benefit of the respective successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not. 

Section 9.6. Counterparts.  This Financing Agreement is being executed in any number 
of counterparts, each of which is an original and all of which are identical.  Each counterpart of 
this Financing Agreement is to be deemed an original hereof and all counterparts collectively are 
to be deemed but one instrument. 

Section 9.7. Governing Law.  It is the intention of the parties hereto that this Financing 
Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder and the rights and obligations 
of the parties thereunder, shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with, the 
laws of the State. 

(End of Article IX) 



4864-4008-1862.3

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Financing Agreement to be executed 
in its name by its authorized officers and the Developer has caused this Financing Agreement to 
be executed in its name by its authorized officer, all as of the date first written above.

EOZ BUSINESS, LLC

By:  

Printed:  

Title:   

RIVER DISTRICT DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, 
LLC 

By:  

Printed:   

Title:   



4864-4008-1862.3

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 

Mayor

(SEAL)

Attest: 

Controller 

This instrument prepared by Lisa A. Lee, Ice Miller LLP, One American Square, Suite 2900, 
Indianapolis, IN 46282-0200. 



4875-3432-0326.1

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of the _____ day of ______________,
202__, by and between the City of Elkhart, Indiana ("City" or "Issuer"), a municipal corporation 
duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Indiana and EOZ Business, LLC and 
River District Development Company, LLC (collectively, "Developer"). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the City has duly authorized the issuance of its bonds designated "Taxable 
Economic Development Revenue Bonds of 202___ (to be completed with the year in which 
issued and series designation) (River District Project)" ("Series 202____ Bonds") in the 
aggregate principal amount of $XX,XXX,XXX, by the adoption of its Bond Ordinance on 
July 1, 2024, a true and correct copy of which is incorporated herein by reference ("Bond 
Ordinance") and as described in the Trust Indenture, dated as of ___________ 1, 202___ 
("Indenture") between the City and [TRUSTEE], as trustee ("Trustee"); and 

WHEREAS, the Developer, as purchaser of the Series 202____ Bonds (hereinafter 
"Purchaser"), has authorized the purchase of the Series 202____ Bonds; 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE DEVELOPER, AS PURCHASER, AND THE CITY 
AGREE: 

Section 1. Purchase and Sale of the Series 202____ Bonds. (a)The Purchaser hereby 
agrees to purchase the Series 202____ Bonds and the City hereby agrees to use its best efforts to 
issue the Series 202____ Bonds and to sell the Series 202____ Bonds to the Purchaser at their 
face value ($XX,XXX,XXX).  The Series 202____ Bonds shall be paid for in installments, and 
the first installment shall be in the amount of $XXX,XXX. The Series 202____ Bonds shall be 
dated their date of issuance.  The Series 202____ Bonds shall bear interest at the rate of _____ 
percent (___%) per annum, payable semiannually on February 1 and August 1, beginning on 
____________ 1, 202___.  The Series 202____ Bonds shall mature on ___________ 1, 20___ 
and be subject to optional and mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to their stated maturities 
as set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof. The Series 202____ Bonds shall 
constitute a contract between the City and the Purchaser, as the owner of the Series 202____ 
Bonds.

(b) The City has taken or will take prior to closing all actions required by law to 
enable it to issue its Series 202____ Bonds. 

(c) Prior to delivery of the Series 202____ Bonds by the City, the Purchaser will 
provide an investment letter to the effect that by acceptance of the Series 202____ Bonds the 
Purchaser will be deemed to have consented to all of the terms and provisions of the Bond 
Ordinance, the Indenture and the Financing Agreement (both as defined in the Indenture) and 
will represent that: 

(1) It is a sophisticated investor and it is familiar with securities such as the 
Series 202____ Bonds. 



2
4875-3432-0326.1

(2) It is familiar with the City, the Elkhart Redevelopment Commission 
("Commission") and the Elkhart Redevelopment District ("District"); it has received such 
information concerning the City, the Series 202____ Bonds, the Indenture, the [Area No. 
4 Tax Increment][Area No. 5 Tax Increment][Area No. 6 SF Housing Tax Increment] (as 
defined in the Indenture), as it deems to be necessary in connection with investment in 
the Series 202____ Bonds.  It has received, read and had an opportunity to comment 
upon and has consented to the provisions of the Indenture, the Series 202____ Bonds and 
the Financing Agreement.  Prior to the purchase of the Series 202____ Bonds, it has been 
provided with the opportunity to ask questions of and receive answers from the 
representatives of the City concerning the terms and conditions of the Series 202____ 
Bonds, the tax status of the Series 202____ Bonds, legal opinions and enforceability of 
remedies, the security therefor, and property tax reform (including the hereinafter defined 
Circuit Breaker), and to obtain any additional information needed in order to verify the 
accuracy of the information obtained to the extent that the City possesses such 
information or can acquire it without unreasonable effort or expense.  It is not relying on 
Ice Miller LLP, Baker Tilly Municipal Advisors, LLC or ______________ for 
information concerning the financial status of the City, the Commission or the District, or 
the ability of the City or the Commission to honor their financial obligations or other 
covenants under the Series 202____ Bonds, the Indenture or the Financing Agreement.  It 
understands that the projection of [Area No. 4 Tax Increment] [Area No. 5 Tax 
Increment] [Area No. 6 SF Housing Tax Increment] prepared by Baker Tilly Municipal 
Advisors, LLC in connection with the issuance of the Series 202____ Bonds has been 
based on estimates of the investment and assessed value growth assumption in real 
property provided by the Developer. 

(3) It understands that the City's collection of the [Area No. 4 Tax 
Increment][Area No. 5 Tax Increment][Area No. 6 SF Housing Tax Increment] may be 
limited by operation of IC 6-1.1-20.6, which provides taxpayers with tax credits for 
property taxes attributable to different classes of property in an amount that exceeds 
certain percentages of the gross assessed value of that property ("Circuit Breaker").  The 
City may not increase its property tax levy or borrow money to make up any shortfalls 
due to the application of this tax credit.  It further understands that neither the City nor 
the Commission has the authority to levy a tax to pay principal of or interest on the Series 
202____ Bonds.  

(4) It is acquiring the Series 202____ Bonds for its own account with no 
present intent to resell; and it will not sell, convey, pledge or otherwise transfer the Series 
202____ Bonds without prior compliance with applicable registration and disclosure 
requirements of state and federal securities laws.  

(5) It understands that the Series 202____ Bonds have not been registered 
under the 1933 Act and, unless so registered, may not be sold without registration under 
the 1933 Act or an exemption therefrom.  It is aware that it may transfer or sell the Series 
202____ Bonds only if the Trustee shall first have received:  (i) a satisfactory opinion of 
counsel that the sale or transfer will not violate the 1933 Act, the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 and the Investment Company Act of 1940 and regulations issued pursuant to 
such Acts; or (ii) a no-action letter of the staff of the Securities and Exchange 



3
4875-3432-0326.1

Commission that the staff will recommend that no action be taken with respect to such 
sale or transfer; or (iii) a certificate stating that they reasonably believe that the transferee 
is a "Qualified Institutional Buyer" within the meaning of Section (a) of Rule 144A 
("Rule 144A") promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the 
1933 Act and has informed the transferee of the transfer restrictions applicable to the 
Series 202____ Bonds and that the transferor may be relying upon Rule 144A with 
respect to the transfer of the Series 202____ Bonds. 

(6) It has investigated the security for the Series 202____ Bonds, including 
the availability of [Area No. 4 Tax Increment][Area No. 5 Tax Increment][Area No. 6 SF 
Housing Tax Increment], to its satisfaction, and it understands that the Series 202____ 
Bonds are payable solely from [Area No. 4 Tax Increment][Area No. 5 Tax 
Increment][Area No. 6 SF Housing Tax Increment], subject to any rescission provisions 
of the Financing Agreement.  

(7) It recognizes that: (a) the opinions it has received express the professional 
judgment of the attorneys participating in the transaction as to the legal issues addressed 
herein;  (b) by rendering such opinions, the attorneys do not become insurers or 
guarantors of (i) that expression of professional judgment; (ii) the transaction opined 
upon; or (iii) the future performance of parties to such transaction; and (c) the rendering 
of the opinions does not guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of 
the transaction. 

(8) It understands that the City has no continuing disclosure obligations with 
regard to the Series 202____ Bonds. 

(9) It understands the Series 202____ Bonds are being issued on a taxable 
basis. 

(d) Simultaneously with the delivery to, or at the direction of, the Purchaser of the
Series 202____ Bonds, which Series 202____ Bonds shall be substantially in the form set forth 
in the Indenture, the City shall furnish to the Purchaser a transcript of proceedings and the 
opinion of Ice Miller LLP, bond counsel, addressed to the Trustee as to, among other things, the 
validity of the Series 202____ Bonds. 

Section 2. If any provision of this Purchase Agreement shall for any reason be held 
to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such provision shall not 
affect any of the remaining provisions of this Purchase Agreement and this Purchase Agreement 
shall be construed and be in force as if such invalid or unenforceable provision had not been 
contained herein. 

Section 3. This Purchase Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, 
any of which shall be regarded for all purposes as an original and all of which constitute but one 
and the same instrument.  The Purchaser and the City each agree that they will execute any and 
all documents or other instruments and take such other actions as may be necessary to give effect 
to the terms of this Purchase Agreement. 



4
4875-3432-0326.1

Section 4. No waiver by either the Purchaser or the City of any term or condition of 
this Purchase Agreement shall be deemed or construed as a waiver of any other terms or 
conditions, nor shall a waiver of any breach be deemed to constitute a waiver of any subsequent 
breach, whether of the same or of a different section, subsection, paragraph, clause, phrase or 
other provision of this Purchase Agreement.

Section 5. This Purchase Agreement merges and supersedes all prior negotiations, 
representations, and agreements between the Purchaser and the City relating to the subject matter 
hereof and constitutes the entire agreement among the Purchaser and the City in respect hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands as of the day first above 
written. 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 
 
 
 
Mayor
 

Attest: 
 
 

Controller



4875-3432-0326.1

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as of the day first above written.

EOZ BUSINESS, LLC, as Developer/Purchaser

 
By:  

RIVER DISTRICT DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, 
LLC, as Developer/Purchaser

By:  



6
4875-3432-0326.1

EXHIBIT A

Maturity Schedule

Date Amount

$__________

Optional Redemption 

The Series 202____ Bonds are subject to optional redemption prior to maturity on any 
date, upon thirty (30) days' notice, in whole or in part, in such order as the City shall direct in 
writing and by lot within maturities, at face value, with no premium, plus in each case, accrued 
interest to the date fixed for redemption.

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption 

The Series 202____ Bonds maturing on ____________ 1, 20___ are subject to 
mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity, at a redemption price equal to the principal 
amount thereof on February 1 and August 1 on the dates and in the amounts set forth below: 

20___ Term Bond 
Date Amount Date Amount 

  
 *

*Final Maturity

[In addition, to the extent [Area No. 4 Tax Increment] [Area No. 5 Tax Increment] [Area 
No. 6 SF Housing Tax Increment] exceeds the debt service due on the Series 202____ Bonds, the
Series 202____ Bonds shall be redeemed upon seven (7) days' written notice, at face value, plus 
in each case accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption, with no premium.]







Page 1 of 8

Proposed Resolution No. 24-R-41

RESOLUTION NO. R_____

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA, DECLARING A CERTAIN AREA TO BE AN ECONOMIC 

REVITALIZATION AREA FOR THE PURPOSE OF GRANTING TAX PHASE-IN 
BENEFITS TO THIRD COAST COMMODITIES, LLC \ EVERGREEN GREASE 

ENTERPRISES LLC 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1 (the “Act”) authorizes the Common Council of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana (“Common Council”) to designate an area within the territorial boundaries 
of the City of Elkhart, Indiana as an economic revitalization area, as that term is defined in Section 
1 of the Act, for the purpose of allowing certain qualified businesses the right to receive deductions 
from the assessed value of improvements made to real property and personal property located in 
the economic revitalization area; and 

WHEREAS, Third Coast Commodities, LLC \ Evergreen Grease Enterprises LLC, 
(hereinafter the “Applicant\Property Owner”) filed an application with the City of Elkhart, 
requesting that the real estate described in Exhibit A attached to this Resolution (the “Area”) be 
designated as an economic revitalization area by the Common Council for the purpose of allowing 
a deduction from the assessed value of the real property improvements, consisting of existing 
building improvements for upgraded rail spur and tank farm infrastructure (the “Project”) and from 
the assessed value of the logistics and distribution equipment for automated loading and unloading 
logistical distribution equipment (the “New Equipment”); and 

WHEREAS, the Applicant\Property Owner filed with the City a Statement of Benefits 
Form (SB-1/Real Property) for the Project and a Statement of Benefits Form (SB-1/Personal 
Property) for the New Equipment (collectively the “Statement of Benefits”); and 

WHEREAS, prior to the commencement of the Project in the Area, the Area had become 
undesirable for, or impossible of, normal development and occupancy because of a lack of 
development, cessation of growth, deterioration of improvements or character of occupancy, age, 
obsolescence, substandard buildings, or other factors which have impaired values and prevented 
normal development and use of the property; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council has caused to be prepared maps and plats showing the 
boundaries of the Area; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council has studied the Area and considered the 
Applicant\Property Owner’s request to designate the Area as an economic revitalization area and 
the Applicant\Property Owner’s Statement of Benefits. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, as follows: 



Page 2 of 8

1. After considering the evidence presented at the public meeting conducted this date,
the Common Council hereby finds and determines that: 

A. the estimate of the value of the Project in the Area is reasonable for projects
of this nature, and the estimate of the cost of the New Equipment is reasonable for 
equipment of this type in this Area; 

B. the estimate of the number of individuals who will be employed or whose
employment will be retained in the Area can reasonably be expected to result from the 
Project and installation of the New Equipment; 

C. the estimate of the annual salaries of those individuals who will be
employed or whose employment will be retained in the Area can reasonably be expected 
to result from the Project and installation of the New Equipment; 

D. the other benefits about which information was requested are benefits that
can reasonably be expected to result from the Project and installation of the New 
Equipment; and

E. the totality of benefits is sufficient to justify declaring the Area as an
economic revitalization area and allowing deductions in accordance with the Act. 

2. The Area is hereby designated an economic revitalization area (“ERA”) under
Section 2.5 of the Act, subject to the requirements of the Act for the purpose of allowing a 
deduction from the assessed value of the Project and installation of the New Equipment, 
respectively.  

3. The Administrative Assistant of the Common Council is hereby authorized and
directed to make all filings necessary or desirable with the Elkhart County Assessor, to publish all 
notices required by the Act, and to take all other necessary actions to carry out the purposes and 
intent of this Resolution and to establish and designate the Area as an economic revitalization area. 

4. The Administrative Assistant of the Common Council is further authorized and
directed to file this Declaratory Resolution, together with any supporting information, with each 
of the officers of each taxing unit that has authority to levy property taxes in the Area, as provided 
in the Act. 

5. This Declaratory Resolution shall be submitted to the public for hearing and
remonstrance as provided by the Act; and said public hearing shall be convened by the Common 
Council on August 19, 2024, at 7:00 p.m., at the City Hall, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana 
46516. 

6. In accordance with Section 2.5(b) of the Act, the Common Council hereby
determines that a deduction for the Project under Section 3 of the Act shall be allowed for a period 
of seven (7) years. The amount of the deduction for each eligible year shall be according to the 
following deduction schedule: 



Page 3 of 8

7. The deduction schedule shall commence in the first year that the Project results in 
any increase in the assessed value of the Area designated as an ERA. The ERA shall expire on the 
last year of the applicable deduction schedule for the Project, unless terminated sooner by action 
of the Common Council under the Act.

8. In accordance with Section 2.5(b) of the Act, the Common Council hereby 
determines that a deduction for the installation of the New Equipment under Section 4.5 of the Act 
shall be allowed for a period of five (5) years. The amount of the deduction for each eligible year 
shall be according to the following deduction schedule: 

9. The deduction schedule shall commence in the first year that the New Equipment 
is installed in the Area designated as an ERA. The ERA shall expire on the last year of the 
applicable deduction schedule for the New Equipment, unless terminated sooner by action of the 
Common Council under the Act.  

10. The Common Council, with the consent of property owner, adopts and incorporates 
by reference into this Resolution the provisions of Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-14 and imposes a fee 
on the property owner equal to 15% of the tax savings as determined under Indiana Code 6-1.1-
12.1-14(c). 

11. The Common Council hereby adopts and incorporates by reference the provisions 
of Indiana Code 6-1.1-12.1-12, providing that if the owner of the property owner or tenant of the 
property, ceases operations at the facility for which the deduction was granted, and the designating 
body finds that the Applicant or property owner obtained the deduction by intentionally providing 
false information concerning the Applicant’s or property owner's plans to continue operations at 
the facility, the property owner shall pay the amount determined by the County Auditor pursuant 
to law, after an appeal, if any. 

12. The Common Council’s designation of the Area as an economic revitalization area 
shall terminate after a public hearing held by the Common Council in accordance with the Act if 
the Applicant and/or property owner: 



Page 4 of 8

A. fails to substantially complete the Project, install the proposed New 
Equipment, and create and maintain the level of benefits described in the Statement of 
Benefits;

B. fails to enter into a written agreement with the City of Elkhart confirming 
the Applicant\Property Owner’s commitment to comply with the project description, job 
creation and retention (and associated wage rates and salaries) figures contained in the 
Statement of Benefits; or 

C. fails to continue operations at the facility for which the deduction was 
granted; or 

D. intentionally provides false information to the designating body concerning 
the Applicant’s or property owner’s plans to continue operations at the facility. 

13. The provisions of this Declaratory Resolution shall be subject in all respects to the 
Act and any amendments thereto. 

14. This Declaratory Resolution shall take effect upon its adoption. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.]



Page 5 of 8

Exhibit A

Description of Real Property 
 

The real property comprising the Economic Revitalization Area is described as follows:

Property Address:  
1650 W Lusher Ave, Elkhart IN 46517 
 
Parcel Number(s):  
20-06-07-451-003.000-012  
Legal Description: 
PARCEL 1:  
 
A PART OF THE SOUTH HALF OF SECTION 7, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 5 EAST 
OF THE SECOND PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN (2ND P.M.) IN THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION 7, THAT IS 30 FEET 
NORTH OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 7; THENCE DUE EAST 
PARALLEL WITH AND 30 FEET NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 7, 
2410.5 FEET; THENCE NORTH 1 DEGREE 3 MINUTES 30 SECONDS WEST,
887.52 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE 
CONTINUING NORTHWARDLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE, 200 FEET TO 
THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THAT PARCEL OF LAND CONVEYED TO ANTHONY J. 
IEMMA AND DOMINIC IEMMA BY A DEED RECORDED JANUARY 20, 1966 IN 
VOLUME 265, PAGE 491, ELKHART COUNTY RECORDS; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY 
ALONG A LINE MARKING A DEFLECTION ANGLE TO THE RIGHT FROM THE LAST 
DESCRIBED LINE OF 74 DEGREES 5 MINUTES AND NO SECONDS FOR A DISTANCE 
OF 145 FEET TO A POINT 277.34 FEET, MORE OR LESS; THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY 
ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

ALSO, A PART OF THE SOUTH HALF OF SECTION 7, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, RANGE 5 
EAST OF THE SECOND PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN (2ND P.M.) IN THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, MORE  PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION THAT IS 30 FEET 
NORTH OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION; THENCE DUE EAST 
PARALLEL WITH AND 30 FEET NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION, 2410.5 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 1 DEGREE 3 MINUTES 30 SECONDS WEST, FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE CONTINUING 
NORTHWARDLY ALONG THE LAST DESCRIBED LINE, 201.08 FEET; THENCE 
NORTHEASTERLY ALONG A LINE MARKING A DEFLECTION TO THE RIGHT OF 30 
DEGREES 11 MINUTES NO SECONDS, 277.34 FEET TO A POINT ; THENCE EASTERLY 



Page 6 of 8

ALONG A STRAIGHT LINE, MAKING A DEFLECTION TO THE RIGHT, TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF THAT PARCEL OF LAND PREVIOUSLY CONVEYED TO 
ELKHART METALS, INC., BY QUITCLAIM DEED DATED NOVEMBER 2, 1965; THENCE 
SOUTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID PARCEL CONVEYED TO 
ELKHART METALS, INC, TO A POINT ON SAID WESTERLY LINE, 686.44 FEET NORTH 
OF THE LINE DRAWN  30 FEET NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 7 
AFOREMENTIONED, AS MEASURED ALONG THE LINE AFOREMENTIONED, HAVING 
A BEARING OF 1 DEGREE 3 MINUTES 30 SECONDS; THENCE WESTERLY 542.85 FEET 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

EXCEPTING THEREFROM THE EASTERLY 30 FEET THEREOF. CONTAINING 5.50 
ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

ALSO, A PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 7, TOWNSHIP 37 NORTH, 
RANGE 5 EAST, IN THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

COMMENCING AT A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID SECTION THAT IS 30 FEET 
NORTH OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION; THENCE DUE EAST 
PARALLEL WITH AND 30 FEET NORTH OF THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION AND 
ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LUSHER AVENUE, 2,816.26 FEET TO AN IRON STAKE 
FOR THE BEGINNING POINT OF THIS DESCRIPTION, SAID IRON STAKE BEING 40 
FEET WEST OF THE CENTERLINE OF A SPUR RAILROAD TRACK  THAT CROSSES 
LUSHER AVENUE BETWEEN SIXTEENTH AND SEVENTEENTH STREETS; THENCE 
DUE WEST 405.76 FEET TO AN  IRON STAKE; THENCE NORTH 1 DEGREE, 3 MINUTES, 
30 SECONDS WEST, 686.44 FEET TO AN IRON STAKE; THENCE DUE EAST 512.85 FEET 
TO AN IRON STAKE ON THE WEST LINE OF A 30 FOOT ROAD; THENCE SOUTH O 
DEGREES 50 MINUTES EAST PARALLEL WITH FOURTEENTH STREET AND ALONG 
THE WEST LINE OF SAID 30 FOOT ROAD 408.65 FEET TO AN IRON STAKE THAT IS 40 
FEET (MEASURED AT  RIGHT ANGLES) FROM THE CENTERLINE OF THE 
AFOREMENTIONED RAILROAD SPUR TRACK, THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG A 
CURVE BEARING TO THE LEFT, SAID CURVE BEING CONCENTRIC WITH AND 40 
FEET WEST OF THE CENTERLINE OF SAID RAILROAD SPUR TRACK 
APPROXIMATELY 300.9 FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING. CONTAINING 7.62 
ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

PARCEL 2:
 
A  NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT FOR INGRESS AND EGRESS FOR THE BENEFIT OF 
PARCEL 1 AS SET FORTH IN AN INGRESS AND EGRESS EASEMENT BETWEEN THE 
NEW YORK CENTRAL RA.ILROAD COMPANY , A DELAWARE CORPORATION, AND 
ROBERT G. HOMAN AND MARIE M. HOMAN, HUSBAND AND WIFE, DATED JULY 15, 
1963 AND RECORDED AUGUST 20, 1963 IN DEED RECORD 247, PAGE 215 IN THE 
OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF ELKHART COUNTY,  INDIANA. 

 



Page 7 of 8

RESOLVED this ____ day of ________________, _______.

____________________________________
Arvis Dawson

 President of the Common Council
ATTEST: 

______________________________
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at 

________ a.m./p.m.

_____________________________________
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

APPROVED by me this _______ day of ________________, _______.

_____________________________________
Rod Roberson, Mayor

ATTEST: 

______________________________
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk

 



Page 8 of 8

STATE OF INDIANA )
) §

COUNTY OF ELKHART )

I, Debra D. Barrett, Clerk of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, do hereby certify the above is a 
full, true and complete copy of Resolution No. R-____, adopted by the Common Council on the

 day of , _____ , by a vote of _______ AYES and _______ NAYS, and was 
approved and signed by the Mayor on the ______ day of , ______ , and now 
remains on file and on record in my office.

 
WITNESS my hand and the official seal of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, this ____ day of  
 , ______ .

 
__________________________________
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

 











































































































































 
 

Rod Roberson
Mayor 

Dustin McLain
Department Head 

574.293.2175
Fax: 574.294.5530 

Elkhart City Communications
135 E Franklin Street 
Elkhart, IN 46516 

Date:  August 1st 2024 
 
To:  Mayor Rod Roberson 
  Elkhart City Board of Public Safety 
  Common Council 
   
From:  Dustin McLain, Department Head 
  Elkhart Communications Center 
 
Re:  June 2024 Month End Report 
 

We processed 8,863 incoming & outgoing emergency and non-emergency phone calls.  This was a 
decrease of 1,081 calls from June 2023.  Below is a summary of the calls we handled in Communications. 

  

 
By shift, we entered 7,176 calls into the CAD, a decrease of 970 calls from June 2023.  Below is a breakdown of the 
call volume by shift. 

 

*Other Calls refers to calls made to communications that either required a response by other departments, such as 
Parks Dept., Street Dept., etc. This also includes calls that are dispatched out as attempts to locate, repossessions 
and/or private impounds.  

 
OTHER BUSINESS 

 For the month of June 2023 we handled 34 nd Police 
Dept.   We provided 13 (FOIA) Public Records Requests to individuals.    
   
 

 

CALL SOURCES 
911  

*This includes Landlines, Wireless, VoIP, 
TexTTY, and abandoned.* (as reported by 

ECats State reporting online)   

Administrative 
Incoming/Outgoing 

(non-emergency) 

TOTAL 

 2,193 6,670 8,863 
2023 TOTALS 2,295 7,649 9,944 

  POLICE CALLS FIRE CALLS OTHER TOTALS 

Day Shift 1895 359 368 2622 

Afternoon Shift 2315 370 334 3091 
Midnight Shift 1132 192 139 1463 

All Shifts 5342 921 841 7176 

2023 TOTALS 5967 894 1285 8146 



 
 

Rod Roberson
Mayor

Dustin McLain
Department Head 

574.293.2175
Fax: 574.294.5530

Elkhart City Communications
135 E Franklin Street 
Elkhart, IN 46516 

  
Date:  August 1, 2024    
 
To:  Mayor Rod Roberson 
  Elkhart City Board of Public Safety 
  Common Council 
   
From:  Dustin McLain, Department Head 
  Elkhart Communications Center 
 
Re:  July 2024 Month End Report 
 

We processed 9,146 incoming & outgoing emergency and non-emergency phone calls.  This was a 
decrease of 999 calls from July 2023.  Below is a summary of the calls we handled in Communications. 

  

 
By shift, we entered 7,084 calls into the CAD, a decrease of 438 calls from July 2023.  Below is a breakdown of the 
call volume by shift. 

 

*Other Calls refers to calls made to communications that either required a response by other departments, such as 
Parks Dept., Street Dept., etc. This also includes calls that are dispatched out as attempts to locate, repossessions 
and/or private impounds.  

 
OTHER BUSINESS 

 For the month of July 2024, we handled 40 
Dept.  

   We provided 17 (FOIA) Public Records Requests to individuals.    
 

911  
*This includes Landlines, Wireless, VoIP, 
TexTTY, and abandoned.* (as reported 

by ECats State reporting online)   

Administrative 
(non-emergency) 

TOTAL 

 2,244 6,902 9,146 
2023 TOTALS 2,229 7,916 10,145 

  POLICE CALLS FIRE CALLS OTHER TOTALS 

Day Shift 1902 385 361 2,648 

Afternoon Shift 2152 405 363 2,920 
Midnight Shift 1136 237 143 1,516 

All Shifts 5,190 1,027 867 7,084 

2023 TOTALS 5,582 879 1061 7,522 








